
2323 Grand Avenue· Des Moines ·Iowa 50312-5307 
Telephone: 515·725·7900 ·Fax: 515-725-7882 
www.ialottery.com 

AGENDA 

IOWA LOTTERY BOARD 
December 17,2012 

10:00 a.m.- Telecoujerence Only 

I. Call to Order 
a. Approval of Minutes 

II. Monthly Reports 
a. Financial 
b. Marketing 
c. Security 

Terry E. Branstad ·Governor 
Kim Reynolds · Lt. Governor 

Terry Rich · Chief Executive Officer 

i. Compliance Investigations 

ill. Federal Legislative Update 

IV. Printing Contracts 
a. Instant Ticket 

b. Full Tab Extension 

V. CEO Update 

VI. Adjournment 

If you require the assistance of auxiliary aids or services to participate in or attend the meeting because of a disability, please 
call our ADA coordinator at 515-725-7864, or if you are hearing impaired, call Relay TIY at 1-800-735-2942. 



MINUTES 
IOWA LOTTERY BOARD 

September27, 2012 

The Iowa Lottery Board convened at 9:58a.m., Board Chairperson Mary Junge presiding. 

Board members participating: Mary Junge, Herman Richter, Matt McDermott, Mike Klappholz, Mike 
Fitzgerald, and Deb Burnight. 

Lottery staff present: Teny Rich, CEO; Lany Loss, EVP; Brenda Nye, CFO; Ma1y Neubauer, Vice President 
External Relations; Teri Wood TeBockhorst, Vice President Marketing; Molly juffernbruch, Vice President 
General Counsel; Steve Bogle, Vice President Security; Dave Van Compernolle, Assistant Attorney General; 
jack Schroeder, Vice President Operations and Systems; Jamie Becker, Sr Project Director /Board Secretary. 

Others present: Lynn McRobe1ts, Liaison for Governm~s office; Dave Berger, Scientific Games. 

Chairperson Junge called the meeting to order and announced that all board members were present. 

Klappholz moved to approve the minutes, McDermott seconded. Motion carried unanimously. 

MONTHLY REPORTS 

FINANCIAL 
Brenda Nye stated that the final FY12 performance measures and june financials were included in the 
packet and final numbers show $310.8 million in sales and $78.7 million in proceeds for that year. Also 
included in the packet is a 5 year comparison; FY08 through FY12 in which most sales categories and 
proceeds show increases. Salary totals are back to the FY08level due to early retirements and recent 
position changes. The Conference and Out of State Travel Summa1y is also included, showing that 22 trips 
were taken in FY12. (The CEO is allowed to approve up to 24 out-of-state trips per year.) 

FY13 Performance Measures through August are includedin the packet and shows sales are almost 15% 
ahead of budget and proceeds are over 17% ahead of budget. 

Rich noted that FY12 was historic and even beat the year ofTouchPiay. Rich also noted that we would need 
2 or 3 big jackpot runs this year to match last year's number and recommended comparing 2013 to 2011, 
since 2012 had some big runs that make compalisons difficult. 

Richter commended Teny Rich and his staff on a job well done. Rich stated most lotteries performed 4-5% 
better than previous years but the Iowa Lottery did around 15% better. He contributed some of the 
success to comier delive1y and the $2 Powerball. He added that the Iowa Lottery is #4 in growth in Instant 
and #2 in growth in online sales, according to industly tracking. 

MARI<ETING 
Teri Wood gave an update on VIP Club membership and how the lottery is working to grow that nmnber. 
Wood then reported that Strategic America who was awarded the Media and Planning contract, as well as 
the Creative contract has been performing very well so far. 

Wood then gave some details of the Mystery Millionaire event held at the Iowa State Fair in August This 
promotion had over 200,000 entries and 49 winners were drawn. 34 winners received $10,000 prizes and 
15 became semi-finalists during the live show. Wood mentioned that Jamie Becker was the project 
m<~nager and Liz Gilman was the show producer for this event, where retailers and some audience 
members also won prizes during the live event Mediacom an,d all local affiliates were present and MC22 
aired the event 12 times. 



Wood noted that the Iowa Lottery had the best year ever at the Iowa State Fair booth. Instant ticket sales 
were up 20% and lotto sales more than doubled from last year, with that product category helped by the 
Powerball jackpot being above $200 million. 

Wood mentioned the newest feature added to the VIP Club is called Refer a Friend. This feature allows 
current members to refer their friends to the program and get points for the first 5 friends that register. 

Wood discussed the upcoming holiday promotion, called Winter of Winners. In this promotion players will 
get the same number of entries as the ticket price point, for example a $1 ticket equals 1 entry, $2 ticket 
equals 2 entries and so on. The prizes will be Bass Pro Shop gift cards, Sony Home Entertainment packages 
and trip packages to Vegas. There will be 3 drawings; November 14, December 14, and january 14. 

Wood mentioned that the Quarterly Marketing Meetings would resume now that the advertising contract 
has been awarded. 

SECURITY 
Bogle presented the july and August reports, noting that they were down 25% in staffing due to the arrival . 
of a Security employee's new baby. Bogle wanted to take this opportunity to thank the security team for 
their hard work during a busy summer. 

Bogle stated that the Hot Lotto jackpot that was claimed and then forfeited is still undergoing investigation 
and he had no further infmn1ation to share at this time. 

Burnight moved to approve the monthly reports, Klappholz seconded. Motion carried unanimously. 

LEGISLATIVE UPDATE 
Rich stated that the previous night was a big night for Iowa winners; there was a Powerball jackpot winner, 
a $1million Powerball winner, a $10,000 Powerball winner and a top prize winner in Iowa's $100,000 Cash 
Game. Once winners have been validated, the lotte1y will announce their names publicly. 

Rich mentioned that Internet gaming continues to be the hot issue being discussed. Rich stated that the 
lotte1y continues to work with the Governor's Office and legislative leaders to help them be aware of this 
topic. The new demographic coming in is technology and convenience based and the lotte1y needs to be 
ready, when the time comes but has no plans to do anything right now. Delaware and Illinois are already 
doing Internet gaming. Rich pointed out that the lotte1y does not want federa regulation of the arena and 
believes that gaming remains a states' rights issue. 

2014 & 2015 Budgets 
Brenda Nye presented both budgets, noting that this is the first year the lottery has been asked by the 
Governor to provide a 2 year budget. Nye stated that the budget is conservative but shows some growth 
over the FY13 budgeted sales and proceeds numbers; $281million in sales for FY14 and $287 million in 
sales for FY15. Proceeds are budgeted above the $60 million mark as Terry discussed earlier- $62.5 
million for FY14 and $62.5 million for FY15. · 

Nye noted that there was some funding added to the Instant and Pull Tab Machine Maintenance line item. 
Courier costs will increase as the lottery begins delivering each week. Operating costs do not include salary 
increases for FY14 and FY15 due to the sala1y negotiations are underway for contract covered employees. 
Lottery staffwill come back to the Board in june of next year with regards to salary increases. 

Nye also noted that FY15 Administrative Payroll line item does include funds for unfunded pension liability 
due to a new Governmental Accounting Standards Board standard (#68), which requires the lotte1y to 
record unfunded pension liability beginning in FY15. The portion attributable to the Lottery is estimated to 



be $1.6 million. Nye further noted that the lottery also budgeted for research costs in FY15 and software 
and IT equipment needs in both FY14 and FY15. 

Junge stated that it had been 10 years since the last salary survey had been completed and asked for 2 
board members to volunteer to spearhead this initiative. Klappholz and McDermott volunteered to work 
with DAS on the matter. 

Junge then asked for a motion to approve the 2014 and 2015 proposed budgets. McDermott moved, 
Burnight seconded and motion carries unanimously. 

EXTENSION OF TICKET VENDING MACHINE CONTRACT 
Loss stated that the lottery owns instant ticket and pull tab vending machines have been in the field for a 
number of years. The lottery has an agreement with Council Bluffs based American Games, Inc. for the 
maintenance and service of those machines. Loss stated that the service provided has been sufficient and 
that the lottery would like to extend the existing contract for one more year. 

Klappholz moved and Burnight seconded. Motion carries unanimously. 

CEO UPDATE 
Rich thanked Molly Juffernbruch and Dave Van Compernolle for all their work on the contracts. 

Rich stated the Internet continues to be a hot topic. Pull-tabs sales continue to decline and are being 
reviewed for improvements. Instant ticket sales continue to be solid and lotto, which has the greatest 
profits but is most unpredictable product category, has been a success in the state oflowa, driven by 
Powerball's price increase to $2. Although 25-30% of players dropped, sales were up 45-50%. Rich stated 
that MegaMillions is now considering going to $2 and said there may be a new national game by this time 
next year. 

Rich stated the lottery is sited as the primary fm'm of wagering by about 5% (26 people) ofall those who 
admitted to treatment after contacting 1-800-BETS-OFF, the statewide gambling treatment hotline. Rich 
stated that the lottery continues to be ve1y aware of its social responsibility when marketing and 
promoting lottery games. 

Rich stated that Loss is in charge of a new initiative called OrderPad, which is going to modernize the sales 
force. Loss then described that the lottery is working with a vendor to provide sales information and sales 
tools electronically to the field staff via iPads. By mid October all sales staff will be able to communicate via 
email and identify sales trends within stores to increase sales and revenues. 

Rich added that success of the lottery is attributed to the fact that the lottery is an authority, which allows 
the lottery to be more nimble with changes. Rich thanked the Board for their support. 

Junge announced that the CEO has a matter to discuss with the Board within the parameters oflowa Code 
Chapter 21.5(1) (i); that the matter pertains to the DC! background check of ticket printing companies. The 
Chair noted that a vote is required dming the public portion of the meeting prior to entering closed session. 

Junge entertained a motion to go into closed session pursuant to Iowa Code chapter 21.5 (1) (i) which 
provides for closed session: 'to evaluate the professional competency of an individual whose appointment, 
hiring, performance or discharge is being consideredwhen necessary to prevent needless and irreparable 
injmy to that individual's reputation and that individual requests a closed session. 

Burnight moved to go into closed session, Klappholz seconded. A vote was taken to go into closed session 
with all members voting aye. Motion carried unanimously. 

5 board members, CEO, DC! members, Attorney General and staff that were involved in selection of the 3 
ticket vendors will be present in the closed session. 



Open session ended at 11:18am. 

Open session resumed at 12:08pm. 

With no other matters to be discussed, Burnight motioned to adjourn. Klappholz seconded and the motion 
carried unanimously. 

Board meeting adjourned at 12:14pm 



·-·· ..... --. ·-··· 
PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

FY 2013 
I JUL 

I Month I 
I AUG I SEP I OCT I I I NOV I DEC I J AN I FEB I MAR I APR I MAY I JUN I 

Gross Sales Budget '13 20,704,712 23,236,949 21,008,030 21 ,964,os3 . 22,422,595 23,240,177 23,369,824 24,166,499 26,112,372 24,460,279 24,080,068 22,334,442 
Actual '11 20,683,463 20,526,880 20,268,736 20,707,755 22,414,149 23,638,991 23,866,645 22,592,711 27,156,908 24,150,580 22,962,332 22.421,899 
Actual '12 21,873,877 24,265,848 21,821,737 24,435,865 25,093,494 26,243,11 1 25,715,692 30,212,168 34,636,028 25,760,263 26,307,787 24,285,855 
Actual :13 24,002,158 27,670,234 23,898,937 25,478,715 

Prize Expense Budgot '13 12,225,406 13,720,606 12,404,507 12,969,005 59.05% 1) 13,239,758 13,722,512 13,799,064 14,269,472 15,418,442 14,442,939 14,218,438 13,187,707 
Actual'11 12,779,039 11,692,728 11,763,446 12,293,596 59.37% 2) 12,390,886 14,042,187 13,741,084 14,281,690 15,042,753 13,796,588 13,991,657 13,145,432 
Actual '12 12,753,428 13,913,842 12,543,873 14,418,330 59.00% 3) 13,955,317 16,548,952 15,632,293 17,991,110 19,681,217 15,101,762 15,850,810 14,051 ,517 
Actual '13 14,725.708. 15,978,048 14,152,073 14,520,050 56.99% 4) 

Operating Expenses Budget '13 458,823 982,362 . 982,362 1,432,779 849,140 982,362 988,706 988,706 988,706 1,442,295 855,484 1,640,924 
Actual '11 539,097 693,153 884,831 807,776 1,184,565 703,967 828,828 936,391 850,695 888,354 1,287,987 1,548,869 
Actual '12 460,879 794,576 991,760 874,688 1,261,482 757,874 882,297 883,113 949,752 878,951 1,376,977 1,919,910 
Actual '13 523,449 891,820 958,942 1,344,045 

Proceeds to Gonornl Fund Budget '13 4,898,370 5,030,028 4,453,312 4,250,259 4,952,542 5,030,864 5,058,065 5,264,198 5,767,679 4,886,623 5,375,057 4,137,949 
Actua1'11 4,714,318 5,198,524 4,295,667 5,010,008 6,255,411 5,606,161 6,208,866 4,335,482 7 ,234,879 6,253,580 4,814,963 4,968,521 
Actual'12 5,684,111 6,081 ,167 5,029,059 5,818,860 7 ,365,377 5,345,966 5,759,711 7,373,869 9,782,829 6,894,379 5,829,479 5,047,647 
Actua1'13 5,310,624 6,687,662 6,055,941 7,105,024 

Procoods to Veterans Trust Budgot'13 91,838 462,261 333,090 181,235 149,349 144,787 207,474 316,1 67 411,416 219,105 160,997 122,281 
Actual '1 1 131 ,645 382,640 441,669 251,116 208,123 203,448 184,063 267,748 472,319 229,155 180,589 152,856 
Actual '12 57,594 350,656 391,066 165,122 128,253 155,046 321,611 406,376 267,787 248,021 149,725 78.236 
Actual '13 268,863 450,192 101,538 69,313 

Total Proceeds Budget '13 4,990,208 5 ,492,289 4,786,402 4,431 ,494 5,101 ,891 5,175,651 5,265,539 5,580,365 6,179,095 5,105,728 5,536,054 4,260,230 
Actual '11 4,845,963 5,581,164 4,737,336 5,261,124 6,463,534 5,809,609 6,392,929 4,603,230 7,707,198 6,482,735 4,995,552 5,121,377 
Actual '12 5,741 ,705 6,431,823 5,420,125 5,983,982 7,483,630 5,501,012 6,081 ,322 7,780,245 10,050,616 7,142,400 5,979,204 5,125,883 
Actual '13 5,579,487 7,137,854 6,157,479 7,174,337 

I YEAR TO DATE I 
Gross Sales Budget '13 20,704,712 43,941,661 64,949,691 86,913,744 109,336,339 132,576,516 155,946,340 180,1 12,839 206,225,211 230,685,490 254,765,558 277,100,000 

Actual '11 20,683,463 41,210,343 61,479,079 82,186,834 22.95% 5) 104,600,983 128,239,974 152,106,619 174,699,328 201,856,234 226,006,812 248,969,142 271 ,391 ,047 
Actual '12 21,873,877 46,139,725 67,961,462 92,397,327 9.36% 6) 117,490,821 143,733,932 169,449,624 199,661,792 234,497,820 260,258,083 286,565,870 310,851,725 
Actual '13 24,002,158 51,672,392 75,571,329 101 ,050,044 16.26% 7) 

Prize Exponso Budget '13 12,225,406 25,946,012 38,350,519 51,319,524 59.05% 1) ·64,559,282 78,281,794 92,080,858 106,350,330 121 ,768,772 136,211 ;711 150,430,149 163,617,856 
Actual '11 12,779,039 24,471,767 36,235,213 48,528,809 59.05% 2) 60,919,695 74,961,882 88,702,966 1 02,984,649 118,027,395 . 131,823,976 145,815,626 158,961 ,078 
Actual '12 12,753,428 26,667,270 39,211,143 53,629,473 58.04% 3) 67,584,790 84,133,742 99,766,035 117,757,145 137,438,362 152,540,124 168,390,934 182,442,447 
Actua1 '13 14,725,708 30,703,756 44,855,829 59,375,879 58.76% 4) 

Operating Expenses Budget '13 458,823 1,441,185 2,423,547 3,856,326 4,705,466 5,687,828 6,676,534 7,665,240 8,653,946 10,096,241 10,951,725 12,592,649 
Actual '11 539,097 1,232,250 2,1 17,081 2,924,857 4,109,422 4,813,389 5,642,217 6,578,610 7,429,307 8,317,663 9,605,652 11,154,514 
Actual'12 460,879 1,255,455 2,247,215 3,121,903 4,383,385 5,141,259 6,023,556 6,906,669 7,856.421 8,735:372 10,112,349 12,032.258 
Actual'13 523,449 1,415,269 2,374,211 3,718,256 

Proceeds to General Fund Budget '13 4,898,370 9,928,398 14,381,710 18,631,969 23,584,511 28,615,375 33,673,440 38,937,638 44,705,317 49,591,940 54,966,997 59,104,946 
Actu·al '11 4,714,318 9,912,842 14,208,509 19.218,517 25,473,928 31 ,080,089 37,288,955 41,624,438 48,859,318 55,112,899 59,927,863 64,896,382 
Actual'12 5,684,111 11,765,278 16,794,337 22,613,1 97 29,978,574 35,324,540 41,084,251 46,458,120 58,240,949 65,135,328 70,964,807 76,012,455 
Actua1'13 5,310,624 11,998,286 18,054,227 25,159,251 

Proceeds to Yeternns Trust Budget '13 91,838 554,099 887,189 1,068,424 1,217,773 1,362,560 1,570,034 1,886,201 . 2,297,617 2,516,722 2,677,719 2,800,000 
Actual'11 131,645 514,285 955,954 1,207,070 1,415,193 1,618,641 1,802,704 2,070,452 2,542,771 2,771,926 2,952,515 3 ,105,371 
Actual'12 57,594 408,250 799,316 964,438 1,092,691 1,247,737 1,569,348 1,975,724 2,243,511 2,491,532 2,641,257 2,719,494 
Actual'13 268,863 719,055 820,593 889,906 

Total Proceeds · Budgot '1 3 4,990,208 10,482,497 15,268,899 19,700,393- 24,802,284 29,977,935 35,243,474 40,823,839 47,002,934 52,108,662 57,644,716 61,904,946 
Actual'1 1 4,845,963 10,427,127 15,164,463 20,425,587 27.53% 5) 26,889;121 32,698,730 39,091,659 43,694,890 51,402,089 57,884,825 82,880,378 68,001,753 
Actual'12 5,741,705 12,173,528 17,593,653 23,577,635 10.48% 6) 31,071,265 36,572,277 42,653,599 50,433,844 60,484,460 67,626,860 73,606,064 78,731,949 
Actual'13 5,579,487 12.717,341 18,874,820 26,049,157 32.23% 7) 

1) Budget FY13 Prize Payout 
2) Actual FY1 1 Prize Payout 
3) Actual FY12 Prize Payout 

. 4) Actual FY13 Prize Payout 
5) Actual FY13 compared to Actual FY11 
6) Actual FY1 3 compared to (lctual FY12 
7)·Actual FY13 compared to Budget FY13 



2323 Grand Avenue· Des Moines· Iowa 50312-5307 
Telephone: 515-725-7900 ·Fax: 515-725-7882 
www.ialottery.com 

Terry E. Branstad · Governor 
Kim Reynolds · Lt. Governor 

Terry Rich · Chief Executive Officer 

DATE: October 18, 2012 

TO: Board Members of the Iowa Lottery Authority 

FROM: Brenda Nye, Chief Financial Officer ~ 
Attached are the financial statements for September 2012. During 
Septemb~r. we had revenue of $23,899,898. This s(illes level resulted in 
$6,055,941 of proceeds payable to the State General Fund and $101,538 
of proceeds payable to the Veterans Trust Fund. 

Attachments 



IOWA LOTTERY AUTHORITY 

SCHEDULE OF ECONOMIC BENEFITS 

September 30, 2012 

Proceeds to Im.Ya Plan 

Proceeds to CLEAN fund 

Proceeds to Special Appropriations 

Proceeds to Gambler's Treatment Program 

Proceeds to the State General Fund: 
Prior to Fiscal Year 2013 
Fiscal Year2013 

Transferred 
Payable 

Proceeds to the Veterans Trust Fund: . 

Total 

Prior to Fiscal Year 2013 
Fiscal Year 2013 

Transferred 
Payable 

$1,148,429,496 

0 
18,054,228 

$11,269,796 

0 
820;592 

$170,318,439 

$35,894,355 . 

$13,773,572 

15,732,208 

1,166,483,724 

12,090,388 

$1,414,292,686 



IOWA LOTTERY AUTHORITY 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 

FOR THE MONTH AND YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2012 

Month ended Month ended Year-to-date Year-to-date 
September 30, 2012 September 30, 2011 September 30, 2012 September 30, 201J 

OPERATING REVENUES 
Instant-scratch ticket sales $13,694,847 $13,970,743 $43,661,094 $41,936,611 
Pick 3 sales 547,394 521,379 1,672,633 1,583,803 
Powerball sales 5,798,367 3,302,304 18,061,737 12,434,455 
:t'-.1ega Millions sales 1,171,348 1,312,480 3,586,121 3,557,527 
Hot Lotto sales 817,760 865,149 2,613,865 2,688,383 
Pick 4 sales 237,802 220,458 723,790 662,357 
$100,000 Cash Game sales 354,483 330,331 1,099,523 1,018,173 
Pull-tab sales 1,276,936 1,298,893 4,152,566 4,080,154 
Application fees 350 300 950 875 
Other revenue 611 932 6,108 1,990 

Total operating revenues 23,899,898 21,822,969 75,578,387 67,964,328 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
Scratch ticket prize expense 8,719,390 8,300,146 27,857,316 25,212,703 
Pick 3 prize expense 324,637 308,278 989,290 936,092 
Powerball prize expense 2,815,755 1,579,158 8,839,036 6,040,916 
Mega Millions prize expense 592,434 668,586 1,814,573 1,805,347 
Hot Lotto prize. expense 398,847 420,551 1,225,390 1,308,891 
Pick 4 prize expense 141,246 130,685 425,064 387,459 
$100,000 Cash Game prize expense 189,937 156,087 588,260 481,714 
Pull-tab prize expense 800,838 811,200 2,600,569 2,554,513 
VIP Club prize expense 160,714 167,031 491,947 444,643 
Promotional prize expense 8,275 2,151 24,385 38,862 
Advertising/publicity 446,494 545,341 1,560,443 1,549,476 
Retailer compensation expense 1,514,663 1,399,506 4,817,803 4,314,224 
Ticket expense 235,085 . 169,763 694,646 535,943 
Vendor compensation expense 454,240 438,389 1,509,868 I ,339,767 
Salary and benefits 717,686 758,045 2,368,326 2,209,167 
Travel 30,878 39,358 105,481 118,608 
Supplies 4,735 12,689 30,186 44,564 
Printing 767 323 1,079 3,513 
Postage 259 1,207 1,020 1,798 
Communications 12,625 12,512 32,992 36,317 
Rentals 24,705 22,693 75,075 67,208 
Utilities 6,661 6,215 21,427 20,660 
Professional fees 17,829 5,054 25,794 9,564 
Vending machine maintenance 44,691 44,848 134,200 134,543 
Outside services an~ repairs 17,910. 21,938 67,322 50,546 
Data processing 5,929 3,961 14,070 11,834 
Equipment 17,052 15,734 52,463 32,900 
Reimbursement to other 

state agencies 27,526 31,267 82,380 87,984 
Depreciation 20,283 11,206 60,848 33,541 
Other 4,778 9,445 I 1,932 20,757 
MUSL administrative expense 9,263 3,759 9,263 11,276 

Total operating expenses 17,766,132 16,097,126 56,532,448 49,845,330 

Operating income (loss) 6,133,766 5,725,843 19,045,939 18,118,998 



IOWA LOTTERY AUTHORITY 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 

FOR THE MONTH AND YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 

Month ended Month ended Year-to-date 
September 30, 2012 September 30, 2011 September 30, 2012 

Non-operating revenues (expenses) 

Proceeds deposited to: 
State General Fund (6,055,941) (5,029,059) (18,054,228) 
Veterans Trust Fund (101,538) (391,066) (820,592) 

Interest Income 48,559 15,664 48,559 
Interest expense (3,010) (3,284) (9,030) 

Net noh-op_erating revenues (expen1 (6,111,930) (5,407,745) (18,835,291) 

Change in net assets 21,836 318,098 210,648 

Net ass"ets, beginning 
of period 5,384,772 4,442,904 5,195,960 

Net assets, end 
of period $5,406,608 $4,761,002 $5,406,608 

Year-to-date 
September 30, 2011 

(16,794,337) 
(799,316) 

60,770 
(9,852) 

(17,542, 735) 

576,263 

4,184,739 

$4,761,002 



2323 Grand Avenue· Des !·Joines· Iowa 50312-5307 
Telephone: 515-725-7900 ·Fax: 515-725-7882 
www.ialottery.com 

DATE: November 16, 2012 

TO: 

FROM: 

Board Members of the Iowa Lottery Auth ... orty 

Brenda Nye, Chief Financial Offic~r b\"-\ 

Terry E. Branstad · Governor 
Kim Reynolds· Lt. Governor 

Terry Rich ·Chief Executive .Officer 

Attached are the financial statements for October 2012. During October, 
we had revenue of $25,479,996. This sales level· resulted in $7,105,024 
of proceeds payable to the State General Fund and $69,313 of proceeds 
payable to the Veterans Trust Fund. ' 

Attachments 



IOWALOTIERY AUTHORITY 

SCHEDULE OF ECONOMIC BENEFITS 

October :n, 2012 

Proceeds to Iowa Plan 

Proceeds to CLEAN fund 

Proceeds to Special Appropriations 

Proceeds to Gambler's Treatment Program 

Proceeds to the State General Fund: 
Prior to Fiscal Year 20 I 3 

Fiscal Year 2013 
Transferred 
Payable 

Proceeds to the Veterans Trust Fund: 

Total 

Prior to Fiscal Year 20 !3 
Fiscal Year 20 I 3 

Transferred 
Payable 

$1,148,429,496 

18,054,228 
7,105,024 

$11,269,796 

820,592 
69,313 

$170,318,439 

$35,894,355 

$13,773,572 

15,732,208 

1,173,588,748 

12,159,701 

s1 ,421,467,o:n 



IOWA LOTIERY AUTHORITY 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 

FOR THE MONTH AND YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2012 

Month ended Month ended Year-to-date Year-to-date 
October 31, 2012 October 31, 2011 October 31,2012 October 31, 2011 

OPERATING REVENUES 
Instarit-scratch ticket sales $16,066,420 $14,517,400 $59,727,514 $56,454,011 
Pick 3 sales 569,486 545,214 2,242,118 2,129,017 
Powerball sales 4,631,003 5,383,417 22,692,741 17,817,872 
Mega Millions sales 1,132,618 910,258 4,718,739 4,467,785 
Hot Lotto sales 926,568 1,050,802 3,540,433 3,739,185 
Pick 4 sales 254,893 243,121 978,683 905,478 
$100,000 Cash Game sales 391,346 335,701 1,490,869 1,353,874 
Pull-tab sales 1,506,381 1,449,952 5,658,948 5,530,107 
Application fees 975 175 1,925 1,050 
Other revenUe 306 120,461 6,414 122,451 

Total operating revenues 25,479,996 24,556,501 . 101,058,384 92,520,830 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
Scratch ticket prize expense 9,441,527 9,112,748 37,298,842 34,325,451 
Pick 3 prize expense 336,431 325,778 1,325,721 1,261,870 
Powerball prize expense 2,234,115 2,638,784 11,073,151 8,679,700 
Mega Millions prize expense 572,411 456,616 2,386,984 2,261,963 
Hot Lotto prize expense 450,631 512,523 1,676,021 1,821,414 
Pick 4 prize expense 150,876 138,092 575,940 525,552 
$100,000 Cash Game prize expense 209,188 158,839 797,448 640,554 
Pull-tab prize expense 942,704 908,443 3,543,273 3,462,955 
VIP Club prize expense 165,176 160,714 657,124 605,357 
Promotional prize expense 16,991 5,793 41,376 44,656 
Advertising/publicity 460,874 612,891 2,021,317 2,162,367 
Retailer compensation expense 1,617,520 1,559,695 6,435,323 5,873,918 
Ticket expense 261,430 300,687 956,076 836,630 
Vendor compensation expense 515,399 466,180 2,025,267 1,805,946 
Salary and benefits 787,953 727,663 3,156,279 2,936,830 
Travel 35,886 34,789 141,367 153,396 
Supplies 11,201 18,157 41,387 62,721 
Printing 0 60 1,079 3,573 
Postage 314 288 1,334 2,087 
Communications 13,826 7,642 46,818 43,959 
Rentals 24,705 22,636 99,781 89,844 
Utilities 5,837 9,422 27,264 30,082 
Professional fees 3,123 3,403 28,917 12,967 
Vending machine ~aintenance 44,631 44,847 178,831 179,390 
Outside services and repair:; 34,785 32,180 102,107 82,726 
Data processing 4,182 3,914 18,252 15,749 
Equipment 26,633 8,944 79,096 41,844 
Reimbursement to other 

state agencies 55,001 27,606 137,381 115,590 
Depreciation 20,283 11,344 . 81,131 44,885 
Other 9,172 5,624 21,103 26,381 
MUSL administrative expense 3,087 3,759 12,350 15,035 

Total operating expenses 18,455,892 18,320,061 74,988,340 68,165,392 

- Operating income (loss) 7,024,104 6,236,440 26,070,044 24,355,438 



IOWALOITERY AUTHORITY 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHAN&ES IN NET ASSETS 

FOR THE MONTH AND YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31,2012 

Month ended Month ended Year-to-date 
October 31, 2012 October 31, 2011 October 31,2012 

Non-operating revenues (expenses) 

Proceeds deposited to: 
State General Fund (7,105,024) (5,818,860) (25,159,252) 
Veterans Trust Fund (69,313) (165,122) (889,905) 

Interest Income 4,238 3,324 52,797 
Interest expense (3,010) (3,284) (12,041) 

Net non-operating revenues (expen1 (7,173,109) (5,983,942) (26,008,401) 

Change in net assets (149,005) 252,498 61,643 

Net asset.s, beginning 
of period 5,406,608 4,761,002 5,195,960 

Net assets, end 

of period $5,257,603 $5,013,500 $5,257,603 

Year-to-date 
October 31, 2011 

(22,613, 197) 
(964,438) 

64,094 
(13,136) 

(23,526,677) 

828,761 

4,184,739 

$5,013,500 



SECURITY REPORT 
OCTOBER/NOVEMBER 2012 

INVESTIGATIONS 

cases opened: 7 
cases closed: 0 

EVENTS 

TYPES 

Burglary: 2 
Employee Theft: 1 
Theft: 1 

Provide security for the $100,000 cash Game and all second chance and promotional 
drawings. 54 drawings, (1) MDI drawing. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Assist Validations Department: 27 
Law Enforcement contacts: 13 
ABD:38 
Records of contact: 55 
Juvenile: 0 
Retailer assist: 13 
Ticket print: 4 
VIP assists: 14 
Reconstructions: 4 
Compliance checks: 283 



. 410 COMPLIANCE CHECKS 
WERE DONE ACROSS IOWA IN 2012 



2012 STATE. COMPLIANCE STAYS 

Total State Signature Compliance 

298 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 

Asked for a Signature D Did NOT Ask for a Signature 



2012 STATE C.OMPLIANCE STAYS 

Total State Receipt Compliance 

38 

350 360 . 370 380 390 400 410 420 

Gave a Receipt D Did NOT Give a·Receipt 



TOTAL. STATE· COMPLIANCE STAYS: 

28 RETAILERS FAILED.TO BOTH: 
. . . . 

·. ASK FOR A SIGNATU.RE 'AND 
'GIVE A R'ECEIP'T 



104 COMPLIANCE CHECKS 
· WERE DONE IN REGION 1 IN 2012 

. . 

RlEGUON 1 



. . 

2012 COMPLIANCE ·STAYS 

Region 1 Signature Compliance 

77 

0 20 40 60 80 100 . 120 

Asked for a Signature · D Did NOT Ask for a Sign.ature 



2012 COMPLIANCE STAYS 

Regio·n l .Receipt Compliance 

20 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 

Gave a Receipt D Did NOT Give .a Receipt 



REGION 1 COMPLIANCE STAYS.: 
.. 

8 RETAILERS FAILED TO BOTH: 
ASK FOR A SIGNATURE AN.D 

GIVE A RECEIPT . 



N
 

... c 
U).N

--

~! 
IIIN

 
::cz 
u

o
 

1
1

1
-

u
e
~
 

Z
lll 

ca= 
-. ...1 z 
a
.-

:&
111 

.Q
Z

 
u

o
 

. 
a 

CD 
0

.111 
.-a= Ill . 
. I 

. 
~
 

.. 



20.12 COMPLIANCE STAYS 

Region 2 Signature Compliance . 

82 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 ' 

Asked for· a Signature D Did NOT Ask for a Signature 



2012 COMPLIANCE STAYS 

Region 2 Receipt Comp.liance 

2 

105 105.5 106 106.5 107 107.5 108 108.5 

Gave a Receipt · D Did NOT .Give ·a Receipt 



. . 

.REGION 2 . COMPLIANCE STAYS: 
. . 

. NO RETAILERS FAILED TO BOTH: 
·ASK FOR A SIGNATURE AND 

GIVE A RECEIPT 



N
 

liP
 

0 
. 

N
 

fn 
~

· 
·-~
z
 

~ 
u

-
-e 

1&1 .,. 
ti 

('I) 

:C
z 

en 
z 

u
o

 
0 

r 

-
u

-
G

 
§ 

u
"
 

w
 

\t;; 
1&1 

~
 

~ 
Z.a= 

a 
c -

·z 
~ 

..1
· 

a
.-

:&
1&

1 
o

z
 

u
g

 
01&

1 
CD~~!!: 

1&1 
I 



2012 COMPLIANCE STAYS 

. Region 3 Signature Compliance . 

53 

0 10 20' 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 

~ Asked for a Signa~ure D Did NOT Ask for a Signature 



2012 COMPLIANCE STAYS 
. . . 

Region ·3 Re.ceipt Co.mpliance 

5 

72 73 74 . 75 . 76 77 78 79 80 81 

~ Gave a Receipt D Did NOT·Give a Receipt 



. . 

REG.·IO.N 3 COMPLIANCE STAYS: 

4 RETAILERS FAILED.TO BOTH: · . 
ASK FOR A . SIGNATURE AND. 

GIVE A RECEIPT 





2012 COMPLIANCE. STAYS 

Region 4 s·ignature Cf;>mpliance 

71 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 

Asked for a Signature D Did NOT Ask for a Signature 



2012 COMPLIANCE STAYS 

Region 4 Receipt Complianc.e 

8 

82 84 86 88 90 92 94 96 

Gave a Receipt D Did NOT Give a Receipt 



REGION 4 COMPLIANCE STAYS:·: · 

5 RETAILERS ·FAILED TO BOTH·: 
ASK FOR A SIGNATURE. AND 

GIVE A RECEIPT· 



N
 
~
 

c 
tn

N
 

~
z
 

u
.-

. Ill 1ft 
:C

z
 

u
o

 
.
~
 

u" 
z
lll 

cca:: 
-
z
 

..I_
 

a. Ill . 
:&

z
 

o
o

 
U

a
 

CW
) 

N
lll 
II: 
Ill 
ar: 

1.0 

z 0 
J 

-C
) 

w
 

) 
0::: 



2012 COMPLIANCE STAYS 

Region 5 Signature Compliance 

15 

0 5 . 10 15 20 25 

[!fJ Asked for a Signature · D Did NOT Ask for a Signature 



2012 COMPLIANCE STAYS 

Region 5 Receipt Compliance 

3 

18.5 19 19.5 20 20.5 21 21.5 22 22.5 23 23.5 

Gave a Receipt D Did NOT Give a Receipt 



. . 

REGION 5 COMPLIANCE STAYS: 

. . . . 

1 RETAILER FAILED TO BOTH:· 
ASK FO·R A SIGNATURE .AND · 

. . GIVE. A RECEIP·T · 



EXTENSION TO THE 
AGREEMENT FOR THE PURCHASE OF 

PULL-TAB TICKETS AND RELATED SERVICES 

This Extension and Amendment of Agreement For the Purchase of Pull-Tab Tickets and 
Related Services (Extension) is effective on the last date set forth below and is made by and 
between the Iowa Lottery Authority (Lottery) and Pollard Games, Inc. doing business as 
American Games, Inc. (Contractor) . 

. In consideration of the mutual covenants contained in this Extension, the sufficiency of 
which is acknowledged, it is agreed as follows: · 

SECTION 1. IDENTITY OF THE PARTIES. 

1.1 The Lottery is an instrumentality of the State of Iowa and is authorized by Iowa Code Chapter 
· 99G to conduct a lottery in the State of Iowa. The Lottery's address is 2323 Grand Avenue, Des 
Moines, Iowa 50312. 

1.2 The Contractor is a corporation established under the laws of the state of Delaware. 
American Games, Inc. is engaged in the business, among other things, of printing pull-tab tickets. 
The address for Contractor is 504 341

" Avenue, Council Bluffs, lA 51501. · · · 

SECTION 2. EXTENSION OF TERM. 

On or about January 1, 2009, the Lottery and Contractor entered into an Agreement for 
the Purchase of Pull-Tab Tickets ahd Related Services ("Agreement"). The term of the 
Agreement was for two years, plus three one-year extension periods exercisable at the option of 
the Lottery. Pursuant to Section 5 of the Agreement, the third option period is hereby exercised 
extending the term through December 31, 2013. 

SECTION 3. AGREEMENT OTHERWISE UNCHANGED. 

Except as specifically modified hereby, the terms of this Agreement shall remain in full 
force and effect. 

SECTION 4. EXECUTION. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, in consideration of the mutual covenants set forth aboVe and 
for other goods and valuable consideration, the receipt, adequacy and legal sufficiency of which 
are hereby acknowledged, the parties have entered into the above Extension and have caused 
their duly authorized representatives to execute this Extension. 

Iowa Lottery Authority 

By: -~~--------
Name: Larry Loss 
Title: Executive Vice President 

Pollard Games, Inc dba American Games, Inc. 

By: --:::----:--:=c-=--::--;-----
Name: Douglas E. Pollard 
Title: President 

Date: _____ _ 

Date:~-----



AGREEMENTFORTHEPURCHASEOF 

INSTANT TICKETS AND RELATED SERVICES 

between 

Iowa Lottery Authority 

and 

Pollard Banknote Limited 

Effective 1/1/2013 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION 1. IDENTITY OF THE PARTIES 

SECTION 2. PURPOSE 

SECTION 3. DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 
Section 3.1 Incorporation of Proposal Documents 
Section 3.2 Contractual Obligations of Contractor 
Section 3.3 Contents of Agreement 
Section 3.4 Order of Preference 
Section 3.5 Intent of References to Bid Documents 
Section 3.6 Incorporation of Working Papers 

SECTION 4. DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 5. TERM 

SECTION 6. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
Section 6.1 Description of Goods and Services 
Section 6.2 Industry Standards 
Section 6.3 Personnel to Perform the Services 
Section 6.4 Timely Performance 
Section 6.5 Contract for Goods 
Section 6.6 Non-Exclusive Rights 

SECTION 7. CONTRACTOR REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

SECTION 8. COMPENSATION 
Section 8.1 Pricing Matrix 
Section 8.2 Payment to Contractor 
Section 8.3 Set-Off Against Sums Owed by Contractor 
Section 8.4 State not to be Obligated 
Section 8.5 Payments to Lottery 
Section 8.6 Suspension of Payment 
Section 8.7 Taxes 

SECTION 9. DEFAULT AND TERMINATION 
Section 9.1 Termination for Cause 
Section 9.2 Notice of Cure 
Section 9.3 Immediate Termination 
Section 9.4 Termination for Convenience 
Section 9.5 Termination for Lack of Authority or Funding 
Section 9.6 Waiver 
Section 9. 7 Remedies of Contractor 
Section 9.8 No Release of Obligation 

SECTION 10. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
Section 10.1 Notification of Liquidated Damages 
Section 10.2 Delivery of Non-conforming Tickets 
Section 10.3 Over-redemption 
Section 10.4 Damages for Late Delivery 

1 

1 

1 

2 

2 

3 

3 

4 

5 

7 

11 



Section 10.5 Payment of Liquidated Damages 
Section 10.6 Remedies 

SECTION 11. FORCE MAJEURE 

SECTION 12. INSURANCE 
Section 12.1 Coverage Requirements 
Section 12.2 Types of Coverage 
Section 12.3 Coverage for Lottery Property or Personnel on Contractor Premises 
Section 12.4 Coverage Without Regard to Claim 
Section 12.5 Notice Regarding Cancellation 
Section 12.6 No Limitation of Liability 
Section 12.7 Warranty 
Section 12.8 Scope of Errors and Omissions Insurance 
Section 12.9 Scope of Property Insurance 
Section 12.10 Waiver ofSubrogation Rights 

SECTION 13. BONDS 
Section 13.1 Bonds and Insurance Qualifications 
Section 13.2 Performance Bond 
Section 13.3 Fidelity Bond 
Section 13.4 Provision of Bonds 

SECTION 14. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 
Section 14.1 Works Made for Hire 
Section 14.2 Lottery Trademarks, Service Marks, and Trade Name 
Section 14.3 Purchase of Proprietary Rights Held by Others 
Section 14.4 Right to Use Intellectual Property 
Section 14.5 Warranty Regarding Intellectual Property Rights 
Section 14.6 Trademark Searches 

8 

9 

10 

12 

Section 14.7 Infringement of Trademarks, Patents, Copyrights and Other Proprietary Rights 
Section 14.8 Product Information Supplied by Lottery 
Section 14.9 Approval of Materials by Contractor 
Section 14.10 Possession of Copies 

SECTION 15. INDEMNIFICATION 

SECTION 16. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 

SECTION 17. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
Section 17.1 Independent Contractor 
Section 17.2 Prime Contractor Responsibilities 
Section 17.3 News Releases 
Section 17.4 Advertising 
Section 17.5 Endorsements 
Section 17.6 Ticket Purchase Restrictions 
Section 17.7 Additional Security Requirements 
Section 17.8 Background Investigations 
Section 17.9 Security Violation Reporting 
Section 17.10 Security Information (Disclosure) Updates 
Section 17.11 Contractor Ethics and Integrity 
Section 17.12 Compliance with Association Standards 
Section 17.13 Audit and Accounting Requirements 

SECTION 18. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 
Section 18.1 Assignment and Delegation 

14 

15 

15 

18 

iii 



Section 18.2 Records Retention and Access 
Section 18.3 Choice of Law and Forum 
Section 18.4 Compliance with the Law and Regulations 
Section 18.5 Covenant Against Contingent Fees 
Section 18.6 Cooperation of the Parties 
Section 18.7 Amendments 
Section 18.8 Third Party Beneficiaries 
Section 18.9 Integration 
Section 18. 10 Headings or Captions 
Section 18.11 Not a Joint Venture 
Section 18.12 Supersedes Former Agreements 
Section 18.13 Notices 
Section 18.14 Exclusive and Non-Exclusive Rights 
Section 18.15 Right of Inspection 
Section 18.16 Survival of Obligations 
Section 18.17 Industry Standards 
Section 18.18 Cumulative Rights 
Section 18.19 Severability 
Section 18.20 Authorization 
Section 18.21 Successors in Interest 
Section 18.22 Counterparts 
Section 18.23 Additional Provisions 
Section 18.24 Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments 
Section 18.25 Obligations of Joint Entities 
Section 18.26 Material Breaches 
Section 18.27 U.S. Dollars 
Section 18.28 Consent to Service of Process 
Section 18.29 Authorization to do Business in Iowa 
Section 18.30 Non-Disclosure of the Lottery's Plans 
Section 18.31 Title to Lottery Property 
Section 18.32 Sales Restrictions 

SECTION 19. EXECUTION 

SCHEDULE A SCOPE OF SERVICES 
Section 1 General Description of Work 
Section 2 Definitions 
Section 3 Tickets and Services Specifications 
Section 3.1 Ticket Specifications 
Section 3.2 Packaging 
Section 3.3 Delivery 
Section 3.4 Security 
Section 3. 5 Reports, CO's and Other Deliverables 
Section 3.6 Corporate Marketing Support 

SCHEDULE B PRICING MATRIX 

SCHEDULE C LICENSED PROPERTIES 

SCHEDULE 0 BACKGROUND INVESTIGATIONS 

21 

23 

IV 



AGREEMENT FOR THE PURCHASE OF 
INSTANT TICKETS AND RELATED SERVICES 

This Agreement for the Purchase of Instant Lottery Tickets and Related Services ("Agreement" or "Contracf') is 
entered into by and between the Iowa Lottery Authority ("Lottery'') and Pollard Banknote Limited, herein after referred to as 
("Pollard" or "Contractor''). 

In consideration of the mutual covenants contained in this Agreement, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, it 
is agreed as follows: 

SECTION 1. IDENTITY OF THE PARTIES. 

The Lottery Is an instrumentality of the State of Iowa whose address is 2323 Grand Avenue, Des Moines, lA 50312. The 
Lottery is authorized by Iowa Code chapter 99G to conduct a lottery in the state of Iowa. 

Pollard Banknote Limited is a Canadian public corporation, incorporated under the federal laws of Canada, engaged in the 
business of printing lottery scratch tickets and other services. The address for Contractor Is 1499 Buffalo Place, Winnipeg, 
Manitoba, Canada R3T 1L7. 

SECTION 2. PURPOSE. 

The Contractor designs and manufactures instant lottery tickets for use by various domestic and international government
sanctioned lotteries. The Contractor has the requisite skill, expertise and personnel required to assist the Lottery in 
producing Instant tickets and to provide related services for the production of instant games. 

SECTION 3. DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE. 

3.1 Incorporation of Proposal Documents. The Request for Proposal number IL-12-02 (RFP) Including any 
clarifications thereto (collectively, the "RFP") and the Contractor's proposal in response to the RFP, together with any 
clarifications of the Contractor (collectively, the "Proposal") are each incorporated into this Agreement by this reference as 
if fully set forth in this Agreement. 

3.2 Contractual Obligations of Contractor. The terms and conditions of the Proposal and of the RFP are made 
contractual obligations of the Contractor. 

3.3 Contents of Agreement. The parties acknowledge that this Agreement consists of this document as well as the RFP 
and the Proposal and that the parties are obligated to perform as set forth in the RFP and the Proposal to the same extent 
that they are obligated to perform the specific duties set forth in this document. 

3.4 Order of Preference. In the case of any inconsistency or conflict between the specific provisions of this document 
and the RFP or the Proposal, any inconsistency or conflict shall be resolved as follows: 

a) First, by giving preference to the specific provisions of any addendum or amendment to this document. 

b) Second, by giving preference to the specific provisions of this document. 

c) Third, by giving preference to the specific provisions of the Proposal. 

d) Fourth, by giving preference to the specific provisions of any clarifications to the RFP. 

e) Fifth, by giving preference to the specific provisions of the RFP. 



3.5 Intent of References to Bid Documents. The references to the parties' obligations, which are contained in this 
document, are intended to change, supplement or clarify the obligations as slated In the RFP and the Proposal. The 
failure of the parties to make reference to the terms of the RFP or Proposal in this document shall not be construed as 
creating a conftict and will not relieve the Contractor of the contractual obligations imposed by the terms of the RFP and 
the Proposal. Terms offered in the Proposal that exceed the requirements of the RFP shall not be construed as creating 
an inconsistency or conftict with the RFP or this document. The contractual obligations of the Lottery cannot be implied 
from the Proposal. 

3.6 Incorporation Of Working Papers. Working Papers executed pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall be 
incorporated into this Agreement by this reference as if written here at the time of execution. Any inconsistency between 
the Working Papers and the terms of this Agreement shall be resolved by first giving effect to the terms of the Working 
Papers. Any inconsistency between the Working Papers and the RFP or the Proposal shall be resolved by first giving 
effect to the Working Papers, then to the Proposal, and finally to the RFP. 

Upon the execution of Working Papers for a game, the Contractor represents and warrants to the Lottery that it, upon the 
agreement of the Contractor and the Lottery, may be able to produce additional tickets of the game to the Lottery 
throughout the term of this Agreement at the written request of the Lottery. The requirement that Working Papers be 
executed for each game reordered shall not be construed as relieving the Contractor of the option to provide additional 
tickets of previously printed games upon the written order of the Lottery. 

Where this Agreement provides that a particular characteristic of a ticket will be specified by the Lottery, the specification 
will be made in the Working Papers. 

SECTION 4. DEFINITIONS. 

The following words shall have the meanings set forth below. Words in the singular shall be held to include the plural and 
vice versa, and words of gender shall be held to include any other gender as the context requires. For the purposes of this 
Agreement, the following terms and all other terms defined In this Agreement shall have the meanings so defined unless 
the context clearly indicates otherwise. 

a) "Delivery" means the date of the Lottery's receipt of the tickets or completion of Services at the Lottery's 
designated location. 

b) "Working Papers" refers to a set of documents that contains all game requirements organized into information 
sections, specific to parts of the production process. This information represents the requests of the Lottery 
and must be followed by the Contractor while producing a game. 

c) "Party" means either of the legal entities identified in Section 1 of this Agreement. 

d) "Services" means various types of support services as provided to the Lottery by Contractor incidental to 
Contractor's production of instant tickets including but not limited to game name searches, technical support 
training or other services set forth in this Agreement as requested by the Lottery from time to time. 

e) "Customer Specifications" means a document created by the Contractor that details information to be followed 
while producing a game specific to the Lottery. 

SECTION 5. TERM. 

The term of this Agreement will be from January 1, 2013 through December 31, 2014 plus up to four (4) additional one
year option periods or any combination thereof (i.e., one year, two years, three years, or all four years), provided that any 
such option to renew is exercised in writing by the Lottery at least ninety (90) days prior to the end of the initial contract 
period, or any additional renewal thereof, or at a time mutually agreed upon by both parties. 

2 



SECTION 6. SCOPE OF SERVICES. 

6.1 Description of Goods and Services. The goods to be produced and the services to be performed pursuant to and 
as a result of this Agreement by the Contractor are described on Schedule A attached hereto and made a part hereof by 
this reference. 

6.2 Industry Standards. In the absence of a detailed specification for the performance of any portion of this Agreement, 
the parties agree that the applicable specification shall be the generally accepted industry standard for the manufacture of 
instant tickets and related services. 

6.3 Personnel to Perform the Services. The Contractor shall identify for the Lottery all employees of the Contractor and 
any subcontractors involved in the production of tickets or related services or which provide goods or services necessary 
to the production of materials. The Lottery reserves the right to disapprove of any subcontractor used by the Contractor or 
any employee of the Contractor or any subcontractor directly involved In ticket production. If the Lottery disapproves of any 
such person or subcontractor, the Contractor shall ensure that they are not involved in the production of the Lottery's 
tickets. The Contractor shall require its employees and the employees of any subcontractors involved in the direct 
production of tickets to submit to background investigations by the Lottery and to complete all background disclosure 
forms as may be required by the Lottery. Lottery reserves the right to require Contractor to reassign the development of 
Working Papers to another employee of the Contractor if Working Papers are consistently delivered with errors or 
persistent timeliness problems. 

6.4 Timely Performance. Time Is of the essence with respect to the successful performance of the terms of this 
Agreement. The Contractor shall ensure that all personnel providing services to the Lottery are responsive to Lottery 
requirements in all respects including Lottery directives with respect to the goods and services delivered in accordance 
with this Agreement. 

6.5 Contract for Goods. The parties agree that this is primarily a contract for goods and that services provided by the 
Contractor pursuant to the terms of this Agreement are incidental to the fulfillment of this Agreement. 

6.6 Non-Exclusive Rights. The Lottery does not grant the Contractor the exclusive right to produce all or any Lottery 
instant tickets during the term of this Agreement. The Lottery shall not be obligated to purchase any tickets from the 
Contractor during the term of this Agreement. 

SECTION 7. CONTRACTOR REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. 

7.1 All representations and warranties made by the Contractor in all provisions of this Agreement and the Proposal by the 
Contractor, whether or not this Agreement specifically denominates the Contractor's promise as a warranty or whether the 
warranty is created only by the Contractor's affirmation or promise, or is created by a description of the materials and 
services to be provided, or by provision of samples to the Lottery, shall not be construed as limiting or negating any 
warranty provided by law, including without limitation, warranties which arise through course of dealing or usage of trade. 
The warranties expressed in this Agreement are intended to modify the warranties implied by law only to the extent that 
they expand the warranties applicable to the goods and services provided by the Contractor. 

7.2 The Contractor represents and warrants that the related materials, goods and services to be provided to the Lottery 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be suitable for their intended purposes. The Contractor acknowledges that the Lottery is 
relying on the Contractor's skill and judgment to furnish tickets and related materials and services fit in all respects for this 
purpose which will be designed to maximize the ticket sales of the Lottery. 

7.3 The Contractor represents and warrants that the tickets and related materials, goods and services shall be 
merchantable. 

7.4 The Contractor represents and warrants that title to the materials conveyed to the Lottery shall be good and that 
transfer of title is rightful and that the materials shall be delivered free of any security interest or other lien or encumbrance. 

3 



7.5 The Contractor represents and warrants that it has the right to enter into and to fully perform this Agreement upon the 
terms and conditions specified and that it has not granted and will not grant any right or interest to any person or entity 
which might derogate, encumber, or interfere with the rights granted to the Lottery. 

7.6 The Contractor represents and warrants that any tickets and related services provided will be new and unused and 
free of defects in material, design and workmanship. 

7.7 The Contractor represents and warrants that all services provided shall be performed in a prompt, competent and 
workmanlike manner by properly trained individuals in accordance with the highest standards of the Contractor's 
profession. 

7.8 The Contractor represents and warrants that the goods and services produced as a result of this Agreement shall be 
free and clear of any lien or claim by any party at the time of delivery to the Lottery. 

7.9 The Contractor expressly represents and warrants to the standards in the industry all aspect of the goods and 
services provided by it or used by the Contractor and the Lottery in performance of this Agreement. 

7.10 The Contractor also represents and warrants that the design, manufacture and sale or use by the Lottery of materials 
provided by the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement will not infringe on any intellectual property rights of any other 
person or entity. 

7.11 The Contractor represents and warrants that the production, design, and use by the Lottery of tickets and related 
materials, goods and services provided by the Contractor will not infringe on any patent, trademark, copyright, trademark, 
service mark, trade secret or other right held by any third party; provided, however, that the Contractor need provide no 
such warranty for Information, data, designs, processes, inventions, techniques, devices, and other such intellectual 
property furnished to Contractor by the Lottery. 

7.12 The Contractor represents and warrants that the tickets and related goods and services provided shall meet each 
and every requirement and specification of this Agreement exactly as specified in this Agreement, the Customer 
Specifications and Working Papers executed pursuant to this Agreement. 

7.13 The Contractor represents and warrants that it has not made any misrepresentations to the Lottery related to this 
Agreement or the products and services to be provided pursuant to this Agreement. "Misrepresentations" include material 
omissions. 

SECTION 8. COMPENSATION. 

8.1 Pricing Matrix. The pricing matrix for the goods and services described in Schedule A is set forth in Schedule B. 
Travel and per diem expenses are treated as items of overhead and are not compensable as a separate item under this 
Agreement. The pricing matrix does not prohibit or limit the Lottery from negotiating a lower price. 

8.2 Payment to Contractor. This Agreement is based upon a Price-Per-Thousand Basis, in that the Lottery agrees to 
pay to Contractor, as Contractor's sole compensation hereunder, for the actual number of conforming Instant tickets 
delivered which do not exceed the delivery tolerance. 

The Lottery will pay for tickets which conform to all of the specifications of this Agreement, Customer Specifications and 
the Working Papers, which are billable to the Lottery under this Agreement within sixty (60) days after the "acceptance" of 
the tickets by the Lottery. "Acceptance" by the Lottery occurs only after the Lottery has inspected the delivered tickets and 
receives the Game Audit Report (for original orders only, not reorders). The Lottery will inspect the tickets received to 
determine if they are acceptable within five (5) working days of receipt of the tickets if reasonably possible, but in all events 
inspection shall be made within ten (10) working days of receipt of the tickets. If the tickets are not rejected within the ten 
(10) working day inspection period they shall be deemed "accepted". The Lottery's receipt of the Game Audit Report 
described in Schedule A, section 3.5.14 of this Agreement must be received by the Lottery not later than fourteen (14) 
calendar days after the game delivery date. For purposes of construing this Section, ''working days" do not include 
Saturdays, Sundays, or legal holidays of the state of Iowa. 

4 



"Acceptance" by the Lottery pursuant to this Section is only for the purpose of making payment to the Contractor and does 
not prevent the Lottery from later rejecting tickets based upon a defect which is discovered at a later date. 

The sum remitted by the Lottery will be based upon the price shown for the game ordered in the Working Papers. 

Acceptance by the Lottery pursuant to this Section does not prevent the Lottery from returning tickets to the Contractor or 
later seeking any legal or equitable remedy against the Contractor if at any time the Lottery determines that tickets or 
materials do not conform to each and every requirement of this Agreement. 

The Lottery shall pay all approved invoices in arrears and in conformance with Iowa Code Section 8A.514 and II lAC § 
41.1(2). The Lottery may vary the terms of this provision by paying the bill for seJVices in less than 60 days as provided in 
Iowa Code Section 8A.514. However, an election to pay in less than 60 days shall not act as an implied waiver of Iowa 
Code Section 8A.514. 

8.3 Set-Off Against Sums Owed by Contractor. In the event that the Contractor owes the Lottery or the State of Iowa 
any sum under the terms of this Agreement, any other Agreement, pursuant to any judgment, or pursuant to any law, the 
Lottery may set off the sum owed to the Lottery or the State against any sum billed to the Lottery by the Contractor in the 
Lottery's sole discretion unless otheiWise required by law. 

8.4 State not to be Obligated. Pursuant to Iowa Code Section 99G.38, the funds of the state of Iowa, as opposed to the 
funds of the Iowa Lottery Authority, are not available to meet the obligations of the Lottery that may arise from this 
Agreement. 

8.5 Payments to Lottery. In the event that the Contractor owes the Lottery any sum under the terms of this Agreement, 
the Contractor will remit such sum to the Lottery within thirty (30) calendar days of written notification by the Lottery that 
such sum is owed. 

8.6 Suspension of Payment. The Lottery may suspend all or part of the payment to the Contractor if the Contractor fails 
to perform as required by this Agreement until such time as the Contractor renders satisfactory performance. The amount 
of the payment suspended shall be reasonably calculated by the Lottery to represent only that part of the Contractor's 
payment which is attributable to the work not satisfactorily performed. The determination as to whether the Contractor is in 
compliance with this Agreement shall be within the discretion of the Lottery. 

8.7 Taxes. The Contractor and its subcontractors, may be subject to certain taxes, including but not limited to sales tax, 
motor vehicle fuel tax, personal or corporate income tax or other taxes or assessments, and to licensing fees or other 
miscellaneous fees or charges which may be imposed by federal, state, or local law or ordinance. The Contractor and its 
subcontractors shall be solely responsible for paying any taxes incurred in the performance of this Agreement. The 
Contractor shall promptly pay all such taxes, fees or charges when due. The Lottery is a tax-exempt entity and no 
payment will be made for any taxes levied on the Contractor for any purpose. 

SECTION 9. DEFAULT AND TERMINATION. 

9.1 Termination for Cause. Either party may terminate this Agreement upon written notice for the breach by the other 
party of a material term. if such breach is not cured, provided that a cure is feasible within 10 days following receipt of 
written notice of breach from the non-breaching party. Breach events include but are not limited to the following: 

a) Contractor fails to perform as required by this Agreement; or 
b) Contractor falls to make substantial and timely progress toward performance or fails to meet any of the 

material specifications and requirements of this Agreement, including without limitation the representations 
and warranties provided in this Agreement; or 

c) Lottery fails to perform as required by this Agreement including failure to make timely payment for goods and 
seJVices rendered. 

5 



9.2 Notice of Cure. If a cure is feasible and an opportunity to cure is provided, the notice shall specify the exact date by 
which the condition must be cured. Following expiration of the opportunity to cure and notice from the non-breaching 
party, the non-breaching party may seek any legal or equitable remedy authorized by this Agreement or by law. 

9.3 Immediate Termination. The Lottery may terminate this Agreement, effective immediately without advance notice 
and without penalty or legal liability for any of the following reasons: 

If the Contractor furnished any statement, representation, warranty or certification in connection with this Agreement, which 
is materially false, deceptive, incorrect or incomplete; or 

a) If the Contractor fails to perform, to the Lottery's satisfaction, any material requirement of this Agreement or is 
in violation of any material provision of this Agreement, Including, without limitation, the express warranties 
made by the Contractor; or 

b) If the Lottery determines that satisfactory performance of this Agreement is substantially endangered or that a 
default is likely to occur; or · 

c) If the Contractor becomes subject to any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding under federal or state law to the 
extent allowed by applicable state or federal law including bankruptcy laws; or 

d) If the Contractor terminates or suspends its business; or 
e) If the Lottery reasonably believes that the Contractor has become insolvent or unable to pay its obligations as 

they accrue consistent with applicable federal or state law; or 
f) If an officer, director or employee in contact with the Lottery's account is or has been convicted of a felony, any 

gambling related offense whether a misdemeanor or felony, or of any state or federal Racketeer Influenced or 
Corrupt Organization Act (RICO) by a court of competent jurisdiction; or 

g) If a lawsuit is filed against Contractor claiming that the Contractor's processes or materials violate any valid 
patent, trademark, copyright, other intellectual property right or contract, and the Lottery reasonably believes 
that the lawsuit may impair the Contractor's performance of this Agreement; or 

h) If during the course of this Agreement, the Contractor sells instant tickets to others having reason to know that 
the other person intends to sell the tickets illegally in any jurisdiction; or 

i) If during the course of this Agreement any action by the Contractor interferes with the Lottery's relationship 
with ils licensed retailers, or promotes products or distribution systems that compete with aulhorized Lottery 
products or distribution systems. 

If cancellation occurs for any of the causes set forth above, the Lottery shall have no further obligation to the Contractor 
other than payment for services rendered and materials provided prior to cancellation. Payment will be made only upon 
submission of invoices and proper proof of the Contractor's claim. This provision in no way limits the remedies available to 
the Lottery in the event of a termination under this provision. 

9.4 Termination for Lack of Authority or Funding. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, and 
subject to the limitations, conditions, and procedures set forlh below, the Lottery shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement without penalty by giving sixty (60) days written notice if any of the following contingencies occur: 

• If the Lottery's authorization to operate is withdrawn or there is a material alteration in the programs the Lottery 
administers; or 

• If Lottery's duties are substantially modified. 

9.5 Waiver. Any breach or default by either party shall not be waived or released other than by a writing signed by the 
other party. Failure by either party at any time to require performance by the other party or to claim a breach of any 
provision of the Agreement shall not be construed as affecting any subsequent breach or the right to require performance 
with respect thereto or to claim a breach with respect thereto. Only the following persons may execute a waiver of a term 
of this Agreement on behalf of the Lottery: the Lottery CEO, the Executive Vice President, Vice President of Finance or 
the Vice President of Security. 

9.6 Remedies of Contractor. In the event of termination of this Agreement the Contractor shall be paid for services 
completed prior to termination upon submission of invoices and proper proof of claim, for services and materials provided 
to the Lottery prior to cancellation and for reasonable industrial costs of work-in-progress. 

6 



9.7 No Release of Obligation. The expiration or termination of this Agreement for any cause shall not release either 
party from: 

a) Any obligations and duties remaining under any order accepted by the Contractor prior to such expiration or 
termination; 

b) Any liability which at the time of expiration or termination has already accrued to the other party, or, which 
thereafter may accrue in respect to any event prior to expiration or termination; or 

c) Any liability from any obligation that survives expiration or termination. 

SECTION 10. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES. 

The Lottery and the Contractor agree that it would be extremely impractical and difficult to determine actual damages 
which the Lottery will sustain in the event of a breach by the Contractor. The Lottery and the Contractor further agree that 
the goods and services to be provided under the Contract are not readily available on the open market and any breach by 
the Contractor will delay and disrupt the Lottery's operations and will result in damages. Therefore, the parties agree that 
the liquidated damages as specified are reasonable and are not to be construed as a penalty. 

In no case shall liquidated damages be measured in terms of potential lost revenue or potential lost net profit to the 
Lottery, unless and to the extent that a court of competent jurisdiction should determine that a liquidated damages 
provision is unenforceable as a matter of law. 

Assessment of liquidated damages shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, such other remedies as may be available to 
the Lottery. Except and to the extent expressly provided herein, the Lottery shall be entitled to recover liquidated damages 
under each and every section applicable to any given breach, occurrence or incident. The failure to impose liquidated 
damages in one Instance does not waive the Lottery's future claims for liquidated damages. 

10.1 Notification of Liquidated Damages. Upon determination that liquidated damages are to be or may be assessed, 
the Lottery shall notify the Contractor of the assessment in writing. There is no time limit in which the Lottery must make 
this notification. The availability of any period of cure will depend on the situation and will be In the sole discretion of the 
Lottery. 

10.2 Delivery of Non-conforming Tickets. 

Condition-
After any test or inspection conducted by the Lottery, no more than 5 percent (5%) of the tickets of any particular game 
may fail to meet the requirements contained in the Working Papers. The Lottery will have the sole right to reject the non
conforming tickets or the entire order containing the non-conforming tickets. If the quantity of non-conforming tickets is 
such that the rejection of the tickets does not interrupt the scheduled sale of the game, the Contractor shall refund any 
purchase price paid for the non-conforming tickets and any related expenses or pay a minimum Isolated pack fee. 

The Contractor will be responsible for all costs and expenses related to the replacement, return or destruction of non
conforming tickets. The risk of loss on non-conforming tickets remains with the Contractor at all times prior to and after 
rejection and does not pass to the Lottery upon initial acceptance by the Lottery. If the quantity of non-conforming tickets 
is such that the game is terminated, interrupted or delayed, and the Contractor's failure to deliver conforming tickets will 
interfere with the Lottery's ability to maximize sales, liquidated damages may be assessed at the option of the Lottery. 

Reasonable Expenses Reimbursement-
The Lottery may require Contractor to pay a minimum of $500 per incident as a non-conforming isolated pack fee. In the 
event of excessive multiple non-conforming isolated packs, the Lottery may require Contractor to pay the actual purchase 
price plus any related expenses. 

Since the damages accruing to the Lottery for lost sales will be difficult or impossible to ascertain, the Lottery may require 
the Contractor to pay as liquidated damages five thousand dollars ($5,000) per calendar day that the Lottery is unable to 
sell tickets of the game as originally scheduled and beginning with the fifteenth (15) calendar day the Lottery may require 
the Contractor to pay liquidated damages of seven thousand-five hundred dollars ($7,500) per calendar day for each day 
that tickets are not sold as scheduled. 

7 



10.3 Over-redemption. 

Condition. 
If over-redemption occurs, the Lottery, at its discretion, may require the Contractor to pay for all prize liabilities Incurred 
that are attributable to over-redemption in addition to any damages with respect to the delivery of nonconforming tickets. If 
over-redemption occurs, the Lottery, at its discretion, may require the Contractor to reimburse the Lottery for all prize 
liabilities incurred which are attributable to over-redemption and to indemnify the Lottery. 

If a game Is interrupted as a result of over-redemption, the Contractor shall take all reasonable steps, including the 
payment of overtime, to ensure that the Lottery obtains replacement tickets in the shortest possible time. The Lottery will 
not be charged for any additional expenses incurred to facilitate the expedited delivery of replacement tickets. 

The Contractor's liability for over-redemption shall extend to all instances of over-redemption including instances 
discovered after the expiration, cancellation or termination of the contract. Over-redemption will be considered a material 
breach of the contract and the Lottery may cancel the contract or seek any other legal or equitable remedy available by the 
contract or authorized by law. 

Reasonable Expenses Reimbursement 
To determine the prize liability attributable to over-redemption a prize consisting of a free ticket in any game shall be 
valued at 60 percent (60%) of the retail sale price of a ticket and a product prize shall be valued at cost to the Lottery. 

If the Lottery interrupts a game due to over-redemption as defined above, the Lottery may require the Contractor to 
reimburse the Lottery for the aggregate of the Lottery's purchase price from the Contractor of any tickets not sold by the 
Lottery due to the interruption of the game and the expenses of the Lottery. 

The Lottery may require the Contractor to reimburse the Lottery's expenses on a proportionate basis which reflects the 
relationship which the number of tickets unsold has to the number of tickets ordered in the game. In determining the 
percentage of tickets sold and unsold, the total, delivered quantity shall be used, unless all deliveries have not yet been 
made, in which case, the ordered quantity shall be used. In either case, the Lottery shall pay only for tickets actually sold 
to the public. 

10.4 Damages for Late Delivery. In the event of a delay in the delivery of tickets, the Lottery may require the Contractor 
to pay liquidated damages of five thousand dollars ($5,000) per calendar day that the Contractor does not fully meet the 
delivery schedule in Working Papers for the first fourteen (14) calendar days during which the schedule is not met. 
Beginning with the fifteenth (15) calendar day following the scheduled delivery date, the Contractor will pay liquidated 
damages of seven thousand-five hundred dollars ($7,500) per calendar day for each day the schedule in the Working 
Papers is not met. Late deliveries will be considered a material breach of the contract and the Lottery may cancel the 
contract or seek any other legal or equitable remedy available by the contract or authorized by law. 

10.5 Payment of Liquidated Damages. Liquidated damages will be due within thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of 
notice from the Lottery that the damages have been incurred by the Contractor unless otherwise agreed to by the Lottery. 
If the required payment is not received by the Lottery within this time frame, the Lottery may withhold sums due to the 
contractor under this or any other agreement and if sufficient funds are unavailable to the Lottery to satisfy the amount 
owed, the Lottery may call the required performance bond to satisfy the liquidated damages amount. 

10.6 Remedies. The remedies provided throughout this Agreement including, without limitation, the remedies associated 
with the receipt of non-conforming tickets, late delivery and over-redemption, are not intended to be exclusive and do not 
prevent either party from seeking any other legal or equitable remedy provided by applicable law or this Agreement. 

11. FORCE MAJEURE. 

A force majeure occurrence is an event or effect that cannot be reasonably anticipated, prevented or controlled and 
without the fault or negligence of the non-performing party. As herein used, force majeure may include, but is not limited to 
fire, explosion, Act of God, strike or labor disturbance, rationing, war, terrorism, act of any governmental authority or 
agency, civil disturbance, governmental interference, or any other cause which is beyond the control of the party affected, 
and which, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, said party is unable to prevent or to predict or through advance 

8 



planning avoid. Except as otheiWise provided herein, neither the Contractor nor the Lottery shall be liable to the other for 
any delay in, or failure of performance of, any covenant contained herein nor shall any such delay or failure of performance 
constitute default hereunder, to the extent that such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. The existence of such 
causes of delay or failure shall extend the schedule for performance to such extent as may be necessary to complete 
performance in the exercise of reasonable diligence after the causes of delay or failure have been removed. 

Any such delay in or failure of performance shall not in and of itself give rise to any liability for damages; however, the 
Lottery may elect to terminate the Contract for cause should its continuing operations, in its sole judgment, be materially 
threatened or harmed by reason of extended delay or failure of performance. During ahy such period, the Contractor shall 
continue to be responsible for all costs and expenses related to alternative performance. The Contractor shall not be 
relieved of its responsibility for any obligation being performed by a subcontractor or supplier of services unless the 
subcontractor or supplier is prevented from timely performance by a force majeure as described here. 
The party asserting force majeure must provide the other party with reasonable information substantiating the basis for 
such assertion. Force majeure does not include financial difficulties of the Contractor or any parent, subsidiary, affiliated 
or associated company of the Contractor or claims or court orders which restrict the Contractor's ability to deliver the 
goods or services contemplated by this Agreement. 

If a force majeure delays or prevents the Contractor's performance, the Contractor shall immediately commence to use its 
best efforts to directly provide alternate and to the extent possible, comparable performance. Comparability of 
performance and the possibility of comparable performance shall be reasonably determined solely by the Lottery. Any 
such delay in or failure of performance shall not in and of itself give rise to any liability for damages; however, the Lottery 
may elect to terminate the Contract for cause should its continuing operations, in its sole judgment, be materially 
threatened or harmed by reason of extended delay or failure of performance. 

During any such period, the Contractor shall continue to be responsible for all costs and expenses related to alternative 
performance. During a period of non-performance due to force majeure, payments from the Lottery to the Contractor will 
be suspended. 

Neither the Contractor nor the Lottery shall be liable to the other for any delay or failure of performance of this Agreement 
and no delay or failure of performance shall constitute a default or give rise to any liability for damages If and only to the 
extent that, such delay or failure is caused by a force majeure. 

SECTION 12. INSURANCE. 

12.1 Coverage Requirements. The Contractor shall maintain in effect, with insurance companies of recognized 
responsibility, at its own expense, insurance covering its work during the entire term of this Agreement and any extensions 
or renewals. The Contractor's insurance shall, among other things, be occurrence based and shall insure against any loss 
or damage resulting from or related to the Contractor's performance of this Agreement regardless of the date the claim is 
filed or expiration of the policy. All such Insurance policies shall remain in full force and effect for the entire life of this 
Agreement. Certificates of insurance must be furnished to the Lottery no later than thirty (30) days following Contract 
execution, with renewal certificates provided each year thereafter. The Lottery will be named as an additional insured or 
loss payee on all Certificates of Insurance as allowable. 

12.2 Types of Coverage. Unless otheiWise requested by the Lottery, Contractor shall, at its sole cost, cause to be 
issued and maintained during the entire term of the contract the insurance coverage set forth below: 

TYPE OF INSURANCE LIMIT 

General Liability (including contractual liability) and General Aggregate . 
Property Damage written on an occurrence basis 

Errors and Omissions Liability 

Products Completed 
Operations Aggregate 
Personal Injury 
Each Occurrence 

Each occurrence 

AMOUNT 

$2 million 

$1 million 

$1 million 
$1 million 

$1 million 

9 



Automobile Liability, including any auto, hired 
autos and non owned autos 

Excess Liability, Umbrella Form 

Workers Compensation and Employer Liability 

Combined Single Limit 

Each Occurrence 
Aggregate 
As Required by law 

$1 million 

$2 million 
$2 million 

12.3 Coverage for Lottery Property or Personnel on Contractor Premises. The policies must provide coverage for 
damages to the Lottery's property or personnel, which occurs on the Contractor's premises or premises under the control 
of the Contractor or Contractor's subcontractors. 

12.4 Coverage Without Regard to Claim. All insurance policies required by this Agreement, with the exception of the 
Errors and Omissions Policy, shall provide coverage for all claims arising from activities occurring during the term of the 
policy regardless of the date the claim is filed or expiration of the policy. 

12.5 Notice Regarding Cancellation. Certificates of Insurance, which provide that the Lottery will be notified at least 
thirty (30) days prior to cancellation or expiration of the insurance coverage required by this Agreement shall be provided to 
the Lottery within 30 days of contract execution or at a time mutually agreeable to the parties. The receipt of such 
certificates does not constitute approval of the coverage contained on the certificates, and the Contractor remains 
responsible for determining that its insurance coverage meets each and every requirement of this Agreement. The insurer 
shall state in the certificate that no cancellation of the insurance will be made without at least thirty (30) days prior notice to 
the Lottery and that the notice shall be directed to the Lottery in writing. 

12.6 No Limitation of Liability. Acceptance of the insurance certificates by the Lottery shall not act to relieve the Contractor 
of any obligation under this Agreement. All insurance policies and certificates shall be issued only by companies authorized to 
transact business in the State of Iowa. 

12.7 Warranty. The Contractor warrants that it has examined its insurance coverage and determined that Lottery may be 
named as an additional insured or loss payee without creating an adverse effect on the Contractor's coverage. 

12.8 Scope of Errors and Omissions Insurance. In addition to the amounts set out above, the Contractor shall procure 
errors and omissions insurance that indemnifies the Lottery and the State of Iowa for any losses incurred or any other error 
or omission caused by the Contractor, its officers, employees, agents, subcontractors or assigns regardless of negligence. 
This policy shall remain in effect for one year past the expiration of this Agreement and any extensions thereof. 

12.9 Scope of Property Insurance. The Contractor shall maintain property insurance during the term of this Agreement 
which shall insure the Contractor's property at its replacement value and shall provide funds to the Contractor to 
compensate the Contractor for loss of revenues resulting from the destruction of the Contractor's property by fire or other 
hazards. 

12.10 Waiver of Subrogation Rights. The Contractor shall obtain a waiver of any subrogation rights that any of its 
insurance carriers might have against the Iowa Lottery or the State of Iowa. The waiver of subrogation rights shall be 
indicated on the certificates of insurance coverage supplied to the Lottery. 

SECTION 13. BONDS. 

13.1 Bonds and Insurance Qualifications. All required bonds and insurance must be issued by companies which are 
rated A- (Excellent) or higher by A.M. Best Company. All such companies must be approved by the Lottery and have a 
record of successful continuous operation, and be licensed, admitted, and authorized to do business in the State of Iowa, 
except for the Contractor's errors and omissions insurance policy. Required bonds and coverage must be put into effect 
as of the effective date of the Agreement and must remain in effect throughout the term of the Agreement, as determined 
by the Lottery. The Contractor must submit certificates of insurance and copies of each required bond, and any renewals 

10 



thereof, to the Lottery. The insurance policies must provide thirty (30) days advance written notice of cancellation, 
termination or failure to renew any policy. 

13.2 Performance Bond. The Contractor shall provide to the Lottery, a performance bond, irrevocable Letter of Credit, or 
other form of security acceptable to the Lottery in the amount of two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) during the 
term of the Agreement. The bond shall be provided to the Lottery within ten (10) business days of execution of the 
Agreement. The performance bond shall bind the Contractor to fully and faithfully perform its obligations under the 
Agreement, and provide payment to the Lottery if the Contractor defaults in the performance of the Agreement or has 
caused or incurred any uncompensated liquidated damages. 

The performance bond may be used to satisfy liquidated damages payments due the Lottery that have not been received 
within thirty (30) calendar days after written notice of liquidated damage occurrence has been given to the Contractor by 
the Lottery. 

Other forms of security may be acceptable but are subject to the Lottery's discretion and approval. Failure to post an 
additional bond or security within seven (7) business days after notice that proposed security Is Inadequate, shall be 
grounds for immediate termination of the Agreement. 

The Contractor shall pay the cost of the bond. In the event that the Contractor or any subcontractor or any officer, director, 
employee or agent of the Contractor or any subcontractor or any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Contractor or 
subcontractor fails to fully and faithfully perform a material requirement of this Contract, including without limitation the 
Contractor's obligation to indemnify the Lottery and pay damages to the Lottery, the Lottery may claim against the bond in 
the amount of any damages as reasonably determined by the Lottery. The bond may be renewable annually. Neither non
renewal by the Surety, nor failure or Inability of the Contractor to file a replacement bond in the event the Surety exercises 
its right to not renew this bond, shall itself constitute a loss to the Obligee recoverable under this bond or any extension 
thereof. The bond shall be in a form customarily used in the lottery industry and shall be written by a Surety authorized to 
do business in Iowa and that is reasonably acceptable to the Lottery. The bond shall be in effect at all times during the 
term of the Agreement and any extensions or renewals thereof and for ninety (90) days following the conclusion of the 
Agreement. The Contractor warrants that it will maintain the required performance bond coverage as described herein 
without any lapse in coverage. · 

13.3 Letter of Credit as Performance Security. 
(a) The Lottery will allow an irrevocable Letter of Credit as performance security to be provided. The Contractor shall 
maintain an irrevocable Letter of Credit, in the amount of USD $250,000.00 with payment In favor of the Lottery as 
provided herein. Any irrevocable Letter of Credit submitted must be in the form and Include language substantially similar 
to the language provided as Appendix H of the RFP. The irrevocable Letter of Credit Includes any amendments, additions, 
or replacement letters (collectively referred to as "Letter of Credit") and shall be issued by a financial institution that is well 
capitalized pursuant to Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or National Credit Union Administration (NCUA) 
guidelines, that is FDIC or NCUA insured, that is registered to do business in the State of Iowa, and that has a physical 
presence in Iowa ("Issuing Bank"). If at any time the Issuing Bank fails to satisfy these requirements for any reason, 
Contractor shall obtain a substituted irrevocable Letter of Credit from another institution. Contractor shall pay the cost of 
maintaining the irrevocable Letter of Credit. 
{b) Deliverv and Duration. The Contractor shall deliver the irrevocable Letter of Credit, original in form, to the Lottery before 
performing any services pursuant to the Contract, and in all cases no later than fifteen (15) calendar days following final 
execution of this Agreement. The irrevocable Letter of Credit shall be in place for the term of this Agreement and any 
extensions or renewals thereof. A lapse of the irrevocable Letter of Credit will be a material breach of the Agreement. 
(c) Nonrenewal of Letter of Credit. In the event the Lottery receives a Notice of Non-Renewal from the Issuing Bank, the 
Contractor must provide a substituted irrevocable Letter of Credit for the next contract year no later than sixty (60) 
calendar days prior to the expiration of the Letter of Credit then in effect. Any substituted Irrevocable Letter of Credit 
submitted must be in the form and include language substantially similar to the language provided as Appendix H to the 
RFP. 
(d) Rights to Draw on the Letter of Credit. The Lottery shall have the right to draw upon the Letter of Credit in one or more 
drawings for either a portion or the full amount upon occurrence of any of the following events: (i) the Agreement has been 
terminated by the Lottery for cause; (ii) the Contractor is in default under the terms of the Agreement and any notice period 
provided in a notice of default has expired; or (iii) the Contractor is in default under the terms of the Agreement and the 
issuance of a notice of the default is barred or stayed by law; or (iv) the Contractor falls to make payments due to the 

11 



Lottery that have not been received within thirty (30) calendar days after written notice of liquidated damage occurrence 
has been provided to the Contractor by the Lottery. The Lottery may draw upon the Letter of Credit as often as any of the 
foregoing events occur up to the full amount of the Letter of Credit. 
(e) Amendment. Contractor shall promptly cause the Letter of Credit to be amended if the Lottery reasonably requests an 
amendment, such as to change the address for notices. If the Letter of Credit is lost, stolen, or damaged, Contractor shall 
ccoperate with Lottery to replace such Letter of Credit. 

13.4 Fidelity Coverage. The Contractor shall evidence fidelity coverage through a certificate of insurance for Employee 
Dishonesty coverage in the amount of two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) to the Lottery within ten (10) days of 
execution of the Agreement. Subject to the Lottery making a valid claim, the ccverage shall cover any loss or damage to 
the Lottery due to any fraudulent or dishonest act on the part of the Contractor's officers and employees. Such an event, 
in the sole discretion of the Lottery, could be grounds for termination of the Agreement, whether or not the losses or 
damages arising as a result of the act or event are paid under the fidelity bond or insurance. If a subcontractor is not 
covered by the Contractor's policy the Contractor must ensure the subcontractors have their own coverage. 

The Contractor shall pay the cost of the coverage. The coverage shall provide funds to the Lottery in the event that the 
Contractor or Lottery suffers any liability, loss, damage, or expense as a result of any fraudulent or dishonest act or 
omission of the Contractor or any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Contractor, which occurs during the term of the 
bond regardless of the date the act or omission is discovered, or a claim is made. The coverage shall be in an Employee 
Dishonesty form customarily used in the lottery Industry, and shall be written by an insurance company authorized to do 
business in Iowa and that is acceptable by the Lottery. This coverage shall be in effect at all times during the term of the 
Agreement and any extensions or renewals thereof and for one (1) year following the conclusion of the Agreement. The 
Contractor warrants that it will maintain the required fidelity coverage as described herein without any lapse in coverage. 

13.5 Provision of Bonds. Failure on the part of the Contractor to furnish such bonds, or other proof of bond ccverage 
acceptable to the Lottery within ten (1 0) days of contract execution, or to maintain the bonds in full force and effect during 
the term of the Agreement and any extension or renewal thereof, shall be a material breach of the Agreement and shall be 
considered cause for the Lottery to declare the Contractor in default under this Agreement. The Lottery's receipt of such 
bonds or other proof of coverage does not ccnstitute approval of the bonds' coverage nor do the bonds relieve the 
Contractor from the faithful and honest performance of the Agreement or relieve the Contractor of any losses greater than 
the bond amount. 

SECTION 14. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY. 

14.1 Works Made for Hire. All concepts, work and work product or any other idea or concept that would be considered 
intellectual property created by the Contractor or its employees, agents or contractors exclusively for the Lottery 
(collectively Works) shall be subject to the direction and creative control of the Lottery. The Works shall be the sole 
property of the Lottery. Patents owned by the Contractor, which were developed by the Contractor for its general clientele, 
and licensed properties as described in Schedule C, are not considered to be the sole property of the Lottery. 

As between the Contractor and the Lottery, the Lottery shall be deemed to be the sole author of the Works as the author of 
a "work made for hire," and shall be the owner of the Works and the owner of all rights, title and interest in such materials 
including, but not limited to, all copyrights. 

As the owner of the Works, the Lottery may adapt, change or edit or use these materials in combination with the works of 
others and may publish the Works in any medium throughout the world whether now known or later devised including but 
not limited to any digital or optical medium. 

In the event ownership of a Work cannot be transferred to the Lottery, the Contractor hereby grants to the Lottery, to the 
extent allowed by law, an irrevocable, non-exclusive, royalty free, perpetual license to all intellectual property rights 
embodied in and by such Work. 

14.2 Lottery Trademarks, Service Marks, and Trade Names. Lottery trademarks, including game names, trade names 
and service marks used on materials produced pursuant to this Agreement shall remain the sole property of the Lottery. 
The Contractor shall not use these marks or names on products sold to any person or entity other than the Lottery. The 

12 



Lottery's marks and specifications concerning the marks shall be provided to the Contractor by the Lottery. Lottery marks 
and names shall be reproduced exactly as specified by the Lottery and only in the quantity specified. 

14.3 Purchase of Proprietary Rights Held by Others. The Contractor shall obtain releases, licenses, permits and all 
other authorizations to use materials in which third parties have any rights or interests If the materials will be used In Works 
furnished to the Lottery. The Contractor shall ensure that the Lottery's use of the Works with Contractor participation or In 
the manner communicated to the Contractor will not exceed any applicable limitations. The costs associated with the 
purchase of any proprietary rights not Included In this Agreement shall be subject to the prior written agreement of the 
parties. 

14.4 Right to Use Intellectual Property. 
Right to Use Intellectual Property. To the extent the Contractor has the right to do so, and excluding licensed 
properties which are owned by third parties, the furnishing or using of any intellectual property by the ContraCtor in 
completing this Agreement shall confer upon the Lottery the unrestricted, Irrevocable right under the Contractor's 
intellectual property rights, to make, have made, use, sell, license, publish, and/or lease any such intellectual 
property without payment of additional consideration by Lottery; provided however, that this subsection shall not 
apply to intellectual property which the Contractor can document it or an affiliate has created or developed for 
Contractor's general clientele, and which was not created or developed specifically for the Lottery. 

Right to Use Intellectual Property Created or Developed for Contractor's General Clientele. To the extent 
Contractor has the right to do so, and excluding licensed properties as described in Schedule C, the furnishing or 
using of any intellectual property created or developed by Contractor or an affiliate of Contractor for Contractor's 
general clientele, and which has not been created or developed specifically for the Lottery, shall confer upon the 
Lottery the unrestricted right, irrevocable so long as tickets produced pursuant hereto are being sold, to use such 
intellectual property without payment of additional consideration by Lottery. 

14.5 Warranty Regarding Intellectual Property Rights. The Contractor will warrant that, in the performance of this 
Agreement, Contractor's work product and the information, data, designs, processes, Inventions, techniques, devices, and 
other such Intellectual property furnished, used, or relied upon by Contractor will not infringe any copyright, patent, 
trademark, trade dress or other intellectual property right of Contractor or others; provided, however, that the Contractor 
need provide no such warranty for information, data, designs, processes, inventions, techniques, devices, and other such 
intellectual property furnished to Contractor by the Lottery. 

14.6 Trademark Searches. The Contractor, at Contractor's expense, shall be required to obtain a state and a federal 
trademark search or trade name search from competent legal counsel for the name selected for each game before 
approval of final Working Papers for each game and related promotion. A written opinion from competent trademark 
counsel must be submitted to the Lottery indicating that it is appropriate for the Lottery to use the name selected. 

An electronic version of the written opinion from competent trademark counsel must be submitted to the Lottery prior to the 
Lottery's signature of executed Working Papers for every game. Within thirty (30) calendar days of Contractor's receipt of 
signed executed paper, the Contractor must send the original version of the trademark letter via a delivery service which 
requires a signature as proof of delivery to the Lottery. 

14.7 Infringement of Trademarks, Patents, Copyrights and Other Proprietary Rights. 
a) The Contractor represents and warrants that all the concepts and materials produced, or provided to the 
Lottery pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, including the copy and artwork submitted to the Lottery in the 
Working Papers, shall be wholly original with the Contractor or that the Contractor has secured all applicable 
interests, rights, licenses, permits, or other intellectual property rights in such concepts and materials. 

b) The Contractor represents and warrants that the concepts and materials and the Lottery's use of the materials 
and the exercise by the Lottery of the rights granted by this Agreement shall not infringe upon any other work, 
other than material provided by the Lottery to the Contractor to be used as a basis for such materials, or violate the 
rights of publicity or privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person, firm or corporation and that the 
materials will not infringe upon the copyright, trademark, trade name, literary, dramatic, statutory, common law or 
any other rights of any person, firm or corporation or other entity. 

13 



c) The Contractor represents and warrants that, in the performance of this Agreement, the Contractor's work 
product and the information, data, designs, processes, inventions, techniques, devices, and other such Intellectual 
property furnished, used, or relied upon by the Contractor will not infringe any copyright, patent, trademark, trade 
dress or other intellectual property right of the Contractor or others. 

d) The Contractor also represents and warrants that the design and method of manufacture of materials provided 
pursuant to this Agreement shall not infringe on any patent. 

14.8 Product Information Supplied by Lottery. The Lottery shall be responsible for the accuracy and completeness of 
the information it supplies to the Contractor concerning the games it is seeking from Contractor. 

14.9 Approval of Materials by Contractor. The Lottery's approval of materials submitted by the Contractor shall not be 
construed as relieving the Contractor of any of its responsibilities under this Agreement. 

14.10 Possession of Copies. Upon request, the Contractor shall deliver to the Lottery and the Lottery may retain all 
copies of all materials produced as a result of or in accordance with this Agreement, subject to any obligations of 
confidentiality or notices associated with materials clearly so identified. 

SECTION 15. INDEMNIFICATION. 

The Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify and hold the State of Iowa and the Lottery, its employees, agents, board 
members, appointed officials and elected officials, harmless from any and all liabilities, damages, loss, claims, suits or 
actions, settlements, judgments, costs and expenses, including reasonable value of time for the Attorney General's Office, 
and the costs and expens!3s and attorney fees of other counsel required to defend the Lottery, related to or arising from: 

a) Any claim, demand, action, citation or legal proceeding arising out of or resulting from (i) the product provided 
or (il) performance of the work, duties, responsibilities, actions or omissions of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors under this Agreement; 
b) Any negligent acts or omissions of Contractor, its officers, employees, agents, board members, contractors, 
subcontractors, or trademark counsel employed by Contractor in the performance of this Agreement; or 
c) Any failure by the Contractor to comply with all local, state and federal laws and regulations; or, 
d) Any failure by the Contractor to make all reports, payments and withholdlngs required by Federal and State law 
with respect to social security, employee Income and other taxes, fees or costs required by the Contractor to 
conduct business in the State of Iowa; or, 
e) Any event in which a third-party asserts that the Lottery's use of a product, design, and use of ticket product 
provided by Contractor to the Lottery is a violation of such party's rights; provided, however, that Contractor need 
provide no such indemnification for claims which relate solely to information, data, designs, processes, Inventions, 
techniques, devices and other such intellectual property furnished to Contractor by the Lottery. 
f) Any claim, demand, action, citation or legal proceeding arising out of or resulting from a breach by the 
Contractor of any representation or warranty made by the Contractor in the Agreement; 
g) Any claim, demand, action, citation or legal proceeding arising out of or related to occurrences that the 
Contractor is required to insure against as provided for in this Agreement; 
h) Any claim, demand, action, citation or legal proceeding arising out of or resulting from the death or bodily injury 
of any person, or the damage, loss or destruction of any real or tangible personal property, In connection with the 
performance of services by the Contractor, by any of its subcontractors, by anyone directly or indirectly employed 
by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable; provided, however, that this 
indemnification obligation shall not apply to the extent, if any, that such death, bodily injury or property damage is 
caused solely by the negligence or reckless or intentional wrongful conduct of the Lottery; 
i) Any claim, demand, action, citation or legal proceeding which results from an act or omission of the Contractor 
or any of its subcontractors in its or their capacity as an employer of a person. 

The Contractor's duty to indemnify shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement and shall apply to all acts 
taken in the performance of this Agreement regardless of the date any potential claim is made or discovered by the 
Lottery. 

14 



SECTION 16. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION. 

16.1 All Confidential Information provided shall be clearly marked as Confidential Information by the party providing the 
information at the time of disclosure to the other party. The Contractor shall limit such identification to information it 
reasonably believes Is entitled to confidential treatment pursuant to the public records provisions of Iowa law. Each party 
shall hold the Confidential Information of the other in strictest confidence and, except as previously authorized in writing by 
the other party, (i) shall use the Confidential Information only in furtherance of this Agreement, (li) shall not copy 
Confidential Information and (iii) shall not disclose the Confidential Information to any person or entity except those 
employees of the party to whom the information has been disclosed who have a need to know the Confidential Information 
for purposes contemplated by this Agreement. The parties' obligations under this provision do not apply to Information 
which: is publicly available or in the public domain when provided; is or becomes publicly available or public domain 
information through no fault of the recipient of the information subsequent to the time It was provided; is rightfully 
communicated to the recipient of the Information by another party; Is independently developed by the recipient; or is 
disclosed pursuant to law or the order of a court or government authority. The parties' obligations under this provision 
shall survive the conclusion of this Agreement and shall be perpetual. 

16.2 No private or confidential data collected, maintained, or used in the course of performance of the Agreement shall be 
disseminated except as authorized by statute, either during the period of the Agreement or thereafter. Any data supplied 
to Contractor by the Lottery shall be considered the property of the Lottery. 

16.3 Contractor shall use its best efforts to ensure that the details of the games planned by the Lottery are not disclosed 
to persons or organizations other than the personnel, agents, and subcontractors of Contractor whose assistance is 
necessary for the production of tickets and related materials. In the event that Contractor receives a request for 
information or records concerning the Lottery or its advertising plans, Contractor shall immediately forward the request to 
the Lottery. 

16.4 In the event Contractor receives a request from a third party (other than a subcontractor working on Contractor's 
Lottery account) for information supplied to Contractor by the Lottery, Contractor shall immediately notify the Lottery of the 
request by telephone and email. Contractor shall not release the Information subject to the request without the Lottery's 
permission or pursuant to a court order or as may be required by law. 

16.5 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the event a public records request Is made to the Lottery pursuant 
to Iowa Code chapter 22 regarding Confidential Information, the Lottery shall notify Contractor as soon as possible of the 
request by telephone and email. The Lottery may respond to the request for information not sooner than 7 days thereafter 
with a release of the requested Information unless Contractor has obtained an injunction preventing release of the 
requested information. 

SECTION 17. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS. 

17.1 Independent Contractor. The status of the Contractor shall be that of an independent contractor. The Contractor, 
its employees, agents and subcontractor performing under this Agreement are not employees or agents of the Lottery. 

The Lottery shall not provide the Contractor with office space, support staff, equipment, tools, or supervision beyond the 
terms of this Agreement. 

Neither the Contractor nor its employees, agents and subcontractors are eligible for any State employee benefits, including 
but not limited to, retirement benefits, insurance coverage or the like. 

Neither the Contractor nor its employees shall be considered employees of the Lottery or the State of Iowa for federal or 
state tax purposes. The Lottery shall not withhold taxes on behalf of the Contractor (unless required by law). The 
Contractor shall be responsible for payment of all taxes in connection with any income earned from this Agreement. 

Nothing in this Contract shall be construed as creating or constituting the relationship of a partnership, joint venture, (or 
other association of any kind or agent/principal relationship) between the parties hereto. No party, unless otherwise 
specifically provided for herein, has the authority to enter into any Contract or create an obligation or liability on behalf of, in 
the name of, or binding upon another party to this Agreement. 

15 



17.2 Prime Contractor Responsibilities. The Contractor shall assume all responsibility for the performance of all 
required services, whether or not subcontractors are involved. The Lottery shall consider the Contractor to be the sole 
point of contact with regard to all matters related to this Agreement and is not required to initiate or maintain contact with 
any subcontractor. 

17.3 News Releases. News releases pertaining to the Agreement or the services provided thereunder shall not be made 
without prior written Lottery approval, and then only In accordance with the explicit written instructions from the Lottery. 

17.4 Advertising. The Contractor agrees not to use the Lottery name, logos, images without prior written approval by the 
Lottery. 

17.5 Endorsements. The Contractor will not use any oral or written communication made by any Lottery employee in a 
manner which could be characterized as an endorsement of or advertisement for the Contractor or the Contractor's 
product without the Lottery's prior written consent. 

17.6 Ticket Purchase Restrictions. As stated in Iowa Code Chapter 998.31 (2)(h), "No ticket or share Issued by the 
authority shall be purchased by and no prize shall be paid to any officer, employee, agent, or subcontractor of any vendor 
or to any spouse, child, brother, sister, or parent residing as a member of the same household in the principal place of 
residence of any such person if such officer, employee, agent, or subcontractor has access to confidential information 
which may compromise the Integrity of the Lottery." The Contractor shall ensure that this requirement is made known to 
each affected individual. 

To ensure compliance with this requirement, the Contractor and its subcontractors shall provide a list of such individuals 
within thirty (30) days of the award of the contract. The list shall include name, address, date of birth, and social security 
number or other unique personal identification number (Canadian Social Insurance Number), and shall be updated to 
maintain current information. This requirement applies throughout the duration of the Contract. 

17.7 Additional Security Requirements. Refer to Schedule A, section 3.4 for additional security requirements as part 
of this Contract. 

17.8 Background Investigations. The Lottery may initiate investigations into the backgrounds of any officers, principals, 
investors, owners, subcontractors, employees, or any other associates of the Contractor it deems appropriate. Upon 
execution of the contract, the persons listed in Schedule D have completed the required background investigation 
documents. If any irregularities are discovered in any background investigation, the Lottery may require the Contractor to 
provide quarterly reports regarding how the Contractor is addressing the irregularities. Throughout the term of this 
Agreement the Contractor will notify the Lottery of any changes in the identity of persons or entities listed on Schedule D. 
Background investigations required by the Lottery may include fingerprint identification by the Iowa Division of Criminal 
Investigation, the Federal Bureau of Investigation or the appropriate non-U.S. equivalent. The Contractor must consent to 
cooperate with such investigations, and to instruct its employees to cooperate. The Lottery reserves the right to require the 
removal of any and all employees of the Contractor from any responsibility in the performance of services as provided for 
under this Contract, based upon the results of background checks, or if the Lottery finds that any such employee is not 
performing in the best interest of the Lottery. The Lottery may terminate any resulting Contract based upon adverse 
results of these background checks if the Lottery determines that its integrity, security, or goodwill may be in jeopardy. 

The Contractor shall bear all costs and expenses associated with background investigations. The ability to conduct such 
investigations Is a continuing right of the Lottery throughout the term of the Contract. 

Upon execution of the contract, the Contractor shall submit and allow, at a minimum, the following security elements: 
· a) A list of the names, addresses, dates of birth, and Social Security numbers or other unique personal 

identification number (Canadian Social insurance Number) of all employees and subcontractors assigned to and 
associated with the Contract. 
b) Notification in writing to the Lottery within ten ( 1 0) business days if a person, group of persons, partnership, 
corporation, associate group of investors, limited liability company or other legal entity acquires directly or indirectly 
the beneficial ownership in the amount of five percent (5%) or more of the ownership interest in, or any class of 

16 



equity securities of, the Contractor or the parent company of the Contractor. Background investigation and 
licensing may be required for these new owners and if the investigations are unsatisfactory, the Lottery may, at its 
option, terminate the Contract, after providing thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor. 
c) Unfettered and unannounced access, inspection and evaluation privileges for all phases of performance and for 
all facilities and premises used by the Contractor in fulfillment of the Contract and any extension thereof. 

17.9 Security Violation Reporting. The Contractor shall immediately report via telephone and In writing to the Lottery's 
Vice President of Security, any security procedural violation, system compromise, violation of law (e.g., theft), or 
disappearance of any paper stock, data media, cylinders, tickets, waste, film, printing plates, software or material used or 
to be used In the performance of this Contract. 

17.10 Security Information (Disclosure) Updates. The Contractor shall report any change in, addition to, or deletion 
from, the security information disclosed to the Lottery. The report shall be in the form of a letter addressed to the Lottery 
and shall be delivered to the Lottery's Vice President of Security within thirty (30) days of the effective date of the change, 
addition, or deletion. In particular the Contractor must report the involvement of any of the Contractor's employees, 
owners, or agents in any known criminal arrest (exclusive of minor traffic violations) or investigation. 

17.11 Contractor Ethics and Integrity. The Contractor is obligated to meet high standards for ethics and Integrity under 
this Contract. The Contractor and employees: 

a) Shall accept no pay, remuneration, or gratuity of any value for performance on or information derived from this 
project from any party other than the Lottery as described in this Contract, or from any party under contract to the 
Lottery or seeking to contract with the Lottery with respect to this project. 
b) Shall comply with Iowa Code chapter 688, which contains laws which restrict gifts which may be given or 
received by state employees and requires certain individuals to disclose information concerning their activities with 
state government. The Contractor is responsible for determining the applicability of the chapter to their activities 
and for complying with those requirements. In addition, Iowa Code 722.1 provides that It is a felony offense to 
bribe a public official. 
c) Shall not disclose any business sensitive or confidential information gained by virtue of the Contract to any 
party without the explicit written consent of the Lottery. 
d) Shall take no action in the performance of the Contract to create an unfair, unethical, or illegal competitive 
advantage for itself or others. 
e) Shall not have any financial or personal interests relating to this project (other than the Contract itself) without 
the explicit written consent of the Lottery. 

For violation of the above provisions, the Lottery may terminate this Contract, receive restitution from, debar, or take any 
other appropriate actions against the Contractor. 

17.12 Compliance with Association Standards. All services, products, systems, and procedures to be employed by the 
Contractor must comply with the game security and operational standards current at the time of Contract performance as 
issued by any multi-jurisdictional association of which the Lottery is a member or in the event the Lottery becomes a 
member. The Lottery is currently a member of NASPL, WLA and MUSL. 

17.13 Audit and Accounting Requirements. As a continuing requirement of this Contract, the Contractor must meet 
these specific auditing and accounting obligations: 

a) The Contractor shall have a complete corporate financial audit conducted annually, at its own expense. The 
audit must follow generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS), or the appropriate non-U.S. equivalent. A copy of 
the Contractors certified financial statements shall be provided to the Lottery within 180 days after the close of the 
Contractors fiscal year. 
b) The Contractor shall provide the Lottery with Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 10-K and 10-0 
reports (or the appropriate non-U.S. equivalent) as they are issued, together with any other reports required 
pursuant to Section 13 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, through the duration of the 
contract. 
c) The Contractor is required to maintain its books, records and all other information pertaining to the Conlract In 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) (or the appropriate non-U.S. equivalent) and 
such other procedures specified by the Lottery. These records shall be available to the Lottery, its internal auditors 

17 



or external auditors (and other designees) at all times during the contract period and for five (5) years from the 
contract expiration date or final payment on the contract, whichever Is later. 

SECTION 18. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION. 

18.1 Assignment and Delegation. The Contractor shall not assign, transfer, convey, or otherwise dispose of this 
Contract, its duties under this Contract, or any rights, title, or interest in this Contract to any other person, corporation, or 
other entity without the prior written approval of the Lottery and the Lottery Board as required. For purposes of this section 
a transfer or conveyance includes the sale or gift of a five (5) per-cent equity interest in the Contractor. 

If the Contractor experiences a "material (substantial) change in its ownership or financial condition" during the term of the 
Contract, the Lottery must be notified in writing at the lime the change occurs or is identified. "Material change in 
ownership" is defined as any merger, acquisition, assignment or change in parties who comprise ownership greater than 
five (5) percent of the Contractor or the parent company of the Contractor. "Material change in financial condition" is 
defined as any event which, following Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), would require a disclosure in the 
annual report of a publicly traded United Slates corporation. The Lottery must be notified in writing of such event. Refer to 
Section 17.8 for further information regarding background investigations. 

18.2 Records Retention and Access. The Contractor shall maintain books, records, and documents which sufficiently 
and properly document and calculate all charges billed to the Lottery throughout the term of this Contract for a period of at 
least three (3) years following the date of final payment, cancellation, expiration or completion of any required audit, 
whichever is later. 

The Contractor shall retain and maintain all ticket validation, financial, and accounting records, and evidence pertaining to 
this Agreement and to each game offered under the Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles and sound business practice and any other procedures reasonably established by the Lottery. 

The Contractor shall permit the Auditor of the State of Iowa or any authorized representative of the State or any authorized 
representative of the United States government, to access and examine, audit, excerpt and transcribe any directly 
pertinent validation records, financial records, accounting records, books, documents, papers, electronic or optically stored 
and created records or other records of the Contractor relating to or created as a result of the performance of this 
Agreement. These records shall be made available to the Lottery, its designees, the Auditor, or an authorized 
representative of the Slate or any authorized representative of the United States government at reasonable limes and at 
no cost to the Lottery during the term of this Agreement and for a period of (3) years following the termination, cancellation 
or expiration of this Agreement. 

18.3 Choice of Law and Forum. The laws of the State of Iowa shall govern and determine all matters arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement without regard to the choice of law provisions of Iowa law. 

In the event any proceeding of a quasi-judicial or judicial nature is commenced in connection with this Agreement, the 
proceeding shall be brought in Des Moines, Iowa, in Polk County District Court for the State of Iowa, if jurisdiction is 
proper. If however jurisdiction is not proper in the Iowa District Court, Polk County, but is proper only in a United States 
District·Court, the matter shall be commenced in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Iowa, Central 
Division. 

This provision shall not be construed as waiving any immunity to suit or liability, in state or federal court, which may be 
available to the Lottery or the State of Iowa. 

18.4 Compliance with the Law and Regulations. The Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and 
local laws, rules, ordinances, regulations and orders when performing within the scope of this Agreement, including without 
limitation, all laws applicable to the prevention of discrimination in employment, the administrative rules of the Iowa 
Department of Management or the Iowa Civil Rights Commission which pertain to equal employment opportunity and 
affirmative action, laws relating to prevailing wages, occupational safety and health standards, prevention of discrimination 
in employment, payment of taxes, gift laws, lobbying laws, laws dealing with the manufacture and transportation of 
gambling related materials and laws relating to the use of targeted small businesses as subcontractors or suppliers. 

18 



The Contractor declares that it has complied with all federal, state and local laws regarding business permits and licenses 
that may be required to carry out the work to be performed under this Agreement. 

The Lottery may consider the failure of the Contractor to comply with any law or regulation as a material breach of this 
Agreement.· In addition, the Contractor may be declared ineligible for future State contracts or be subjected to other 
sanctions for failure to comply with this section. 

18.5 Covenant Against Contingent Fees. The Contractor warrants that it has not employed or retained any company or 
person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for the Contractor, to solicit or secure this Agreement, and that It 
has not paid or agreed to pay any person or entity, other than a bona fide employee working solely for the Contractor, any 
fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift, or other consideration on a basis that is contingent upon the award of 
this contract. 

18.6 Cooperation of the Parties. The Contractor and the Lottery agree to cooperate fully, to work in good faith and 
mutually to assist each other in the performance of the Agreement. In this connection, the parties will meet to resolve 
problems associated with the Agreement. Neither party will unreasonably withhold its approval of any act or request of the 
other to which its approval is necessary or desirable. 

18.7 Amendments. This Agreement may be amended in writing from time to time by mutual consent of the parties. All 
amendments to this Agreement must be fully executed by both parties. The only parties authorized to execute 
amendments on behalf of the Lottery are the Lottery CEO, Executive Vice President, Vice President of Finance, or the 
Vice President of Security. 

18.8 Third Party Beneficiaries. There are no third party beneficiaries to this Agreement. This Agreement is Intended 
only to benefit the Lottery and the Contractor. 

18.9 Integration. This Agreement, including all the documents incorporated by reference, represents the entire 
Agreement between the parties and neither party is relying on any representation that may have been made which is not 
included in this Agreement. 

18.10 Headings or Captions. The paragraph headings or captions are for identification purposes only and do not limit or 
construe the contents of the paragraphs. 

18.11 Not a Joint Venture. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as creating or constituting the relationship of a 
partnership, joint venture, (or other association of any kind or agenVprincipal relationship) between the parties hereto. 
Each party shall be deemed an independent contractor contracting for seiVices and acting toward the mutual benents 
expected to be derived here from. No party, unless otherwise specincally provided for herein, has the authority to enter 
into any agreement or create an obligation or liability on behalf of, in the name of, or binding upon another party to this 
Agreement. 

18.12 Supersedes Former Agreements. This Agreement supersedes all prior Agreements between the Lottery and the 
Contractor for the goods and seiVices provided in connection with this Agreement. 

18.13 Notices. 

Any and all notices, designations, consents, offers, acceptances or any other communication provided for herein shall be 
given in writing by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, by receipted hand delivery, by Federal Express, 
courier or other similar and reliable carrier which shall be addressed to each party as set forth as follows provided, 
however, that notice by email may be made where explicitly provided for In this Agreement: 

If to the Iowa Lottery: Iowa Lottery Authority 
Attn.: Larry Loss 
2323 Grand Ave. 
Des Moines, lA 50312 
Email: Lloss@ialottery.com 

19 



If to the Contractor: Pollard Banknote Limited 
Attn.: Doug Pollard 
1499 Buffalo Place 
Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada R3T 1 L? 
Email: 

Each such notice shall be deemed to have been provided: 
o At the time it is actually received; or, 
o Within one day in the case of overnight hand delivery, courier or services such as Federal Express 

with guaranteed next day of delivery; or, 
o Within five days after deposited the U.S. Mail in the case of registered U.S. Mail. 

Copies of such notice to each party shall be provided separately. From time to time, the parties may change the name 
and address of a party designated to receive notice. Such change of the designated person shall be In writing to the other 
party and as provided herein. 

18.14 Exclusive and Non-Exclusive Rights. The Contract will not be exclusive. The Lottery will reserve the right to 
contract with other Contractors for related services during the Contract term. The Contract does not guarantee that the 
Lottery will print any games with Contractor. 

18.15 Right of Inspection. The Contractor shall allow the Lottery, or anyone specified by the Lottery, to inspect its 
facilities at all reasonable times in order to monitor and evaluate performance or to ensure quality under this Agreement 
subject to Contractor's safety, security and nondisclosure policies and procedures as disclosed to the Lottery. The 
Contractor shall secure a similar right of access for the Lottery from each of its subcontractors or agents providing goods 
or services under this Agreement. 

18.16 Survival of Obligations. Certain obligations imposed on the parties by this Agreement continue beyond the 
expiration, cancellation, or termination of this Agreement as necessary to carry out the Intent of the parties. 

Such obligations Include, without limitation, each party's obligations to protect the other's Confidential information, the 
Contractor's obligation to indemnify the Lottery, the Contractor's obligations with respect to over-redemption and non
conforming tickets, the licensing and ownership of intellectual property rights and the Contractor's obligations with respect 
to the retention of records and the maintenance of bonds and insurance. 

18.17 Industry Standards. In the absence of a detailed specification for the performance of any portion of this 
Agreement, the parties agree that the applicable specification shall be the generally accepted industry standard for the 
printing of instant tickets and related services. 

18.18 Cumulative Rights. The various rights, powers, options, elections and remedies of either party, provided In this 
Agreement, shall be construed as cumulative and no one of them is exclusive of the others or exclusive of any rights, 
remedies or priorities allowed either party by law. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as affecting, impairing or 
limiting the equitable or legal remedies to which either party may be entitled as a result of any breach of this Agreement. 

18.19 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or 
unenforceable, the invalid portion shall be severed from this Agreement. Such a determination shall not affect the validity 
or enforceability of any other part or provision of this Agreement. 

18.20 Authorization. Each party to this Agreement represents and warrants to the other that: 
a) It has the right, power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement. 
b) It has taken all requisite action (corporate, statutory, or otherwise) to approve execution, delivery and 
performance of this Agreement and this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation upon itself in 
accordance with its terms. 
c) This Agreement is contingent upon ratification of the Lottery Board pursuant to Iowa Code Chapter 99G. The 
Lottery does not warrant that the Agreement will be ratified by the Lottery Board. 

20 



18.21 Successors In Interest. All the terms, provisions, and conditions of the Agreement shall be binding upon and 
inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors, assigns, and legal representatives. 

18.22 Counterparts. The parties agree that this Agreement has been or may be executed in several counterparts, each 
of which shall be deemed an original and all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument. 

18.23 Additional Provisions. The parties agree that if an Addendum, Exhibit or Schedule is attached hereto by the 
parties and referred to herein, and then the same shall be deemed incorporated herein by reference. 

18.24 Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments. The parties agree that they will, from time to time, execute, 
acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be executed, acknowledged and delivered, such supplements hereto and such 
further instruments as may reasonably be required for carrying out the expressed intention of this Agreement. 

18.25 Obligations of Joint Entitles. If the Contractor is a joint entity, consisting of more than one Individual, partnership, 
corporation or other business organization, all such entities shall be jointly and severally liable for carrying out the activities 
and obligations of this agreement and for any default of such activities and obligations. 

18.26 Material Breaches. The references in this Agreement to specific material breaches of this Agreement shall not be 
construed as implying that other breaches of this Agreement are not material. 

18.27 U.S. Dollars. All references in this Agreement to "dollars" are references to U.S. dollars. 

18.28 Consent to Service of Process. The Contractor appoints CT Corporation as its agent to receive service of 
process and consents to service of process by certified or registered mail addressed to CT Corporation, 500 East Court 
Avenue, Des Moines, Iowa 50309. If for any reason the Contractor's agent for service is unable to act as such or the 
address of the agent changes, the Contractor shall immediately appoint a new agent and provide the Lottery with written 
notice of the change in agent or address. Any change In the appointment of the agent or address will be effective only 
upon actual receipt by the Iowa Lottery. Nothing in this provision will affect the right of the Iowa Lottery to serve process in 
any other manner permitted by law. 

18.28 Authorization to do Business in Iowa. The Contractor shall obtain a certificate of authority to do business in Iowa 
and shall take all necessary steps to ensure that it is authorized to do business in Iowa as Pollard Banknote Limited. 

18.29 Non-Disclosure of the Lottery's Plans. The Contractor shall use its best efforts to ensure that the details of the 
games planned by the Lottery are not disclosed to persons or organizations other than the personnel, agents and 
subcontractors of the Contractor whose assistance is necessary for the production of tickets and related materials. In the 
event \hat the Contractor receives a request for information or records concerning the Lottery or its instant ticket needs, 
the Contractor shall immediately forward the request to the Lottery. 

18.30 Title to Lottery Property. Title to all property furnished by the Lottery to the Contractor to facilitate the 
performance of this Agreement shall remain the sole property of the Lottery. 

18.31 Sales Restrictions. During the term of this Agreement the contractor shall not manufacture or sell lottery tickets to 
any other person or entity selling lottery tickets or lottery ticket "look alikes" within the state of Iowa. 

SECTION 19. EXECUTION. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, in consideration of the mutual covenants set forth above and for other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt, adequacy and legal sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties have 
entered into the above Agreement and have caused their duly authorized representatives to execute this Agreement. 

21 



Iowa Lottery Authority 

By: ------------------------
Name: Larry Loss 
Title: Executive Vice President 

Pollard Banknote Limited 

By: ------------------------
Name: --------------
Title: 

FederaiiD # 98-0665125 

Date: _____ _ 

Date: _____ _ 

22 



SCHEDULE A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

SECTION 1. GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF WORK. The Contractor shall provide the Lottery with instant tickets and 
related materials and services as described in its proposal and in this Schedule A. 

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS. The capitalized terms in the schedules shall have the same meaning as the Agreement 
executed between the Lottery and the Contractor. 

SECTION 3. TICKETS AND SERVICES SPECIFICATIONS 

3.1 TICKET SPECIFICATIONS 

3.1.1 Ticket Construction. Tickets produced shall be printed on 10-point virgin/recyclable or recycled/recyclable white 
card stock; which will not curl, separate, or be easily split. This does not pertain to card stock for dual-layered tickets or 
other optional stock required for special features (i.e. foil) which will be specified in the working papers. The Contractor 
shall use environmentally-friendly products. The Contractor shall apply production methods and quality control to assure 
tickets may be dispensed from automated instant ticket machines. The Contractor shall provide individual tickets within a 
pack that are separated by perforations. Each perforation must be clean cut in a manner which allows easy removal of the 
tickets from each other during the sale process while at the same time not permitting accidental separation during normal 
handling or vending. All tickets produced must properly dispense in Iowa "Take-A-Ticket" and Schafer Systems on
counter and in-counter dispensers as well as instant ticket vending machines. 

3.1.2 Ticket Size. Industry standard game ticket size(s) are 2.4"x4", 4"x4", 4"x6", 4"x8", and 4" x 10". The Lottery 
reserves the right to request tickets in other sizes at prices mutually agreeable to the Lottery and the Contractor. 

3.1.3 Ticket Symbols. Ticket symbols must be printed in black or colored ink on the front of the ticket. Symbols must be 
uniformly positioned and aligned on the tickets unless otherwise specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers. To avoid 
pick out, the symbols must ftoat. The Contractor must advise the Lottery of potential pick out problems associated with the 
positioning or alignment specified in the Working Papers. All symbols must be printed with a computer-controlled imaging 
printer with fonts approved by the Lottery and be sufficiently legible so as to be readily discernible to a person with normal 
vision under normal lighting conditions. The Contractor has a library containing thousands of fonts available for use in the 
printing of tickets. The Lottery shall have full right to use this library of fonts at no additional fee. Contractor shall design 
and provide custom fonts if requested by the Lottery at no additional cost. The Contractor shall be capable of printing 
symbols with dual color or multi-color imaging if specified in the Working Papers by the Lottery. See Schedule B for 
optional feature pricing. 

3.1.4 Legends. Legends may be required in order to facilitate game play and shall be specified in the Working Papers. 

3.1.5 Captions. Captions may be required for each play symbol to provide redundancy for security reasons and to 
prevent consumer disputes. A caption underneath the symbol spells out or abbreviates the symbol in type smaller than the 
symbol itself in a different but recognizable form. The captions that will be used In the game will be specified in the 
Working Papers. 

3.1.6 Ticket Numbering. Lottery tickets produced by Contractor must have a game, pack and ticket number must be 
printed on the back of the ticket, 0.1" above the barcode, in the form of GGG-PPPPPP-TTT where: 

GGG is the 3 digit game number 
PPPPPP is the 6 digit pack number 
TTT is the 3 digit ticket number 

Pack numbers will start at 100001. Pack numbers will be consecutive except for omissions that occur In production. 
Contractor's procedures must ensure that the same pack number Is on all tickets within· a given pack and that no pack 
numbers are duplicated in the game as a whole. 

23 



Each ticket within a pack must have an Individual, consecutive number starting with 000. No omissions are allowed within 
the pack. Contractor's procedures must ensure that individual, consecutive ticket numbers are on each ticket in the pack 
and that there are no breaks In ticket numbering in the pack. 

The front of the ticket must contain the 6 digit pack number and 3 digit ticket number. 

3.1.7 Barcode. A unique barcode representation of the game, pack, ticket and validation data must appear on the back 
of each ticket. The barcode must contain twenty-two (22) digits in the form of GGG-PPPPPP-TTT-VVVVVVVVVV where: 

GGG is the 3 digit game number 
PPPPPP is the 6 digit pack number 
TTT is the 3 digit ticket number 

VVVVVVVVVV is the 8 digit validation number/prize code and a 2 digit check number. 

The bar code will be determined using an algorithm to be provided when the contract is awarded. The barcode the Iowa 
Lottery currently uses is a standard interleaved two of five symbology utilizing standard start and stop characters. Each 
barcode character encodes two decimal digits and measures 0.4" high and 0.175" in length. The barcode with stop and 
start characters measures approximately 2.02" in length. The barcode has a quiet zone at each end measuring a 
minimum of .18" in length. The barcode has lines across its top and bottom. The barcode starts with a narrow bar, 
narrow space, narrow bar, narrow space (start character) and ends with a wide bar, narrow space, narrow bar (stop 
character). The distance from the middle of the barcode to the edge of the ticket is .35". 

The Contractor shall be capable of printing a standard interleaved two of five symbology barcode. The Contractor shall 
also be capable of printing a Data Matrix barcode under the scratch-off material if specified in the Working Papers by the 
Lottery. See Schedule B for optional feature pricing. 

3.1.8 Validation Code. Tickets produced must contain a unique 1 0-digitvalidation code printed in the play area on the 
front of the ticket. The validation code must be covered by opaque scratch-off material and in the form of~ 
where: 

VVVVVVVVVV- is the encrypted 8-digit validation number/prize code and a 2-dlgit check code. The ticket 
numbering will be formulated according to an algorithm to be provided upon contract execution. Three (3) 
consecutive digits of this ten (1 0) digit number will be boxed In an apparently random manner, giving six (6) 
possible positions for the box (the last two (2) digits cannot be boxed) as per the algorithm. 

3.1.9 Ticket Validation. Tickets must be compatible with the Scientific Games Wave® terminal and the Lottery's method 
of validation, complete specifications to be provided after contract execution. The Lottery current system utilizes the 
Failsafe® technology for validation of tickets. The Lottery has a license to use Failsafe® technology on its tickets. 

3.1.10 Universal Product Code. Tickets produced for the Lottery must have a Universal Product Code (UPC) marking 
placed on the back of each ticket. The UPC symbol must conform to specifications in the technical manuals published by 
the Uniform Product Code Council, Inc., Dayton, Ohio. The Lottery reserves the right to change the UPC specifications 
when new specifications are broadly used and accepted. The UPC will be in the form of: 

0 15936 GGGYY C 
where: GGG represents the 3 digit game number 

YY represents the year 
C is the check digit 

3.1.11 Packing Barcode Information. The Contractor shall package the tickets so the ticket art faces outward on both 
sides of the pack to assist retailers and sales staff in easily identifying the game for each pack. For this reason, Contractor 
may request to add its own packaging barcode to Lottery scratch tickets when necessary for ticket packaging at its facility. 
This barcode shall be referred to as the vendor packaging barcode and must be as small as possible to be readable but 
also interfere the least amount possible with the ticket art. The barcode must not cause terminal read errors due to 
placement too close to validation barcodes. 

24 



3.1.12 Ticket Hash File. The Contractor must provide a file that contains all non-winning tickets and upon the Lottery's 
request certain winning tickets used in special promotions. These tickets should be Identified through the entry of the 
book, game, ticket, and validation numbers. Through the use of a hash process this entry will produce a unique hash 
number that can be used to access the ticket hash file. This would be required for all games. The Lottery shall provide the 
hash string information to the Contractor. No additional fees may be assessed by the Contractor for the creation of hash 
files or for providing files to an outside vendor, upon the request of the Lottery. 

3.1.13 Multiple Scratch Areas. The Contractor must provide multiple scratch areas on the ticket if requested in the 
Working Papers by the Lottery. The cost of multiple scratch areas shall be included in the base ticket price. 

3.1.14 Scratch-off Material. The Contractor must provide a scratch-off material that covers the play area and have mini
mal overlap into the display area. The scratch-off material must be smooth, easily removed by scratching and of a quality 
that will maintain the security of ticket symbols and validation number. Any changes in composition of scratch-off material 
or process must be reported to the Lottery prior to printing. 

If specified in the Working Papers by the Lottery, and, provided that any necessary patent rights have been obtained, the 
translucent scratch-off material must reveal an imaged symbol prior to scratching the area and to display the same or 
identical symbol on a different background or border color after the area is scratched. The cost of providing this feature 
shall be included in the base ticket price for any "Bingo" and "Crossword" games. 

3.1.15 Protective Coating. The ticket symbols under the scratch-off material must be covered with a transparent 
protective coaling which will ensure that the symbols will be legible after the consumer removes the scratch-off material. 

3.1.16 Flood Coat Finish. The display printing on the ticket front must have full coverage of a varnish type coating or UV 
coating to provide a shiny finish to the tickets. 

3.1.17 Display Print Ticket Colors. Display printing on the front of the ticket shall be either four (4) color process or up 
to five (5) spot colors. Tickets shall be printed from edge to edge, except perforation area, with either an outside border or 
full bleed process. Ticket backs shall be printed in one color as specified. Tickets with a price greater than one dollar ($1) 
must have the ticket price screened on the ticket back. Final ticket specifications for each of the Items discussed in this 
section shall be designated by the Lottery in each set of Working Papers. 

3.1.18 Over Print. The Contractor shall provide up to five colors per pulse for the over print. The overprint must be an 
artistic design, which at a minimum, covers the area covered by the scratch-off material. The overprint must be sufficiently 
defined, unblurred and sharp to highlight any tampering with the ticket. If specified In the Working Papers, a four-color 
process or another overprint process that produces, in the Lottery's sole determination, equivalent results shall be used for 
the overprint. See Schedule 8 for additional over print costs above five (5) colors per pulse. 

3.1.19 Security Tint. Unless specified otherwise in the Working Papers by the Lottery, all tickets produced must have a 
security tint. The Contractor shall use its security tint color that contrasts the most with the overprint and ticket design. 

3.1.20 Layout. Tickets must be produced with either a vertically oriented layout (i.e., ticket reads left to right across the 
shorter dimension and down the longer dimension) or a horizontally oriented layout (i.e., ticket reads left to right along the 
longer dimension and down the shorter dimension) as specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers. 

3.1.21 Ticket Stubs. The Contractor shall print tickets with stubs if specified in the Working Papers. Each perforation 
utilized must be clean cut in a manner that allows easy removal of the stubs by the consumer after purchase of the ticket 
while at the same lime not permitting accidental separation during normal handling. Each ticket stub must have a 
validation code as specified in section 3.1.8. The validation code may or may not match the validation number of the main 
ticket as specified by the Lottery In the Working Papers. Each stub must have a barcode as specified in Section 3.1.7 
which matches the pack ticket number on the main ticket. Each stub must have an individual ticket number as specified in 
Section 3.1.6 which matches the main ticket. See Schedule 8 for optional feature pricing. 

3.1.22 Multiple Scenes. The Contractor shall print a single game with multiple scenes included in a single pack of tickets 
if specified in the Working Papers. See Schedule 8 for optional feature pricing. 

25 



3.1.23 Color Pulses. The Contractor shall print a single game with multiple color pulses if specified In the Working 
Papers. Each color pulse will contain consecutive packs. See Schedule B for optional feature pricing. 

3.1.24 Additional Options. As described in the Contractor's RFP response, the Contractor is capable of providing 
additional options to the Lottery. See Schedule B for optional feature pricing and "Other Options" offered. 

3.1.25 Non-Traditional Games. As described In the Contractor's RFP response, the Contractor is capable of providing 
non-traditional games such as dual-layered tickets with play action on both sides, pouches, and other specialty tickets to 
the Lottery. See Schedule B for "Non-Traditional Games" offered. 

3.1.26 Licensed Properties. The Contractor can provide licensed properties to the Lottery. See Schedule B for available 
properties and optional feature pricing. 

3.1.27 Physical Feature Uniformity. All tickets produced shall have no characteristic Indicating whether a ticket is a 
winning or non-winning ticket, including without limitation the following characteristics: stock; perforations; cuts; exposed 
lot numbers; exposed ticket numbers; staples; fold; packaging; color, thickness or texture of scratch-off material; over 
prints; protective coating; and printing registration or mis-registration. 

3.1.28 Randomization. The odds of winning any prize of any level on a given ticket must not vary from the odds of 
winning that prize as stated In the final approved prize structure by reason of deficiencies in randomization, including 
without limitation, by virtue of the ticket's location In its strip, pack, shipping box, contractor omits or pool. This requirement 
is not intended to prevent the use of a guaranteed, low-end prize structure or selective seeding within pools as specified by 
the Lottery in the Working Papers. The Lottery will specify in the Working Papers the maximum, consecutive string of 
losing tickets. The Lottery also reserves the right to inspect, at any time, the methodology and implementation of 
randomization either on its own or with the aid of an independent statistician. 

3.1.29 Knowledge of Location of Winning Tickets. The Contractor must ensure the pack number data which Is 
contained in any document or computer file which could associate pack number data with play data or the validation 
number will be kept in a highly secure environment and be destroyed in a manner and time agreed upon by the Lottery. 

3.1.30 Low-tier Prizes. The Contractor must ensure that each pack of tickets contains a guaranteed dollar value of low
tier prizes. Up to five (5) different configurations of low-tier prizes must be incorporated, at random, Into packs of tickets in 
a single game if requested by the Lottery. Each configuration must have the same total dollar value of low-tier winners, but 
each configuration must have varying numbers of winners of various denominations. The prize structures used are 
subject to approval by the Lottery in the Working Papers. 

3.1.31 High-tier Prize Distribution. The Contractor must ensure high-tier prizes are randomly distributed within the 
pools of tickets. The pool size is subject to the approval of the Lottery in the Working Papers. High-tier prizes must be 
distributed evenly per pool of tickets to maintain the odds for the production run and selected high tier prizes delivered to 
the Lottery must be equal to the number shown on the approved prize structure in the Working Papers. 

3.1.32 Production Media. If game tickets are produced at a location other than the location where the production media 
is produced, the Lottery reserves the right to accompany the production media to the printer, at Contractor's expense and 
to accept custody of the production media if deemed necessary. Any media must be transported in sealed containers. If a 
seal is broken, the data cannot be used. Any production data that is transported via satellite or landline, including 
encryption key transport, must be encrypted and transferred using a method approved by the Vice President of Lottery 
Security. 

3.1.33 Quality Control. All tickets must be inspected during all stages of the printing process from color sign-off through 
shipping to ensure all tickets meet working paper specifications. 

3.1.34 Game Governing Documents 

Working Papers. For each game ordered, the Lottery will require a complete set of working papers describing the details 
of the ticket production. The approved final set of working papers become the governing document pertaining to the game 
and take precedence over any other conditions of the contract in the event of any conflict in the specifications or 

26 



requirements. The working papers will contain the detailed specifications of the game including ticket design, prize 
structure, game restrictions & patterns, validation requirements, packaging, shipping and storing, and fonts used and may 
reference standard Customer Specifications. Final executed copies of the approved working papers must be delivered to 
the Lottery prior to production. The following persons may approve and sign off on Working Papers on behalf of the 
Lottery: the Iowa Lottery CEO, the Executive Vice President, the VIce President of Finance and the Vice President of 
Security. Refer to Section 3.3.4 Development and Delivery of Working Papers. 

Customer Specifications. The Contractor must prepare and provide a complete set of Customer Specifications that will 
govern all tickets produced for the Lottery, within sixty (60) days of contract execution. The Customer Specifications must 
be updated or reviewed routinely upon request by the Lottery. The Customer Specifications to be provided must include 
the following: 

• Barcode specifications including Contractor packaging, FailSafe®, Interleaved 2 of 5 and UPC 
Packaging/Shipping specifications 

• POS specs for ITVM cards and oversized posters and destination quantities 
• Back of ticket wording and markings 
• Hash file requirements 
• Final ticket art in jpg and EPS formats, UPC artwork file, and to include all play and prize symbols with exactly 

matching covered and uncovered artwork version for each available prize tier 
• Audit report sent via secured e-mail to Brenda Nye a BNye@ialottery.com 
• Delivery tolerance +-5% 
• Test and production start pools 
• Book ticket number locations and formal on front and back of ticket 
• Ticket stock specs 
• Perforations 
• Game programming specs 
• Reconstruction 
• Deliverables 
• Event Timeline including max allowable days between events for each step starting with Lottery initiating game 

number thru Contractor delivery of tickets to Lottery. 
• PNG files sent to MDI 

3.1.35 Production Notification. The Contractor must notify Lottery in writing of production dales and initial sign-off time 
at least 15 calendar days prior to production. For any changes made to the production schedule by the Contractor after 
the 15 calendar days' official notice, the Contractor shall provide full reimbursement to the Lottery for all additional costs 
associated with any travel, employee overtime and additional costs specifically related to the Contractor changes of the 
schedule. Refer to Section 3.4.5 which defines Lottery travel. 

3.2 PACKAGING 

3.2.1 Number of Tickets Per Pack. The Contractor shall package tickets in packs of ten (1 0), twelve (12), fifteen (15), 
thirty (30), sixty (60), seventy-five (75), one hundred (100), one hundred fifty (150) or three hundred (300) tickets as 
specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers. Consequently, all Lottery packs have a sales value of three hundred 
dollars ($300). Lottery reserves the right to request packs in other quantities at prices mutually agreeable to the Lottery 
and the Contractor. 

3.2.2 Fanfoldlng. The Contractor must fan fold tickets in packs as specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers or 
Lottery Customer Specifications. 

3.2.3 Pack Distribution Card. The Contractor must produce and insert a pack distribution card in each pack of tickets. 
The Working Papers must specify the barcode to be printed on each pack distribution card with the cards to be readable 
through the shrink-wrap. The pack distribution card will have a barcode containing the game number and pack number 
and then nine (9) other digits (all zeros). These numbers must also be printed above the barcode In human readable form. 

27 



3.2.4 Shrink-wrap. Each pack of tickets must be shrink-wrapped in clear plastic. There must be a perforation in the 
shrink-wrap to facilitate easy opening. The shrink-wrap must not impede the ability to read the barcode on the pack 
distribution card. 

3.2.5 Shipping Boxes. The Contractor must package tickets in the box size specified by the Lottery In the Working 
Papers. The packs of tickets are to be placed In the shipping boxes in the configuration specified by the Lottery in the 
Working Papers. The shipping box Is to be 2751b. test and Edge Crush Test 44 lb. 

3.2.6 Box Labels. The box labels are to face outward and be on the ends of the box and on the side of the skid specified 
by the Lottery in the Working Papers. Shipping boxes will be numbered from 00001 with the label showing the game 
name, shipping box number, "From-Through" pack numbers, amount of packs In box and special listing of pack numbers 
for omissions if any. 

3.2.7 Box Markings. The following statement must be printed or stamped on each box: "This carton contains materials 
that are registered by number and which will be void if stolen." There must be no printing on the carton or on the sealing 
tape other than as specified by the Lottery. 

3.2.8 Tape. The top and bottom of each box must be sealed with tape. No staples or glue can be used. The tape must 
not obscure labels or other markings on the carton. 

3.2.9 Skids. The shipping boxes must be packed on skids the size specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers with 
labels outwardly visible. The skids must be constructed of hardwood lumber or a number two softwood, capable of 
withstanding multiple handling by forklift trucks without splintering or collapsing. The shipping boxes must be stacked on 
skids in the configuration specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers. The skid height is not to exceed 54 Y," from skid 
deck to top of the top box. Each layer of shipping boxes is to be separated by a cardboard sheet and the four corners are 
to be stabilized by cardboard brackets running to the height of the skid. The skids must be secured by stretch wrapped 
plastic and covered with a rain cap. 

3.2.10 Skid Labels. A skid label must be affixed to the middle section on the end of the lowest numbered side of each 
skid load of boxes. There Is to be one (1) label per skid placed on the front of the skid. The label must show the game 
name, the lowest and highest box numbers loaded on the skid and the skid number. Skids must be numbered one (1) 
through the highest skid number for the game. 

3.3 DELIVERY 

3.3.1 Delivery Vehicles and Loading. Tickets are to be delivered in exclusive-use, sealed trucks from plant to 
warehouse. The truck's seal number must appear on the bill of lading. Skids of finished tickets must be loaded with the 
lowest numbered skid in the "nose" of the trailer and the highest numbered skid at the rear of the trailer. A minimum of 
three (3) feet of clearance must be left between the last skid loaded and the cargo doors at the rear of the delivery vehicle 
to facilitate unloading. 

3.3.2 Delivery of Tickets. Tickets must be delivered FOB to the Lottery Warehouse in Ankeny, Iowa (50021) or to any 
other designated warehouse location in Iowa. Continuous and uninterrupted delivery must be made in accordance with 
the delivery schedule specified in the Working Papers. The Contractor shall hold a portion of the ticket order up to 20 
million tickets, as specified in the Working Papers for that game, at the Contractor's location until the Lottery requests that 
it be delivered or until the particular game ends. 

The Contractor agrees to deliver game tickets within 30 days after approval of Working Papers for new game orders and 
within 20 days for reorders. The Contractor also agrees to deliver game tickets within 54 days of receipt of concept 
artwork and approved prize structure from Lottery. Contractor must accelerate the delivery of tickets if requested by the 
Lottery. Ownership of the tickets shall remain with the Contractor until delivery is made. See Schedule B optional feature 
pricing. 

3.3.3 Delivery Tolerances. The Contractor shall deliver the ordered quantity for each game plus or minus five percent 
(5%). As this Is a price-per-thousand basis Agreement, the Contractor shall bill and the Lottery will pay only for the actual 

28 



number of conforming tickets delivered. Deliveries in excess of the ordered quantity plus the delivery tolerances may be 
accepted by the Lottery on consignment only. The Lottery may require the Contractor to produce an exact number of 
tickets for selected games. The Lottery will specify these games in the Working Papers for that game. 

3.3.4 Development and Delivery of Working Papers. The Contractor must prepare game Working Papers that Include 
the details regarding each game's specifications. The Working Papers must be presented to the Lottery for review no 
more than ten (10) working days from the Lottery's approval of the prize structure and final game design, Including artwork. 
Revisions to any Working Papers (including drafts) must be made within five (5) working days of the date changes were 
submitted to the Contractor by the Lottery, unless Contractor receives prior approval from the Lottery to exceed that limit. 
Final executed copies of the approved working papers must be delivered to the Lottery prior to production. The Lottery 
may grant an extension for exceptional circumstances. 

3.4 SECURITY 

3.4.1 Plant Security. The plant(s) in which tickets are to be produced or stored shall be equipped wilh a complete plant 
security system acceptable to the Lottery. The security system as described in its' proposal is acceptable to the Lottery. 
Should the Contractor anticipate making changes to the plant security system, the Contractor shall inform the Lottery of 
the changes at least seven (7) calendar days before the scheduled change. At that time, the Contractor shall provide a 
complete description of the security system at the location or locations Including anticipated changes. The Contractor 
must provide updated plant security procedures to the Lottery VP of Security on an annual basis for Lottery review. If 
Lottery approves of the plant security procedures, written acceptance will be provided to the Contractor. 

3.4.2 Unused Materials. Contractor must deliver a report to the Lottery at the end of the production of each game stating 
the number of pools used to produce the game converted to tickets, less the number of tickets shipped and the number of 
omits to estimate the game scrap. These materials must be destroyed by shredding, burning, or dissolving on the printer's 
premises. Scrap materials cannot leave the printer's premises until processed to render them unrecognizable as lottery 
materials. An auditable record system must be used to account for all ticket stock and materials destroyed. 

3.4.3 Ticket Security Analysis. The Contractor agrees to make all reasonable efforts to minimize the possibility that 
tickets can be compromised. The Contractor shall be bound by the description of the security analysis contained In its 
proposal including but not limited to ink, paper, scratch-off material, primer, seal, release and protective coating. The 
Contractor shall be bound by the description of Its security programs included in its proposal including but not limited to 
ticket printing security and the results of any tests which have been performed on the tickets currently produced by the 
Contractor. The Contractor has identified all of the security features of its ticket printing system to the Lottery in its 
proposal. It shall be bound to the representations made therein. 

3.4.4 Security Breach Notification. The Contractor shall notify the Lottery's Vice of President of Security immediately 
via telephone and in writing of any breach of security experienced by the Contractor during the term of this Agreement 
including but not limited to the theft or disappearance of any paper stock, data media, cylinders, tickets, waste, film, 
printing plates, etc. All security risks discovered in the Contractor's tickets must be immediately communicated to the 
Lottery. 

3.4.5 Printing Inspection Site Visits. The Lottery shall have the right, acting by itself or through its authorized 
representatives, to enter the premises of the Contractor at all times to examine the game and to inspect and copy the 
records of the Contractor pertaining to the operation of the Lottery account without prior notice. 

Normal travel expenses relating to ticket inspections will be paid by the Lottery. 

If the printing and finishing processes are altered or rescheduled due to Contractor issues the Contractor shall provide full 
reimbursement to the Lottery for all additional costs associated with any travel, employee overtime and additional costs 
specifically related to the Contractor schedule changes. Refer to Production Notification, Section 3.1.35. The Lottery may 
hire an independent consultant once every two years and require the Contractor to participate In a complete analysis of the 
ticket printing process and facility. 

At the Contractors discretion, Contractor may provide travel expenses for up to four (4) Lottery employees per calendar 
year to attend a Contractor sponsored security educational event. 

29 



3.4.6 Ticket Inspection, Monitoring and Testing. The Contractor will be required to provide the Lott(lry the following 
during the print process: 

• Three packs of tickets from each game as defined in the Customer Specifications. None of these packs 
will contain any mid or high tier winners. 

• AI least one pack from the front, middle and end of the print run of each pulse must be provided to the 
Lottery security person on site for quality control testing. The packs for the quality control testing will not 
contain any high-tier or mid-tier prizes unless the prize is part of the GLEPS and these packs will be omit 
packs. 

• if Lottery security is not attending the printing of tickets then ali of the aforementioned packs will be 
shipped by overnight courier to iowa Lottery VP of Security at the Des Moines headquarters location so 
the tickets can be tested prior to the game being shipped. Iowa Lottery Security will perform testing 
immediately and notify the Contractor of any problems. 

If the Lottery is not present during the printing of the tickets then all of the aforementioned packs must be shipped within 24 
hours of the completion of the printing via overnight delivery to the Lottery Headquarters, Attn: VP of Security, to allow for 
testing to be completed prior to the game being shipped. 

After the game is printed, packaged for shipping, and stored in a secured area, the Contractor must send the Lottery VP of 
Security two pack numbers that do not contain any mid-tier or high-tier prizes unless the prize is part of the GLEPS. These 
two packs need to be on the game load COs as testing will be conducted on these packs in Iowa, and these tests require 
being able to validate tickets through the Lottery test system. Printed copies of ali lab reports will be delivered to Iowa 
Lottery Security. If copies are available at time of print and security is on-site, reports will be personally delivered to Lottery 
Security personnel present. If Lottery Security is not on-site or lab reports could not be provided in time for on-site 
delivery, copies of ali lab reports should be delivered In a secure manner to Lottery Attn: Vice President of Security as 
soon as reasonably possible. 

3.4.7 Ownership of Tickets and Related Materials. Tickets and materials produced for the Lottery, including tickets 
rejected by the Lottery as non-conforming or as part of an order containing non-conforming tickets, are the property of the 
Lottery and shall not be furnished by the Contractor to any other country, state, organization, company, agency, jobber, 
distributor, individual or other entity other than the Lottery. Rejected tickets or materials In the possession of the 
Contractor shall be stored by the Contractor in a secure area until the Lottery advises the Contractor in writing within thirty 
(30) days as to the disposition of such tickets or materials. 

3.4.8 Emergency Ticket Reprint. In the case of a disaster or catastrophic event in which half or more than half of the 
tickets in a game are damaged or destroyed, the Contractor shall, at the Lottery's request, reprint certain games as a 
priority within fifteen (15) business days at the Lottery's expense. 

3.5 REPORTS, CD'S AND OTHER DELIVERABLES 

3.5.1 Game Rules. The Contractor shall be required to draft proposed regulations for defining the rules of each game. 
The game rules formal shall be provided by the Lottery. Game rules will be provided by the Contractor at least thirty (30) 
business days prior to the start of game sales. 

3.5.2 Final Ticket Art. Contractor must provide final ticket art at least thirty (30) business days prior to start of game 
sales. The Contractor must create artwork files with art for one (1) covered ticket and for ten (10) uncovered winning 
tickets showing as many different prize levels as possible with the VIRN, pack and ticket number replaced by the word 
VOID. The artwork shall be delivered via CD or electronically to the Lottery the same day the tickets are delivered. 

3.5.3 Color Proof. Contractor shall provide a color proof to the Lottery for approval at least one (1) week prior to ticket 
printing. 

3.5.4 Prize Accountability and End of Production Prize Structure. In order to ensure full accountability, optimum prize 
delivery is required with an accurate end-of-production prize structure report. This report must be delivered to the Lottery 
by courier to the Lottery the same day the tickets are delivered. 

30 



Any record game file or document that associates all or part of the validation number and all or part of the pack ticket 
number must be destroyed after the application of the barcode on the tickets, except as required by the Lottery for 
reconstruction. 

3.5.5 Game Inventory and Validation Requirements. The Contractor must provide a CD or secure FTP site with the 
game inventory and validation files created according to the specifications "Definition for Printer Files Input for Scientific 
Games Aegis System" to be provided when the contract is awarded. If a CD is provided, the CD shall be couriered to the 
Lottery the same day the tickets are delivered. 

3.5.6 Shipping Report. The Contractor must provide a shipping report which will list game number, game name, gross 
number of tickets, number of omitted tickets, net number of tickets, the gross number of packs, number of omitted packs, 
net number of packs, the range of pack numbers produced (lowest and highest pack numbers), the range of pack 
numbers shipped and the range of box numbers. A hard copy of the shipping report will be delivered with the tickets and a 
second hard copy will be couriered as a CD or provided on a secure FTP site. For any pulsed games, the report shall also 
include high and low pack number per pulse. 

3.5.7 Omitted Packs Report. The Contractor must provide an omitted packs report which will list omitted packs in 
numerical order. Hard copy files to be provided with each line double-spaced and an electronic version as a single-spaced 
file. The omitted packs report will be delivered with the tickets. 

3.5.8 Shipping Control Manifest. The Contractor must provide a shipping control manifest which will be a record of all 
packs manufactured, listed by box with the omitted packs indicated with an asterisk (*) by the pack number. The number 
of good packs per box will be indicated for each box number. A hard copy, with no staples, will be delivered with the 
tickets. 

3.5.9 Void Sample Tickets. A minimum of ten thousand five hundred (10,500) actual size void sample tickets from the 
actual initial press run for each ticket order. All void sample tickets must bear the word "VOID" and must be non-winners. 
Void sample ticket pack numbers must start at VOID01 and run consecutively without duplicating pack numbers. Ticket 
numbers must start at 000 and run consecutively within each pack. The 1 0-digit validation number must be printed as 
VOIDVOIDVO with three consecutive letters boxed excluding the last two (2) digits which cannot be boxed. The void 
sample tickets must be delivered on the same truck as the tickets. 

3.5.10 Point of Purchase Poster. The Contractor must provide eight hundred fifty (850) posters per pulse, with each 
ticket order. The poster size is to be 4.5" x 9.0" and will be printed two sides with different artwork on 10-point card stock. 
There will be two (2) holes (1/8") in each poster (top-center, bottom-center). The poster design will be as specified in the 
Working Papers. The posters will be shrink-wrapped in units of twenty-five (25) and boxed in quantities as specified in the 
Working Papers. Posters must be delivered on the same truck as the tickets unless the Lottery agrees to other 
arrangements. 

3.5.11 ITVM Display Cards. Contractor must provide three thousand (3,000) 4" x 4" ITVM display card per pulse, with 
each ticket order. The front of the cards will display the ticket art, ticket price, the words www.ialotterv.com, and a 
promotional message as specified in the Working Papers. The back of the cards will display the game name, game 
number, ticket price, pack quantity, ticket length, and a fixed Informational bar code. The words "Scan this barcode when 
prompted by setup menu." will be printed above the barcode and the fourteen (14) digits of the barcode will be printed 
below the barcode. The 14-digit barcode will be in the form of GGGTTTPPPPLLLC where: 

GGG 3-diqlt qame number 
TTT 3-digit number of tickets per pack 
pppp 4-digit ticket price 
LLL 3-digit ticket length 
c 1-digit check digit 

The cards will be shrink-wrapped in units of twenty-five {25) and boxed in quantities as specified in the Working Papers. 
The cards must be delivered to the Lottery warehouse by the date tickets are delivered to the Lottery warehouse. If 

31 



printing vendor prints ITVM cards or posters prior to game being printed and additional artwork changes require the re
printing of the ITVM cards and/or posters, this is to be done at the printing vendors expense and drop shipped to 
location(s) specified by the Lottery. If the changes required after the printing are at the request of the Lottery, the Lottery 
will bear the expense of the reprint. 

3.5.12 Game Audit Report. The Contractor must engage a major firm of independent certified public accountants to 
review the procedures and controls employed by the Contractor during production of tickets. The certified public 
accounting firm will be required to submit a letter to the Lottery which states the tests performed on the Contractor's 
production procedures. The Contractor shall provide the letter from the accounting firm within fourteen (14) calendar days 
of game delivery unless otherwise agreed to by the Lottery. The letter may be delivered via a secured electronic 
transmission. Contractor must provide a letter indicating the results of each game audit performed by the Contractor's 
accounting firm. 

These tests, performed by the outside firm of independent certified public accountants, must, at a minimum, Include the 
following items: 

a) An audit of a sampling of the actual computer files that are used to run the computer imager which is issued to 
print the tickets must be conducted verifying game integrity; 
b) A statistically valid random sampling of finished packs of tickets in the Contractor's plant must be audited to 
determine conformity of the finished, actual tickets with the final approved prize structure as signed by the Lottery; 
c) An audit of a sampling of the computer files and the finished product must be conducted to determine 
conformity of all other game specifications including without limitation, conformity with the prize structure, the 
number of tickets per pack, number of packs per pool, the validation coding scheme, retailer validation codes, win
ning and losing ticket pattern distributions, and any special requirements the Lottery specifies in the Working 
Papers. 

3.5.13 Sample Game. The Contractor must produce a sample game consisting of not less than five thousand (5,000) tickets 
if the Contractor has not produced a live game for the Lottery within the preceding eighteen (18) months of contract execution. 
The sample game must include all validation algorithms, over print, barcodes and media files associated with a live game. 
Creative ticket art will not be required. Production of a live game will not occur until the Lottery has successfully tested a 
sample game. All costs associated with the production and delivery of a sample game upon execution of the contract will be 
borne by the Contractor. 

3.5.14 Audit Report for Sample Game. Contractor must provide a letter indicating the results of each game audit 
performed by the Contractor's accounting firm. Refer to Section 8.2. 

3.5.15 Test Game. Upon a change in the Lottery's validation system, test games may be required. The Lottery will bear the 
cost of these games. See Schedule B optional feature pricing. 

The Lottery may request the print of a test game not related to validation changes. Upon Lottery's determination to print a test 
game, there shall be no cost to the Lottery if the test game is subsequently purchased. 

3.6 CORPORATE MARKETING SUPPORT 

3.6.1 The Contractor must apply its best efforts to support the Lottery game design and marketing, assisting the Lottery to 
achieve its financial objectives. The Lottery will require new games and features over the term of the Contract. The 
Contractor must be able to accommodate the Lottery's marketing plans and efforts with corporate marketing support that 
includes, but is not limited to: 

a) Marketing Strategy. An annual strategy meeting, including development of retailer promotional contests, 
consumer promotional programs or special events, game designs, marketing/sales staff seminars and retailer 
seminars shall be held by the Contractor with the Lottery to discuss Industry trends, new technology, new 
products and comparative sales analysis. The strategy meeting shall be held within the first quarter of the 
calendar year. 

32 



The Contractor may present a holiday marketing strategy to the Lottery. The holiday marketing strategy shall 
include but not be limited to play actions, game designs, prize structures and marketing support strategies. All 
travel costs and any presentation preparation costs will be the responsibility of the Contractor. 

At the Contractors discretion, the Contractor may provide all travel expenses for up to four (4) Lottery 
employees per calendar year to attend a Contractor marketing educational event or users' conference. 

b) Gaming Concept Design and Development. The availability of new gaming products and product ideas is 
critical to the Lottery. The Contractor is expected to have a continuous program of research Into ticket 
concepts and products. 

c) Marketing Support. The Contractor shall provide marketing support to assist the lottery with prize structure 
and game design, game names, themes, play formats, industry trends, lottery data processing, lottery 
accounting, and lottery security. The Lottery reserves the right to approve the account representative(s). 

The representative will be responsible for providing the following services: 
o Coordination of contract execution between the Lottery and the Contractor including Working Papers for 

specific games, ticket art design, prize structures, schedules, production, ticket printing and ticket delivery. 
o Provide support In game design and strategic planning of the instant product. 
o Recommend products, game offerings, prize structures, promotions, advertising campaigns, pricing and 

point-of-sale strategies. 
o Contractor representative must identify any special printing techniques or costs associated with the 

Contractors recommendation for tickets. 
o Be readily available by telephone or other means of business communication. 

3.6.2 Costs for marketing services provided by the account representative and any required support staff shall be included 
in the printing prices provided In the pricing section. 

3.6.3 Graphics. As a classic impulse item, instant tickets must possess high impact graphics which strongly 
communicate the ticket's salient selling points. The Contractor must effectively coordinate instant ticket art design, 
including typeface, from the first, rough art presented to the finished product. Final ticket art including .jpg, .eps, .png and 
internet demo files shall be provided by the Contractor no later than seven (7) calendar days after game prints. 

33 



SCHEDULE 8 
PRICING MATRIX 

PRICE-PER-THOUSAND BASIS 

34 



AGREEMENTFORTHEPURCHASEOF 

INSTANT TICKETS AND RELATED SERVICES 

between 

Iowa Lottery Authority 

and 

Scientific Games International, Inc. 

Effective 1/1/2013 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION 1. IDENTITY OF THE PARTIES 

SECTION 2. PURPOSE 

SECTION 3. DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 
Section 3.1 Incorporation of Proposal Documents 
Section 3.2 Contractual Obligations of Contractor 
Section 3.3 Contents of Agreement 
Section 3.4 Order of Preference 
Section 3.5 Intent of References to Bid Documents 
Section 3.6 Incorporation of Working Papers 

SECTION 4. DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 5. TERM 

SECTION 6. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
Section 6.1 Description of Goods and Services 
Section 6.2 Industry Standards 
Section 6.3 Personnel to Perform the Services 
Section 6.4 Timely Performance 
Section 6.5 Contract for Goods 
Section 6.6 Non-Exclusive Rights 

SECTION 7. CONTRACTOR REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

SECTION 8. COMPENSATION 
Section 8.1 Pricing Matrix 
Section 8.2 Payment to Contractor 
Section 8.3 Set-Off Against Sums Owed by Contractor 
Section 8.4 State not to be Obligated 
Section 8.5 Payments to Lottery 
Section 8.6 Suspension of Payment 
Section·8.7 Taxes 

SECTION 9. DEFAULT AND TERMINATION 
Section 9.1 Termination for Cause 
Section 9.2 Notice of Cure 
Section 9.3 Immediate Termination 
Section 9.4 Termination for Convenience 
Section 9.5 Termination for Lack of Authority or Funding 
Section 9.6 Waiver 
Section 9.7 Remedies of Contractor 
Section 9.8 No Release of Obligation 

SECTION 10. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
Section 10.1 Notification of Liquidated Damages 
Section 10.2 Delivery of Non-conforming Tickets 
Section 10.3 Over-redemption 
Section 1 0.4 Damages for Late Delivery 

2 

2 

3 

3 

4 

5 

7 

11 



Section 10.5 Payment of Liquidated Damages 
Section 10.6 Remedies 

SECTION 11. FORCE MAJEURE 

SECTION 12. INSURANCE 
Section 12.1 Coverage Requirements 
Section 12.2 Types of Coverage 
Section 12.3 Coverage for Lottery Property or Personnel on Contractor Premises 
Section 12.4 Coverage Without Regard to Claim 
Section 12.5 Notice Regarding Cancellation 
Section 12.6 No Limitation of Liability 
Section 12.7 Warranty 
Section 12.8 Scope of Errors and Omissions Insurance 
Section 12.9 Scope of Property Insurance 
Section 12.10 Waiver of Subrogation Rights 

SECTION 13. BONDS 
Section 13.1 Bonds and Insurance Qualifications 
Section 13.2 Performance Bond 
Section 13.3 Fidelity Bond 
Section 13.4 Provision of Bonds 

SECTION 14. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 
Section 14.1 Works Made for Hire 
Section 14.2 Lottery Trademarks, Service Marks, and Trade Name 
Section 14.3 Purchase of Proprietary Rights Held by Others 
Section 14.4 Right to Use Intellectual Property 
Section 14.5 Warranty Regarding Intellectual Property Rights 
Section 14.6 Trademark Searches 

8 

9 

10 

12 

Section 14.7 Infringement of Trademarks, Patents, Copyrights and Other Proprietary Rights 
Section 14.8 Product Information Supplied by Lottery 
Section 14.9 Approval of Materials by Contractor 
Section 14.1 0 Possession of Copies 

SECTION 15. INDEMNIFICATION 

SECTION 16. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 

SECTION 17. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
Section 17.1 Independent Contractor 
Section 17.2 Prime Contractor Responsibilities 
Section 17.3 News Releases 
Section 17.4 Advertising. 
Section 17.5 Endorsements 
Section 17.6 Ticket Purchase Restrictions 
Section 17.7 Additional Security Requirements 
Section 17.8 Background Investigations 
Section 17.9 Security Violation Reporting 
Section 17.10 Security Information (Disclosure) Updates 
Section 17.11 Contractor Ethics and Integrity 
Section 17.12 Compliance with Association Standards 
Section 17.13 Audit and Accounting Requirements 

SECTION 18. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 
Section 18.1 Assignment and Delegation 

13 

14 

14 

17 

iii 



Section 18.2 Records Retention and Access 
Section 18.3 Choice of Law and Forum 
Section 18.4 Compliance with the Law and Regulations 
Section 18.5 Covenant Against Contingent Fees 
Section 18.6 Cooperation of the Parties 
Section 18.7 Amendments 
Section 18.8 Third Party Beneficiaries 
Section 18.9 Integration 
Section 18.10 Headings or Captions 
Section 18.11 Not a Joint Venture 
Section 18.12 Supersedes Former Agreements 
Section 18.13 Notices 
Section 18.14 Exclusive and Non-Exclusive Rights 
Section 18.15 Right of Inspection 
Section 18.16 Survival of Obligations 
Section 18.17 Industry Standards 
Section 18.18 Cumulative Rights 
Section 18.19 Severability 
Section 18.20 Authorization 
Section 18.21 Successors In Interest 
Section 18.22 Counterparts 
Section 18.23 Additional Provisions 
Section 18.24 Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments 
Section 18.25 Obligations of Joint Entities 
Section 18.26 Material Breaches 
Section 18.27 U.S. Dollars 
Section 18.28 Consent to Service of Process 
Section 18.29 Authorization to do Business in Iowa 
Section 18.30 Non-Disclosure of the Lottery's Plans 
Section 18.31 Title to Lottery Property 
Section 18.32 Sales Restrictions 

SECTION 19. EXECUTION 

SCHEDULE A SCOPE OF SERVICES 
Section 1 General Description of Work 
Section 2 Definitions 
Section 3 Tickets and Services Specifications 
Section 3.1 Ticket Specifications 
Section 3.2 Packaging 
Section 3.3 Delivery 
Section 3.4 Security 
Section 3.5 Reports, CO's and Other Deliverables 
Section 3.6 Corporate Marketing Support 

SCHEDULE B PRICING MATRIX 

SCHEDULE C LICENSED PROPERTIES 

SCHEDULED BACKGROUND INVESTIGATIONS 

20 

22 

IV 



AGREEMENT FOR THE PURCHASE OF 
INSTANT TICKETS AND RELATED SERVICES 

This Agreement for the Purchase of Instant Lottery Tickets and Related Services ("Agreemenr' or "Contract") is 
entered into by and between the Iowa Lottery Authority ("Lottery") and Scientific Games International, Inc., herein after 
referred to as ("SGI" or "Contractor''). 

In consideration of the mutual covenants contained in this Agreement, the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, it 
is agreed as follows: 

SECTION 1. IDENTITY OF THE PARTIES. 

The Lottery is an instrumentality of the State of Iowa whose address is 2323 Grand Avenue, Des Moines, lA 50312. The 
Lottery is authorized by Iowa Code chapter 99G to conduct a lottery in the state of Iowa. 

Scientific Games International, Inc. is a corporation, incorporated under the laws of Delaware, engaged in the business of 
printing lottery scratch tickets and other services. The address for Contractor is 1500 Bluegrass Lakes Parkway, 
Alpharetta, GA 30004. 

SECTION 2. PURPOSE. 

The Contractor designs and manufactures instant lottery tickets for use by various domestic and international 
government-sanctioned lotteries. The Contractor has the requisite skill, expertise and personnel required to assist the 
Lottery in producing instant tickets and to provide related services for the production of instant games. 

SECTION 3. DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE. 

3.1 Incorporation of Proposal Documents. The Request for Proposal number IL-12-02 (RFP) including any 
clarifications thereto (collectively, the "RFP") and the Contractor's proposal in response to the RFP, together with any 
clarifications of the Contractor (collectively, the "Proposal") are each incorporated into this Agreement by this reference as 
if fully set forth in this Agreement. 

3.2 Contractual Obligations of Contractor. The terms and conditions of the Proposal and of the RFP are made 
contractual obligations of the Contractor. 

3.3 Contents of Agreement. The parties acknowledge that this Agreement consists of this document as well as the 
RFP and the Proposal and that the parties are obligated to perform as set forth in the RFP and the Proposal to the same 
extent that they are obligated to perform the specific duties set forth in this document. 

3.4 Order of Preference. In the case of any inconsistency or conflict between the specific provisions of this document 
and the RFP or the Proposal, any Inconsistency or conflict shall be resolved as follows: 

a) First, by giving preference to the specific provisions of any addendum or amendment to this document. 

b) Second, by giving preference to the specific provisions of this document. 

c) Third, by giving preference to the specific provisions of the Proposal. 

d) Fourth, by giving preference to the specific provisions of any clarifications to the RFP. 

e) Fifth, by giving preference to the specific provisions of the RFP. 



3.5 Intent of References to Bid Documents. The references to the parties' obligations, which are contained in this 
document, are intended to change, supplement or clarify the obligations as slated in the RFP and the Proposal. The 
failure of the parties to make reference to the terms of the RFP or Proposal in this document shall not be construed as 
creating a conflict and will not relieve the Contractor of the contractual obligations imposed by the terms of the RFP and 
the Proposal. Terms offered in the Proposal that exceed the requirements of the RFP shall not be construed as creating 
an inconsistency or conflict with the RFP or this document. The contractual obligations of the Lottery cannot be implied 
from the Proposal. 

3.6 Incorporation Of Working Papers. Working Papers executed pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall be 
incorporated into this Agreement by this reference as if written here at the time of execution. Any Inconsistency between 
the Working Papers and the terms of this Agreement shall be resolved by first giving effect to the terms of the Working 
Papers. Any Inconsistency between the Working Papers and the RFP or the Proposal shall be resolved by first giving 
effect to the Working Papers, then to the Proposal, and finally to the RFP. 

Upon the execution of Working Papers for a game, the Contractor represents and warrants to the Lottery that upon the 
agreement of the Contractor and the Lottery, it may be able to produce additional tickets of the game to the Lottery 
throughout the term of this Agreement at the written request of the Lottery and with additional working papers for the 
additional ticket print. The requirement that Working Papers be executed for each game reordered shall not be construed 
as relieving the Contractor of the option to provide additional tickets of previously printed games upon the written order of 
the Lottery. 

Where this Agreement provi.des that a particular characteristic of a ticket will be specified by the Lottery, the specification 
will be made in the Working Papers. 

SECTION 4. DEFINITIONS. 

The following words shall have the meanings set forth below. Words In the singular shall be held to include the plural and 
vice versa, and words of gender shall be held to include any other gender as the context requires. For the purposes of 
this Agreement, the following terms and ali other terms defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings so defined 
unless the context clearly indicates otherwise. 

a) "Delivery' means the date of the Lottery's receipt of the tickets or completion of Services at the Lottery's 
designated location. 

b) "Working Papers" refers to a set of documents that contains ali game requirements organized into information 
sections, specific to parts of the production process. This information represents the requests of the Lottery 
and must be followed by the Contractor while producing a game. 

c) "Party" means either of the legal entities identified in Section 1 of this Agreement. 

d) "Services" means various types of support services as provided to the Lottery by Contractor incidental to 
Contractor's production of instant tickets including but not limited to game name searches, technical support 
training or other services set forth in this Agreement as requested by the Lottery from time to time. 

e) "Customer Specifications" means a document created by the Contractor that details information to be followed 
while producing a game specific to the Lottery. 

SECTION 5. TERM. 

The term of this Agreement will be from January 1, 2013 through December 31, 2014 plus up to four (4) additional one
year option periods or any combination thereof (i.e., one year, two years, three years, or ali four years), provided that any 
such option to renew is exercised in writing by the Lottery at least ninety (90) days prior to the end of the initial contract 
period, or any additional renewal thereof, or at a time mutually agreed upon by both parties. 

2 



SECTION 6. SCOPE OF SERVICES. 

6.1 Description of Goods and Services. The goods to be produced and the services to be performed pursuant to and 
as a result of this Agreement by the Contractor are described on Schedule A attached hereto and made a part hereof by 
this reference. 

6.2 Industry Standards. In the absence of a detailed specification for the performance of any portion of this Agreement, 
the parties agree that the applicable specification shall be the generally accepted industry standard for the manufacture of 
instant tickets and related services. 

6.3 Personnel to Perform the Services. The Contractor shall identify for the Lottery all employees of the Contractor and 
any subcontractors involved in the production of tickets or related services or which provide goods or services necessary 
to the production of materials. The Lottery reserves the right to disapprove of any subcontractor used by the Contractor or 
any employee of the Contractor or any subcontractor directly involved in ticket production. If the Lottery disapproves of 
any such person or subcontractor, the Contractor shall ensure that they are not involved in the production of the Lottery's 
tickets. The Contractor shall require its employees and the employees of any subcontractors involved in the direct 
production of tickets to submit to background investigations by the Lottery and to complete all background disclosure 
forms as may be required by the Lottery. Lottery reserves the right to require Contractor to reassign the development of 
Working Papers to another employee of the Contractor if Working Papers are consistently delivered with errors or 
persistent timeliness problems. 

6.4 Timely Performance. The Contractor shall ensure that all personnel providing services to the Lottery are responsive 
to Lottery requirements in all respects including Lottery directives with respect to the goods and services delivered in 
accordance with this Agreement. 

6.4 Contract for Goods. The parties agree that this is primarily a contract for goods and that services provided by the 
Contractor pursuant to the terms of this Agreement are incidental to the fulfillment of this Agreement. 

6.5 Non-Exclusive Rights. The Lottery does not grant the Contractor the exclusive right to produce all or any Lottery 
instant tickets during the term of this Agreement. The Lottery shall not be obligated to purchase any tickets from the 
Contractor during the term of this Agreement. 

SECTION 7. CONTRACTOR REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. 

7.1 All representations and warranties made by the Contractor in all provisions of this Agreement and the Proposal by the 
Contractor, whether or not this Agreement specifically denominates the Contractor's promise as a warranty or whether the 
warranty Is created only by the Contractor's affirmation or promise, or is created by a description of the materials and 
services to be provided, or by provision of samples to the Lottery, shall not be construed as limiting or negating any 
warranty provided by law, including without limitation, warranties which arise through course of dealing or usage of trade. 
The warranties expressed in this Agreement are intended to modify the warranties implied by law only to the extent that 
they expand the warranties applicable to the goods and services provided by the Contractor. 

7.2 The Contractor represents and warrants that the related materials, goods and services to be provided to the Lottery 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be suitable for their intended purposes. The Contractor acknowledges that the Lottery is 
relying on the Contractor's skill and judgment to furnish tickets and related materials and services fit in all respects for this 
purpose which will be designed to maximize the ticket sales of the Lottery. 

7.3 The Contractor represents and warrants that the tickets and related materials, goods and services shall be 
merchantable. 

7.4 The Contractor represents and warrants that title to the materials conveyed to the Lottery shall be good and that 
transfer of title is rightful and that the materials shall be delivered free of any security interest or other lien or 
encumbrance. 

3 



7.5 The Contractor represents and warrants that it has the right to enter into and to fully perform this Agreement upon the 
terms and conditions specified and that it has not granted and will not grant any right or interest to any person or entity 
which might derogate, encumber, or interfere with the rights granted to the Lottery. 

7.6 The Contractor represents and warrants that any tickets and related services provided will be new and unused and 
free of defects in material, design and workmanship. 

7.7 The Contractor represents and warrants that all services provided shall be performed in a prompt, competent and 
workmanlike manner by properly trained individuals in accordance with the highest standards of the Contracto~s 
profession. 

7.8 The Contractor represents and warrants that the goods and services produced as a result of this Agreement shall be 
free and clear of any lien or claim by any party at the time of delivery to the Lottery. 

7.9 The Contractor expressly represents and warrants to the standards in the industry all aspect of the goods and 
services provided by it or used by the Contractor and the Loltery in performance of this Agreement. 

7.10 The Contractor also represents and warrants that the design, manufacture and sale or use by the Lottery of 
materials provided by the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement will not infringe on any intellectual property rights of any 
other person or entity. 

7.11 The Contractor represents and warrants that the production, design, and use by the Lottery of tickets and related 
materials, goods and services provided by the Contractor will not infringe on any patent, trademark, copyright, trademark, 
service mark, trade secret or other right held by any third party; provided, however, that the Contractor need provide no 
such warranty for information, data, designs, processes, inventions, techniques, devices, and other such intellectual 
property furnished to Contractor by the Lottery. 

7.12 The Contractor represents and warrants that the tickets and related goods and services provided shall meet each 
and every requirement and specification of this Agreement exactly as specified In this Agreement, the Customer 
Specifications and Working Papers executed pursuant to this Agreement. 

7.13 The Contractor represents and warrants that it has not made any misrepresentations to the Lottery related to this 
Agreement or the products and services to be provided pursuant to this Agreement. "Misrepresentations" include material 
omissions. 

SECTION 8. COMPENSATION. 

8.1 Pricing Matrix. The pricing matrix for the goods and services described in Schedule A is set forth In Schedule B. 
Travel and per diem expenses are treated as items of overhead and are not compensable as a separate item under this 
Agreement. The pricing matrix does not prohibit or limit the Lottery from negotiating a lower price. 

8.2 Payment to Contractor. This Agreement is based upon a Price-Per-Thousand Basis, in that the Lottery agrees to 
pay to Contractor, as Contractor's sole compensation hereunder, for the actual number of conforming instant tickets 
delivered which do not exceed the delivery tolerance. 

The Lottery will pay for tickets which conform to all of the specifications of this Agreement, Customer Specifications and 
the Working Papers, which are billable to the Loltery under this Agreement within sixty (60} days after the "acceptance" of 
the tickets by the Lottery. "Acceptance" by the Lottery occurs only after the Lottery has inspected the delivered tickets 
and receives the Game Audit Report (for original orders only, not reorders). The Lottery will Inspect the tickets received to 
determine if they are acceptable within five (5} working days of receipt of the tickets if reasonably possible, but in all 
events inspection shall be made within ten (10} working days of receipt of the tickets. If the tickets are not rejected within 
the ten (10} working day inspection period they shall be deemed "accepted". The Lottery's receipt of the Game Audit 
Report described in Schedule A, section 3.5.14 of this Agreement must be received by the Lottery not later than Fourteen 
(14} calendar days after the game delivery date. For purposes of construing this Section, "working days" do not include 
Saturdays, Sundays, or legal holidays of the state of Iowa. 

4 



"Acceptance" by the Lottery pursuant to this Section is only for the purpose of making payment to the Contractor and does 
not prevent the Lottery from later rejecting tickets based upon a defect which is discovered at a later date. 

The sum remitted by the Lottery will be based upon the price shown for the game ordered in the Working Papers. 

Acceptance by the Lottery pursuant to this Section does not prevent the Lottery from returning tickets to the Contractor or 
later seeking any legal or equitable remedy against the Contractor if at any time the Lottery determines that tickets or 
materials do not conform to each and every requirement of this Agreement. 

The Lottery shall pay all approved invoices in arrears and in conformance with Iowa Code Section 8A.514 and IliAC§ 
41.1 (2). The Lottery may vary the terms of this provision by paying the bill for services in less than 60 days as provided in 
Iowa Code Section 8A.514. However, an election to pay In less than 60 days shall not act as an implied waiver of Iowa 
Code Section 8A.514. 

8.3 Set-Off Against Sums Owed by Contractor. In the event that the Contractor owes the Lottery or the State of Iowa 
any sum under the terms of this Agreement, any other Agreement, pursuant to any judgment, or pursuant to any law, the 
Lottery may set off the sum owed to the Lottery or the State against any sum billed to the Lottery by the Contractor in the 
Lottery's sole discretion unless otherwise required by law. 

8.4 State not to be Obligated. Pursuant to Iowa Code Section 99G.38, the funds of the state of Iowa, as opposed to the 
funds of the Iowa Lottery Authority, are not available to meet the obligations of the Lottery that may arise from this 
Agreement. 

8.5 Payments to Lottery. In the event that the Contractor owes the Lottery any sum under the terms of this Agreement, 
the Contractor will remit such sum to the Lottery within thirty (30) calendar days of written notification by the Lottery that 
such sum is owed. 

8.6 Suspension of Payment. The Lottery may suspend all or part of the payment to the Contractor if the Contractor fails 
to perform as required by this Agreement until such time as the Contractor renders satisfactory performance. The amount 
of the payment suspended shall be reasonably calculated by the Lottery to represent only that part of the Contractor's 
payment which is attributable to the work not satisfactorily performed. The determination as to whether the Contractor is 
in compliance with this Agreement shall be within the discretion of the Lottery. 

8.7 Taxes. The Contractor and its subcontractors, may be subject to certain taxes, including but not limited to sales tax, 
motor vehicle fuel tax, personal or corporate income tax or other taxes or assessments, and to licensing fees or other 
miscellaneous fees or charges which may be imposed by federal, state, or local law or ordinance. The Contractor and its 
subcontractors shall be solely responsible for paying any taxes incurred In the performance of this Agreement. The 
Contractor shall promptly pay all such taxes, fees or charges when due. The Lottery is a tax-exempt entity and no 
payment will be made for any taxes levied on the Contractor for any purpose. 

SECTION 9. DEFAULT AND TERMINATION. 

9.1 Termination for Cause. Either party may terminate this Agreement upon written notice for the breach by the other 
party of a material term, if such breach is not cured, provided that a cure is feasible within 10 days following receipt of 
written notice of breach from the non-breaching party. Breach events include but are not limited to the following: 

a) Contractor fails to perform as required by this Agreement; or 
b) Contractor fails to make substantial and timely progress toward performance or fails to meet any of the 

material specifications and requirements of this Agreement, including without limitation the representations 
and warranties provided in this Agreement; or 

c) Lottery fails to perform as required by this Agreement including failure to make timely payment for goods and 
services rendered. 

9.2 Notice of Cure. If a cure is feasible and an opportunity to cure Is provided, the notice shall specify the exact date by 
which the condition must be cured. Following expiration of the opportunity to cure and notice from the non-breaching 
party, the non-breaching party may seek any legal or equitable remedy authorized by this Agreement or by law. 

5 



9.3 Immediate Termination. The Lottery may terminate this Agreement, effective immediately without advance notice 
and without penalty or legal liability for any of the following reasons: 

If the Contractor furnished any statement, representation, warranty or certification in connection with this Agreement, 
which is materially false, deceptive, incorrect or incomplete; or 

a) If the Contractor fails to perform, to the Lottery's satisfaction, any material requirement of this Agreement or is 
in violation of any material provision of this Agreement, including, without limitation, the express warranties 
made by the Contractor; or 

b) If the Lottery determines that satisfactory performance of this Agreement is substantially endangered or that a 
default is likely to occur; or 

c) If the Contractor becomes subject to any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding under federal or state law to 
the extent allowed by applicable state or federal law including bankruptcy laws; or 

d) If the Contractor terminates or suspends its business; or 
e) If the Lottery reasonably believes that the Contractor has become insolvent or unable to pay its obligations as 

they accrue consistent with applicable federal or state law; or 
f) If an officer, director or employee in contact with the Lottery's account is or has been convicted of a felony, 

any gambling related offense whether a misdemeanor or felony, or of any state or federal Racketeer 
Influenced or Corrupt Organization Act (RICO) by a court of competent jurisdiction; or 

g) If a lawsuit is filed against Contractor claiming that the Contractor's processes or materials violate any valid 
patent, trademark, copyright, other intellectual property right or contract, and the Lottery reasonably believes 
that the lawsuit may Impair the Contractor's performance of this Agreement; or 

h) If during the course of this Agreement, the Contractor sells instant tickets to others having reason to know that 
the other person intends to sell the tickets illegally in any jurisdiction; or 

i) If during the course of this Agreement any action by the Contractor interferes with the Lottery's relationship 
with its licensed retailers, or promotes products or distribution systems that compete with authorized Lottery 
products or distribution systems. 

If cancellation occurs for any of the causes set forth above, the Lottery shall have no further obligation to the Contractor 
other than payment for services rendered and materials provided prior to cancellation. Payment will be made only upon 
submission of invoices and proper proof of the Contractor's claim. This provision in no way limits the remedies available 
to the Lottery in the event of a termination under this provision. 

9.4 Termination for Lack of Authority or Funding. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, and 
subject to the limitations, conditions, and procedures set forth below, the Lottery shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement without penalty by giving sixty (60) days written notice if any of the following contingencies occur: 

• If the Lottery's authorization to operate is withdrawn or there is a material alteration in the programs the Lottery 
administers; or 

• if Lottery's duties are substantially modified. 

9.5 Waiver. Any breach or default by either party shall not be waived or released other than by a writing signed by the 
other party. Failure by either party at any time to require performance by the other party or to claim a breach of any 
provision of the Agreement shall not be construed as affecting any subsequent breach or the right to require performance 
with respect thereto or to claim a breach with respect thereto. Only the following persons may execute a waiver of a term 
of this Agreement on behalf of the Lottery: the Lottery CEO, the Executive Vice President, Vice President of Finance or 
the Vice President of Security. 

9.6 Remedies of Contractor. In the event of termination of this Agreement the Contractor shall be paid for services 
completed prior to termination upon submission of invoices and proper proof of claim, for services and materials provided 
to the Lottery prior to cancellation and for reasonable industrial costs of work-in-progress. 

9.7 No Release of Obligation. The expiration or termination of this Agreement for any cause shall not release either 
party from: 

a) Any obligations and duties remaining under any order accepted by the Contractor prior to such expiration or 
termination; 

6 



b) Any liability which at the time of expiration or termination has already accrued to the other party, or, which 
thereafter may accrue In respect to any event prior to expiration or termination; or 

c) Any liability from any obligation that survives expiration or termination. 

SECTION 10. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES. 

The Lottery and the Contractor agree that it would be extremely Impractical and difficult to determine actual damages 
which the Lottery will sustain in the event of a breach by the Contractor. The Lottery and the Contractor further agree that 
the goods and services to be provided under the Contract are not readily available on the open market and any breach by 
the Contractor will delay and disrupt the Lottery's operations and will result in damages. Therefore, the parties agree that 
the liquidated damages as specified are reasonable and are not to be construed as a penalty. 

In no case shall liquidated damages be measured in terms of potential lost revenue or potential lost net profit to the 
Lottery, unless and to the extent that a court of competent jurisdiction should determine that a liquidated damages 
provision is unenforceable as a matter of law. 

Assessment of liquidated damages shall be in addition to, and not In lieu of, such other remedies as may be available to 
the Lottery. Except and to the extent expressly provided herein, the Lottery shall be entitled to recover liquidated damages 
under each and every section applicable to any given breach, occurrence or incident. The failure to impose liquidated 
damages in one instance does not waive the Lottery's future claims for liquidated damages. 

10.1 Notification of Liquidated Damages. Upon determination that liquidated damages are to be or may be assessed, 
the Lottery shall notify the Contractor of the assessment in writing. There is no time limit in which the Lottery must make 
this notification. The availability of any period of cure will depend on the situation and will be in the sole discretion of the 
Lottery. 

10.2 Delivery of Non-conforming Tickets. 

Condition-
After any lest or inspection conducted by the Lottery, no more than 5 percent (5%) of the tickets of any particular game 
may fail to meet the requirements contained in the Working Papers. The Lottery will have the sole right to reject the non
conforming tickets or the entire order containing the non-conforming tickets. If the quantity of non-conforming tickets is 
such that the rejection of the tickets does not interrupt the scheduled sale of the game, the Contractor shall refund any 
purchase price paid for the non-conforming tickets and any related expenses or pay a minimum isolated pack fee. 

The Contractor will be responsible for all costs and expenses related to the replacement, return or destruction of non
conforming tickets. The risk of loss on non-conforming tickets remains with the Contractor at all times prior to and after 
rejection and does not pass to the Lottery upon initial acceptance by the Lottery. If the quantity of non-conforming tickets 
is such that the game is terminated, interrupted or delayed, and the Contractor's failure to deliver conforming tickets will 
interfere with the Lottery's ability to maximize sales, liquidated damages may be assessed at the option of the Lottery. 

Reasonable Expenses Reimbursement -
The Lottery may require Contractor to pay a minimum of $500 per incident as a non-conforming isolated pack fee. In the 
event of excessive multiple non-conforming isolated packs, the Lottery may require Contractor to pay the actual purchase 
price plus any related expenses. 

Since the damages accruing to the Lottery for lost sales will be difficult or impossible to ascertain, the Lottery may require 
the Contractor to pay as liquidated damages five thousand dollars ($5,000) per calendar day that the Lottery is unable to 
sell tickets of the game as originally scheduled and beginning with the fifteenth (15) calendar day the Lottery may require 
the Contractor to pay liquidated damages of seven thousand-five hundred dollars ($7,500) per calendar day for each day 
that tickets are not sold as scheduled. 

10.3 Over-redemption. 

7 



Condition· 
If over-redemption occurs, the Lottery, at its discretion, may require the Contractor to pay for all prize liabilities Incurred 
that are attributable to over-redemption in addition to any damages with respect to the delivery of nonconforming tickets. 
If over-redemption occurs, the Lottery, at its discretion, may require the Contractor to reimburse the Lottery for all prize 
liabilities incurred which are attributable to over-redemption and to indemnify the Lottery. 

If a game is interrupted as a result of over-redemption, the Contractor shall take all reasonable steps, including the 
payment of overtime, to ensure that the Lottery obtains replacement tickets in the shortest possible time. The Lottery will 
not be charged for any additional expenses incurred to facilitate the expedited delivery of replacement tickets. 

The Contractor's liability for over-redemption shall extend to all instances of over-redemption Including. instances 
discovered after the expiration, cancellation or termination of the contract. Over-redemption will be considered a material 
breach of the contract and the Lottery may cancel the contract or seek any other legal or equitable remedy available by 
the contract or authorized by law. 

Reasonable Expenses Reimbursement • 
To determine the prize liability attributable to over-redemption a prize consisting of a free ticket in any game shall be 
valued at 60 percent (60%) of the retail sale price of a ticket and a product prize shall be valued at cost to the Lottery. 

If the Lottery interrupts a game due to over-redemption as defined above, the Lottery may require the Contractor to 
reimburse the Lottery for the aggregate of the Lottery's purchase price from the Contractor of any tickets not sold by the 
Lottery due to the interruption of the game and the expenses of the Lottery. 

The Lottery may require the Contractor to reimburse the Lottery's expenses on a proportionate basis which reflects the 
relationship which the number of tickets unsold has to the number of tickets ordered in the game. In determining the 
percentage of tickets sold and unsold, the total, delivered quantity shall be used, unless all deliveries have not yet been 
made, in which case, the ordered quantity shall be used. In either case, the Lottery shall pay only for tickets actually sold 
to the public. 

10.4 Damages for Late Delivery. In the event of a delay in the delivery of tickets, the Lottery may require the Contractor 
to pay liquidated damages of five thousand dollars ($5,000) per calendar day that the Contractor does not fully meet the 
delivery schedule in Working Papers for the first fourteen (14) calendar days during which the schedule is not met. 
Beginning with the fifteenth (15) calendar day following the scheduled delivery date, the Contractor will pay liquidated 
damages of seven thousand-five hundred dollars ($7,500) per calendar day for each day the schedule in the Working 
Papers Is not met. Late deliveries will be considered a material breach of the contract and the Lottery may cancel the 
contract or seek any other legal or equitable remedy available by the contract or authorized by law. 

10.5 Payment of Liquidated Damages. Liquidated damages will be due within thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of 
notice from the Lottery that the damages have been incurred by the Contractor unless otherwise agreed to by the Lottery. 
If the required payment is not received by the Lottery within this time frame, the Lottery may withhold sums due to the 
contractor under this or any other agreement and if sufficient funds are unavailable to the Lottery to satisfy the amount 
owed, the Lottery may call the required performance bond to satisfy the liquidated damages amount. 

10.6 Remedies. The remedies provided throughout this Agreement including, without limitation, the remedies associated 
with the receipt of non-conforming tickets, late delivery and over-redemption, are not intended to be exclusive and do not 
prevent either party from seeking any other legal or equitable remedy provided by applicable law or this Agreement. 

11. FORCE MAJEURE. 

A force majeure occurrence is an event or effect that cannot be reasonably anticipated, prevented or controlled and 
without the fault or negligence of the non-performing party. As herein used, force majeure may include, but is not limited 
to fire, explosion, Act of God, strike or labor disturbance, rationing, war, terrorism, act of any governmental authority or 
agency, civil disturbance, governmental interference, or any other cause which is beyond the control of the party affected, 
and which, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, said party is unable to prevent or to predict or through advance 
planning avoid. Except as otherwise provided herein, neither the Contractor nor the Lottery shall be liable to the other for 
any delay in, or failure of performance of, any covenant contained herein nor shall any such delay or failure of 

8 



performance constitute default hereunder, to the extent that such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. The 
existence of such causes of delay or failure shall extend the schedule for performance to such extent as may be 
necessary to complete performance in the exercise of reasonable diligence after the causes of delay or failure have been 
removed. 

Any such delay in or failure of performance shall not in and of itself give rise to any liability for damages; however, the 
Lottery may elect to terminate the Contract for cause should its continuing operations, in its sole judgment, be materially 
threatened or harmed by reason of extended delay or failure of performance. During any such period, the Contractor shall 
continue to be responsible for all costs and expenses related to alternative performance. The Contractor shall not be 
relieved of its responsibility for any obligation being performed by a subcontractor or supplier of services unless the 
subcontractor or supplier is prevented from timely performance by a force majeure as described here. 
The party asserting force majeure must provide the other party with reasonable information substantiating the basis for 
such assertion. Force majeure does not include financial difficulties of the Contractor or any parent, subsidiary, affiliated 
or associated company of the Contractor or claims or court orders which restrict the Contractor's ability to deliver the 
goods or services contemplated by this Agreement. 

If a force majeure delays or prevents the Contractor's performance, the Contractor shall immediately commence to use its 
commercially reasonable efforts to directly provide alternate and to the extent possible, comparable performance. 
Comparability of performance and the possibility of comparable performance shall be reasonably determined solely by the 
Lottery. Any such delay in or failure of performance shall not in and of itself give rise to any liability for damages; 
however, the Lottery may elect to terminate the Contract for cause should its continuing operations, in its sole judgment, 
be materially threatened or harmed by reason of extended delay or failure of performance. 

During any such period, the Contractor shall continue to be responsible for all costs and expenses related to alternative 
performance. During a period of non-performance due to force majeure, payments from the Lottery to the Contractor will 
be suspended. 

Neither the Contractor nor the Lottery shall be liable to the other for any delay or failure of performance of this Agreement 
and no delay or failure of performance shall constitute a default or give rise to any liability for damages if and only to the 
extent that, such delay or failure is caused by a force majeure. 

SECTION 12. INSURANCE. 

12.1 Insurance. 

The Contractor shall maintain insurance providing coverage for the claims set forth below which may arise out of or result 
from the Contractor's operations under the Contract, whether such operations be by the Contractor or by any 
subcontractor or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may 
be liable: 

a. Claims under workers' compensation, occupational disease disablement, disability benefits and other similar employee 
benefits acts. 
b. Claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of any person, including 
Contractor's employees. 
c. Claims for damages because of injury to or destruction of tangible property, including any resulting loss of use. 
Errors and Omissions Insurance that will indemnify the Lottery and the State of Iowa for any losses incurred or any other 
error or omission caused by the Contractor, its officers, employees, agents, subcontractors or assigns regardless of 
negligence. 

12.2 Insurance Coverages. Specific coverage requirements are listed below. Dollar amounts defined below are 
minimums and the Contractor must purchase and maintain these minimum insurance coverages. 

a. Property Insurance. Insurance on all buildings, fixtures and equipment provided or used in the production of instant 
tickets must be maintained in the amount of actual replacement cost thereof. This policy must insure personal property 
including contents and equipment against fire, flood, and all other insurable hazards. 

9 

I 
I 



b. General Liability Insurance. Commercial General Liability and Property Damages Insurance with limits of not less 
than $2,000,000 combined single limit for Bodily Injury and Property Damage per occurrence and $1,000,000 Aggregate. 

c. Professional Liability and Errors and Omissions Insurance. Amount: $1,000,000. 

d. Automobile Bodily Injury and Liability Insurance. Insurance with a combined single limit of not less than 
$1,000,000. 

e. Workers' Compensation Insurance. To cover all of Contractor's employees during the term of the contract In 
accordance with Iowa statutes, or other applicable worker's compensation laws. 

Professional Liability and Errors and Omissions Insurance must indemnify the Lottery, its directors, officers and 
employees, and the State for direct or indirect loss due to any error or omission caused by the Contractor and coverage 
must continue until one (1) year past the term of the Contract. 

All other insurances required by this section must be effective upon execution of the Contract and continue in full force 
and effect throughout the term of the Contract. The Lottery must receive thirty (30) days advance written notice of 
cancellation, termination, or failure to renew any policy. 

12.3 Certificates of Insurance. Certificates of insurance must be furnished to the Lottery no later than thirty (30) days 
following Contract execution, with renewal certificates provided each year thereafter. The Lottery will be named as an 
additional insured on all Certificates of Insurance as allowable. 

SECTION 13. BONDS. 

13.1 Bonds and Insurance Qualifications. All required bonds and insurance must be issued by companies which are 
rated A- (Excellent) or higher by A.M. Best Company. All such companies must be approved by the Lottery and have a 
record of successful continuous operation, and be licensed, admitted, and authorized to do business in the State of Iowa, 
except for the Contractor's errors and omissions insurance policy. Required bonds and coverage must be put into effect 
as of the effective date of the Agreement and must remain in effect throughout the term of the Agreement, as determined 
by the Lottery. The Contractor must submit certificates of Insurance and copies of each required bond, and any renewals 
thereof, to the Lottery. The insurance policies must provide thirty (30) days advance written notice of cancellation, 
termination or failure to renew any policy. 

13.2 Performance Bond. The Contractor shall provide to the Lottery, a performance bond, irrevocable Letter of Credit, 
or other form of security acceptable to the Lottery in the amount of two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) during 
the term of the Agreement. The bond shall be provided to the Lottery within ten (1 0) business days of execution of the 
Agreement. The performance bond shall bind the Contractor to fully and faithfully perform its obligations under the 
Agreement, and provide payment to the Lottery if the Contractor defaults in the performance of the Agreement or has 
caused or incurred any uncompensated liquidated damages. 

The performance bond may be used to satisfy liquidated damages payments due the Lottery that have not been received 
within thirty (30) calendar days after written notice of liquidated damage occurrence has been given to the Contractor by 
the Lottery. 

Other forms of security may be acceptable but are subject to the Lottery's discretion and approval. Failure to post an 
additional bond or security within seven (7) business days after notice that proposed security is Inadequate, shall be 
grounds for immediate termination of the Agreement. 

The Contractor shall pay the cost of the bond. In the event that the Contractor or any subcontractor or any officer, 
director, employee or agent of the Contractor or any subcontractor or any parent or subsidiary corporation of the 
Contractor or subcontractor fails to fully and faithfully perform a material requirement of this Contract, including without 
limitation the Contractor's obligation to indemnify the Lottery and pay damages to the Lottery, the Lottery may claim 
against the bond in the amount of any damages as reasonably determined by the Lottery. The bond may be renewable 
annually. Neither non-renewal by the Surety, nor failure or Inability of the Contractor to file a replacement bond in the 
event the Surety exercises its right to not renew this bond, shall itself constitute a loss to the Obligee recoverable under 

10 



this bond or any extension thereof. The bond shall be in a form customarily used in the lottery Industry and shall be 
written by a Surety authorized to do business in Iowa and that is reasonably acceptable to the Lottery. The bond shall be 
in effect at all times during the term of the Agreement and any extensions or renewals thereof and for ninety (90) days 
following the conclusion of the Agreement. The Contractor warrants that it will maintain the required performance bond 
coverage as described herein without any lapse in coverage. 

13.3 Letter of Credit as Performance Security. 

(a) The Lottery will allow an irrevocable Letter of Credit as performance security to be provided. The Contractor shall 
maintain an irrevocable Letter of Credit, in the amount of USD $250,000.00 with payment in favor of the Lottery as 
provided herein. Any irrevocable Letter of Credit submitted must be in the form and include lang·uage substantially similar 
to the language provided as Appendix H of the RFP. The irrevocable Letter of Credit includes any amendments, additions, 
or replacement letters (collectively referred to as "Letter of Credir') and shall be issued by a financial institution that is well 
capitalized pursuant to Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or National Credit Union Administration (NCUA) 
guidelines, that is FDIC or NCUA insured, that is registered to do business in the State of Iowa, and that has a physical 
presence in Iowa ("Issuing Bank"). If at any time the Issuing Bank fails to satisfy these requirements for any reason, 
Contractor shall obtain a substituted irrevocable Letter of Credit from another Institution. Contractor shall pay the cost of 
maintaining the irrevocable Letter of Credit. 
(b) Delivery and Duration. The Contractor shall deliver the irrevocable Letter of Credit, original in form, to the Lottery 
before performing any services pursuant to the Contract, and in all cases no later than fifteen (15) calendar days following 
final execution of this Agreement. The irrevocable Letter of Credit shall be in place for the term of this Agreement and any 
extensions or renewals thereof. A lapse of the irrevocable Letter of Credit will be a material breach of the Agreement. 
(c) Nonrenewal of Letter of Credit. In the event the Lottery receives a Notice of Non-Renewal from the Issuing Bank, the 
Contractor must provide a substituted irrevocable Letter of Credit for the next contract year no later than sixty (60) 
calendar days prior to the expiration of the Letter of Credit then In effect. Any substituted irrevocable Letter of Credit 
submitted must be in the form and include language substantially similar to the language provided as Appendix H to the 
RFP. 
(d) Rights to Draw on the Letter of Credit. The Lottery shall have the right to draw upon the Letter of Credit in one or more 
drawings for either a portion or the full amount upon occurrence of any of the following events: (i) the Agreement has been 
terminated by the Lottery for cause; (ii) the Contractor is in default under the terms of the Agreement and any notice 
period provided in a notice of default has expired; or (iii) the Contractor is in default under the terms of the Agreement and 
the issuance of a notice of the default is barred or stayed by law; or (lv) the Contractor fails to make payments due to the 
Lottery that have not been received within thirty (30) calendar days after written notice of liquidated damage occurrence 
has been provided to the Contractor by the Lottery. The Lottery may draw upon the Letter of Credit as often as any of the 
foregoing events occur up to the full amount of the Letter of Credit. 
(e) Amendment. Contractor shall promptly cause the Letter of Credit to be amended if the Lottery reasonably requests an 
amendment, such as to change the address for notices. If the Letter of Credit is lost, stolen, or damaged, Contractor shall 
cooperate with Lottery to replace such Letter of Credit. 

13.4 Fidelity Coverage. The Contractor shall evidence fidelity coverage through a certificate of insurance for Employee 
Dishonesty coverage in the amount of two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) to the Lottery within ten (10) days of 
execution of the Agreement. Subject to the Lottery making a valid claim, the coverage shall cover any loss or damage to 
the Lottery due to any fraudulent or dishonest act on the part of the Contractor's officers and employees. Such an event, 
In the sole discretion of the Lottery, could be grounds for termination of the Agreement, whether or not the losses or 
damages arising as a result of the act or event are paid under the fldelity bond or insurance. If a subcontractor is not 
covered by the Contractor's policy the Contractor must ensure the subcontractors have their own coverage. 

The Contractor shall pay the cost of the coverage. The coverage shall provide funds to the Lottery in the event that the 
Contractor or Lottery suffers any liability, loss, damage, or expense as a result of any fraudulent or dishonest act or 
omission of the Contractor or any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Contractor, which occurs during the term of the 
bond regardless of the date the act or omission is discovered, or a claim is made. The coverage shall be in an Employee 
Dishonesty form customarily used in the lottery industry, and shall be written by an insurance company authorized to do 
business in Iowa and that is acceptable by the Lottery. This coverage shall be in effect at all times during the term of the 
Agreement and any extensions or renewals thereof and for one (1) year following the conclusion of the Agreement. The 
Contractor warrants that it will maintain the required fidelity coverage as described herein without any lapse In coverage. 

II 



13.5 Provision of Bonds. Failure on the part of the Contractor to furnish such bonds, or other proof of bond coverage 
acceptable to the Lottery within ten (10) days of contract execution, or to maintain the bonds in full force and effect during 
the term of the Agreement and any extension or renewal thereof, shall be a material breach of the Agreement and shall be 
considered cause for the Lottery to declare the Contractor in default under this Agreement. The Lottery's receipt of such 
bonds or other proof of coverage does not constitute approval of the bonds' coverage nor do the bonds relieve the 
Contractor from the faithful and honest performance of the Agreement or relieve the Contractor of any losses greater than 
the bond amount. 

SECTION 14. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY. 

14.1 Tille to, Use of, and Compensation for, Intellectual Property 
To the extent Contractor utilizes or relies upon third-party Intellectual Property Rights in fulfilling its obligations under the 
Contract, the Contractor will represent that it has the valid right to use such intellectual property right. In addition, in the 
event of failure to perform or breach of contract the Contractor must ensure continued right of use of licensed Intellectual 
property by the Lottery. 

The Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the State of Iowa, the Lottery, the Lottery's officers and directors, 
employees, staff, other Lottery Vendors, retailers, and all agents, employees, officers and directors thereof, from and 
against any and all claims, damages, fees and expenses (including any attorneys' fees and including reasonable value of 
time for the Attorney General's Office) arising from or related to any claims that any or all of the products or services 
provided by the Contractor under the contract violate the Intellectual Property Rights of a third party. 

While the Lottery and the Contractor agree that Intellectual Property associated with any product or service provided by 
(or developed solely by) the Contractor during the term of this Contract and used by the Lottery will remain the property of 
the Contractor, the Contractor will grant a license or authority to the Lottery to make use of any Intellectual Property 
owned by the Contractor with respect to Lottery conduct of games and business until the latter of the following: contract 
expiration or the end of a game utilizing the license. There shall be no additional charge for this right of the Lottery. 

The Contractor obligation under this Section shall not extend to any liability caused by (a) the negligence of or the 
unauthorized use by the Lottery, the state of Iowa, or its agents, officials or employees, or any act or omission of a third 
party, not a subcontractor of the Contractor. 

The Lottery's trademarks, trade names and service marks used on materials produced will remain the sole property of the 
Lottery and shall be reproduced exactly as specified by the Lottery. The Lottery's marks shall not be used on any 
materials other than those authorized by the Lottery. 

14.2 Lottery Trademarks, Service Marks, and Trade Names. Lottery trademarks, including game names, trade names 
and service marks used on materials produced pursuant to this Agreement shall remain the sole property of the Lottery. 
The Contractor shall not use these marks or names on products sold to any person or entity other than the Lottery. The 
Lottery's marks and specifications concerning the marks shall be provided to the Contractor by the Lottery. Lottery marks 
and names shall be reproduced exactly as specified by the Lottery and only in the quantity specified. 

14.3 Warranty Regarding Intellectual Property Rights. The Contractor will warrant that, in the performance of this 
Agreement, Contractor's work product and the information, data, designs, processes, inventions, techniques, devices, and 
other such intellectual property furnished, used, or relied upon by Contractor will not Infringe any copyright, patent, 
trademark, trade dress or other intellectual property right of Contractor or others; provided, however, that the Contractor 
need provide no such warranty for information, data, designs, processes, inventions, techniques, devices, and other such 
intellectual property furnished to Contractor by the Lottery. 

14.4 Trademark Searches. The Contractor, at Contractor's expense, shall be required to obtain a state and a federal 
trademark search or trade name search from competent legal counsel for the name selected for each game before 
approval of final Working Papers for each game and related promotion. A written opinion from competent trademark 
counsel must be submitted to the Lottery indicating that it is appropriate for the Lottery to use the name selected. 

12 



An electronic version of the written opinion from competent trademark counsel must be submitted to the Lottery prior to 
the Lottery's signature of executed Working Papers for every game. Within thirty (30) calendar days of Contractor's 
receipt of signed executed paper, the Contractor must send the original version of the trademark letter via a delivery 
service which requires a signature as proof of delivery to the Lottery. 

14.5 Infringement of Trademarks, Patents, Copyrights and Other Proprietary Rights. 
a) The Contractor represents and warrants that all the concepts and materials produced, or provided to the 
Lottery pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, including the copy and artwork submitted to the Lottery in the 
Working Papers, shall be wholly original with the Contractor or that the Contractor has secured all applicable 
interests, rights, licenses, permits, or other intellectual property rights in such concepts and materials. 

b) The Contractor represents and warrants that the concepts and materials and the Lottery's use of the materials 
and the exercise by the Lottery of the rights granted by this Agreement shall not infringe upon any other work, 
other than material provided by the Lottery to the Contractor to be used as a basis for such materials, or violate 
the rights of publicity or privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person, firm or corporation and that 
the materials will not infringe upon the copyright, trademark, trade name, literary, dramatic, statutory, common law 
or any other rights of any person, firm or corporation or other entity. 

c) The Contractor represents and warrants that, in the performance of this Agreement, the Contractor's work 
product and the information, data, designs, processes, inventions, techniques, devices, and other such intellectual 
property furnished, used, or relied upon by the Contractor will not infringe any copyright, patent, trademark, trade 
dress or other intellectual property right of the Contractor or others. 

d) The Contractor also represents and warrants that the design and method of manufacture of materials provided 
pursuant to this Agreement shall not infringe on any patent. 

14.6 Product Information Supplied by Lottery. The Lottery shall be responsible for the accuracy and completeness of 
the information it supplies to the Contractor concerning the games it is seeking from Contractor. 

14.7 Approval of Materials by Contractor. The Lottery's approval of materials submitted by the Contractor shall not be 
construed as relieving the Contractor of any of its responsibilities under this Agreement. 

14.8 Possession of Copies. Upon request, the Contractor shall deliver to the Lottery and the Lottery may retain all 
copies of all materials produced as a result of or in accordance with this Agreement, subject to any obligations of 
confidentiality or notices associated with materials clearly so identified. 

SECTION 15. INDEMNIFICATION. 

The Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify and hold the Slate of Iowa and the Lottery, its employees, agents, board 
members, appointed officials and elected officials, harmless from any and all liabilities, damages, loss, claims, suits or 
actions, settlements, judgments, costs and expenses, including reasonable value of lime for the Attorney General's Office, 
and the costs and expenses and attorney fees of other counsel required to defend the Lottery, related to or arising from: 

a) Any violation or breach of this Agreement by the Contractor, its employees, or agents;or 
b) Any negligent acts or omissions of Contractor, its officers, employees, agents, board members, contractors, 
subcontractors, or trademark counsel employed by Contractor in the performance of this Agreement; or 
c) Any failure by the Contractor to comply with all local, state and federal laws and regulations; or, 
d) Any failure by the Contractor to make all reports, payments and withholdings required by Federal and State 
law with respect to social security, employee income and other taxes, fees or costs required by the Contractor to 
conduct business in the State of Iowa; 
e) Any event in which a third-party asserts that the Lottery's use of a product, design, and use of ticket product 
provided by Contractor to the Lottery is a violation of such party's rights; provided, however, that Contractor need 
provide no such indemnification for claims which relate solely to information, data, designs, processes, inventions, 
techniques, devices and other such intellectual property furnished to Contractor by the Lottery; or 
f) Any claim, demand, action, citation or legal proceeding arising out of or resulting from a breach by the 
Contractor of any representation or warranty made by the Contractor in the Agreement. 

13 



The Contractor's duty to indemnify shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement and shall apply to all acts 
taken in the performance of this Agreement regardless of the date any potential claim is made or discovered by the 
Lottery. 

SECTION 16. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION. 

16.1 All Confidential information provided shall be clearly marked as Confidential information by the party providing the 
information at the time of disclosure to the other party. The Contractor shall limit such identification to information it 
reasonably believes is entitled to confidential treatment pursuant to the public records provisions of Iowa law. Each party 
shall hold the Confidential information of the other in strictest confidence and, except as previously authorized in writing 
by the other party, (I) shall use the Confidential information only in furtherance of this Agreement, (ii) shall not copy 
Confidential information and (iii) shall not disclose the Confidential Information to any person or entity except those 
employees of the party to whom the information has been disclosed who have a need to know the Confidential 
Information for purposes contemplated by this Agreement. The parties' obligations under this provision do not apply to 
information which: is publicly available or in the public domain when provided; is or becomes publicly available or public 
domain Information through no fault of the recipient of the information subsequent to the time it was provided; is rightfully 
communicated to the recipient of the information by another party; is independently developed by the recipient; or is 
disclosed pursuant to law or the order of a court or government authority. The parties' obligations under this provision 
shall survive the conclusion of this Agreement and shall be perpetual. 

16.2 No private or confidential data collected, maintained, or used in the course of performance of the Agreement shall 
be disseminated except as authorized by statute, either during the period of the Agreement or thereafter. Any data 
supplied to Contractor by the Lottery shall be considered the property of the Lottery. 

16.3 Contractor shall use its best efforts to ensure that the details of the games planned by the Lottery are not disclosed 
to persons or organizations other than the personnel, agents, and subcontractors of Contractor whose assistance is 
necessary for the production of tickets and related materials. In the event that Contractor receives a request for 
information or records concerning the Lottery or its advertising plans, Contractor shall immediately forward the request to 
the Lottery. 

16.4 In the event Contractor receives a request from a third party (other than a subcontractor working on Contractor's 
Lottery account) for information supplied to Contractor by the Lottery, Contractor shall immediately notify the Lottery of the 
request by telephone and email. Contractor shall not release the information subject to the request without the Lottery's 
permission or pursuant to a court order or as may be required by law. 

16.5 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the event a public records request is made to the Lottery 
pursuant to Iowa Code chapter 22 regarding Confidential information, the Lottery shall notify Contractor as soon as 
possible of the request by telephone and email. The Lottery may respond to the request for information not sooner than 7 
days thereafter with a release of the requested information unless Contractor has obtained an injunction preventing 
release of the requested information. 

SECTION 17. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS. 

17.1 Independent Contractor. The status of the Contractor shall be that of an independent contractor. The Contractor, 
its employees, agents and subcontractor performing under this Agreement are not employees or agents of the Lottery. 

The Lottery shall not provide the Contractor with office space, support staff, equipment, tools, or supervision beyond the 
terms of this Agreement. · 

Neither the Contractor nor its employees, agents and subcontractors are eligible for any State employee benefits, 
including but not limited to, retirement benefits, insurance coverage or the like. 

Neither the Contractor nor its employees shall be considered employees of the Lottery or the State of Iowa for federal or 
state tax purposes. The Lottery shall not withhold taxes on behalf of the Contractor (unless required by law). The 
Contractor shall be responsible for payment of all taxes in connection with any income earned from this Agreement. 

14 



Nothing in this Contract shall be construed as creating or constituting the relationship of a partnership, joint venture, (or 
other association of any kind or agenUprincipal relationship) between the parties hereto. No party, unless otherwise 
specifically provided for herein, has the authority to enter into any Contract or create an obligation or liability on behalf of, 
in the name of, or binding upon another party to this Agreement. 

17.2 Prime Contractor Responsibilities. The Contractor shall assume all responsibility for the performance of all 
required services, whether or not subcontractors are involved. The Lottery shall consider the Contractor to be the sole 
point of contact with regard to all matters related to this Agreement and is not required to Initiate or maintain contact with 
any subcontractor. 

17.3 News Releases. News releases pertaining to the Agreement or the services provided thereunder shall not be made 
without prior wrillen Lottery approval, and then only in accordance with the explicit written instructions from the Lottery. 

17.4 Advertising. The Contractor agrees not to use the Lottery name, logos, Images without prior written approval by 
the Lollery. 

17.5 Endorsements. The Contractor will not use any oral or written communication made by any Lottery employee in a 
manner which could be characterized as an endorsement of or advertisement for the Contractor or the Contractor's 
product without the Lollery's prior written consent. 

17.6 Ticket Purchase Restrictions. As stated in Iowa Code Chapter 99G.31(2)(h), "No ticket or share issued by the 
authority shall be purchased by and no prize shall be paid to any officer, employee, agent, or subcontractor of any vendor 
or to any spouse, child, brother, sister, or parent residing as a member of the same household in the principal place of 
residence of any such person if such officer, employee, agent, or subcontractor has access to confidential information 
which may compromise the integrity of the Lollery." The Contractor shall ensure that this requirement is made known to 
each affected individual. 

To ensure compliance with this requirement, the Contractor and its subcontractors shall provide a list of such employees, 
and officers and their respective family members residing in the same household who are currently over the age of 21 
within thirty (30) days of the award of the contract. The list shall include first name, last name, middle initial, address and 
dale of birth. With respect to such employees who reside In the state of Iowa, the list shall also include such employees' 
social security number or other unique personal identification number (Canadian Social Insurance Number) to the extent 
such employee has consented to providing such information. This requirement applies throughout the duration of the 
Contract. 

17.7 Additional Security Requirements. Refer to Schedule A, section 3.4 for additional security requirements as part 
of this Contract. 

17.8 Background Investigations. 

The Lottery may initiate investigations into the backgrounds of any officers, principals, Investors, owners, subcontractors, 
employees, or any other associates of the Contractor it deems appropriate. Upon execution of the contract, the persons 
listed in Schedule D have completed the required background investigation documents. If any irregularities are 
discovered in any background investigation, the Lottery may require the Contractor to provide quarterly reports regarding 
how the Contractor is addressing the irregularities. Throughout the term of this Agreement the Contractor will notify the 
Lottery of any changes In the identity of persons or entities listed on Schedule D. Background investigations required by 
the Lotlery may include fingerprint identification by the Iowa Division of Criminal Investigation, the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation or the appropriate non-U.S. equivalent. The Contractor must consent to cooperate with such investigations, 
and to instruct its employees to cooperate. The Lottery reserves the right to require the removal of any and all employees 
of the Contractor from any responsibility in the performance of services as provided for under this Contract, based upon 
the results of background checks, or if the Lottery finds that any such employee is not performing In the best interest of 
the Lollery. The Lottery may terminate any resulting Contract based upon adverse results of these background checks if 
the Lottery determines that its integrity, security, or goodwill may be in jeopardy. 

15 



The Contractor shall bear all costs and expenses associated with background investigations. The ability to conduct such 
investigations is a continuing right of the Lottery throughout the term of the Contract. 

Upon execution of the contract, the Contractor shall submit and allow, at a minimum, the following security elements: 
a) A list of the names, addresses, dates of birth, and Social Security numbers or other unique personal 
identification number (Canadian Social Insurance Number) of all employees and subcontractors assigned to and 
associated with the Contract. 
b) Notification in writing to the Lottery within ten (10) business days if a person, group of persons, partnership, 
corporation, associate group of investors, limited liability company or other legal entity acquires directly or 
indirectly the beneficial ownership in the amount of five percent (5%) or more of the ownership interest in, or any 
class of equity securities of, the Contractor or the parent company of the Contractor. Background investigation 
and licensing may be required for these new owners and if the investigations are unsatisfactory, the Lottery may, 
at its option, terminate the Contract, after providing thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor. 
c) Unfettered and unannounced access, inspection and evaluation privileges for all phases of performance and 
for all facilities and premises used by the Contractor in fulfillment of the Contract and any extension thereof. 

17.9 Security Violation Reporting. The Contractor shall immediately report via telephone and in writing to the Lottery's 
Vice President of Security, any security procedural violation, system compromise, violation of Jaw (e.g., theft), or 
disappearance of any paper stock, data media, cylinders, tickets, waste, film, printing plates, software or material used or 
to be used in the performance of this Contract. 

17.10 Security Information (Disclosure) Updates. The Contractor shall report any change In, addition to, or deletion 
from, the security information disclosed to the Lottery. The report shall be in the form of a letter addressed to the Lottery 
and shall be delivered to the Lottery's Vice President of Security within thirty (30) days of the effective date of the change, 
addition, or deletion. In particular the Contractor must report the involvement of any of the Contractor's employees, 
owners, or agents in any known criminal arrest (exclusive of minor traffic violations) or investigation. 

17.11 Contractor Ethics and Integrity. The Contractor is obligated to meet high standards for ethics and integrity under 
this Contract. The Contractor and employees: 

a) Shall accept no pay, remuneration, or gratuity of any value for performance on or information derived from this 
project from any party other than the Lottery as described in this Contract, or from any party under contract to the 
Lottery or seeking to contract with the Lottery with respect to this project. 
b) Shall comply with Iowa Code chapter 688, which contains laws which restrict gifts which may be given or 
received by state employees and requires certain individuals to disclose information concerning their activities 
with state government. The Contractor is responsible for determining the applicability of the chapter to their 
activities and for complying with those requirements. In addition, Iowa Code 722.1 provides that it is a felony 
offense to bribe a public official. 
c) Shall not disclose any business sensitive or confidential information gained by virtue of the Contract to any 
party without the explicit written consent of the Lottery. 
d) Shall take no action in the performance of the Contract to create an unfair, unethical, or illegal competitive 
advantage for itself or others. 
e) Shall not have any financial or personal interests relating to this project (other than the Contract itself) without 
the explicit written consent of the Lottery. 

For violation of the above provisions, the Lottery may terminate this Contract, receive restitution from, debar, or take any 
other appropriate actions against the Contractor. 

17.12 Compliance with Association Standards. All services, products, systems, and procedures to be employed by 
the Contractor must comply with the game security and operational standards current at the time of Contract performance 
as issued by any multi-jurisdictional association of which the Lottery is a member or in the event the Lottery becomes a 
member. The Lottery is currently a member of NASPL, WLA and MUSL. 

17.13 Audit and Accounting Requirements. As a continuing requirement of this Contract, the Contractor must meet 
these specific auditing and accounting obligations: 

a) The Contractor shall have a complete corporate financial audit conducted annually, at its own expense. The 
audit must follow generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS), or the appropriate non-U.S. equivalent. A copy 

16 



of the Contractors certified financial statements shall be provided to the Lottery within 180 days after the close of 
the Contractors fiscal year. 
b) The Contractor shall provide the Lottery with Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 10-K and 1 0-Q 
reports (or the appropriate non-U.S. equivalent) as they are issued, together with any other reports required 
pursuant to Section 13 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, through the duration of the 
contract. 
c) The Contractor is required to maintain its books, records and all other information pertaining to the Contract in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) (or the appropriate non-U.S. equivalent) and 
such other procedures specified by the Lottery. These records shall be available to the Lottery, Its internal 
auditors or external auditors (and other designees) at all times during the contract period and for five (5) years 
from the contract expiration date or final payment on the contract, whichever is later. 

SECTION 18. CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION. 

18.1 Assignment and Delegation. The Contractor shall not assign, transfer, convey, or otheJWise dispose of this 
Contract, its duties under this Contract, or any rights, title, or interest in this Contract to any other person, corporation, or 
other entity without the prior written approval of the Lottery and the Lottery Board as required. For purposes of this 
section a transfer or conveyance includes the sale or gift of a five (5) percent equity interest in the Contractor. 

If the Contractor experiences a "material (substantial) change in its ownership or financial condition" during the term of the 
Contract, the Lottery must be notified in writing at the lime the change occurs or is identified. "Material change in 
ownership" Is defined as any merger, acquisition, assignment or change In parties who comprise ownership greater than 
five (5) percent of the Contractor or the parent company of the Contractor. "Material change in financial condition" is 
defined as any event which, following Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), would require a disclosure in the 
annual report of a publicly traded United States corporation. The Lottery must be notified in writing of such event. Refer 
to Section 17.8 for further information regarding background investigations. 

18.2 Records Retention and Access. The Contractor shall maintain books, records, and documents which sufficiently 
and properly document and calculate all charges billed to the Lottery throughout the term of this Contract for a period of at 
least three (3) years following the date of final payment, cancellation, expiration or completion of any required audit, 
whichever is later. 

The Contractor shall retain and maintain all ticket validation, financial, and accounting records, and evidence pertaining to 
this Agreement and to each game offered under the Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles and sound business practice and any other procedures reasonably established by the Lottery. 

The Contractor shall permit the Auditor of the State of Iowa or any authorized representative of the State or any 
authorized representative of the United States government, to access and examine, audit, excerpt and transcribe any 
directly pertinent validation records, financial records, accounting records, books, documents, papers, electronic or 
optically stored and created records or other records of the Contractor relating to or created as a result of the performance 
of this Agreement. These records shall be made available to the Lottery, its designees, the Auditor, or an authorized 
representative of the State or any authorized representative of the United States government at reasonable times and at 
no cost to the Lottery during the term of this Agreement and for a period of (3) years following the termination, cancellation 
or expiration of this Agreement. 

18.3 Choice of Law and Forum. The laws of the State of Iowa shall govern and determine all matters arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement without regard to the choice of law provisions of Iowa law. 

In the event any proceeding of a quasi-judicial or judicial nature is commenced in connection with this Agreement, the 
proceeding shall be brought in Des Moines, iowa, in Polk County District Court for the State of Iowa, if jurisdiction is 
proper. if however jurisdiction is not proper in the iowa District Court, Polk County, but is proper only in a United States 
District Court, the matter shall be commenced in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Iowa, Central 
Division. 

This provision shall not be construed as waiving any immunity to suit or liability, in state or federal court, which may be 
available to the Lottery or the State of Iowa. 

17 



18.4 Compliance with the Law and Regulations. The Contractor shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and 
local laws, rules, ordinances, regulations and orders when performing within the scope of this Agreement, including 
without limitation, all laws applicable to the prevention of discriminalion in employment, the administrative rules of the 
Iowa Department of Management or the Iowa Civil Rights Commission which pertain to equal employment opportunity 
and affirmative action, laws relating to prevailing wages, occupational safety and health standards, prevention of 
discrimination in employment, payment of taxes, gift laws, lobbying laws, laws dealing with the manufacture and 
transportation of gambling related materials and laws relating to the use of targeted small businesses as subcontractors or 
suppliers. 

The Contractor declares that it has complied with all federal, state and local laws regarding business permits and licenses 
that may be required to carry out the work to be performed under this Agreement. 

The Lottery may consider the failure of the Contractor to comply with any law or regulation as a material breach of this 
Agreement. In addition, the Contractor may be declared ineligible for future State contracts or be subjected to other 
sanctions for failure to comply with this section. 

18.5 Covenant Against Contingent Fees. The Contractor warrants that it has not employed or retained any company 
or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for the Contractor, to solicit or secure this Agreement, and that 
it has not paid or agreed to pay any person or entity, other than a bona fide employee working solely for the Contractor, 
any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift, or other consideration on a basis that is contingent upon the award 
of this contract. 

18.6 Cooperation of the Parties. The Contractor and the Lottery agree to cooperate fully, to work In good faith and 
mutually to assist each other in the performance of the Agreement. In this connection, the parties will meet to resolve 
problems associated with the Agreement. Neither party will unreasonably withhold its approval of any act or request of the 
other to which its approval is necessary or desirable. 

18.7 Amendments. This Agreement may be amended in writing from time to time by mutual consent of the parties. All 
amendments to this Agreement must be fully executed by both parties. The only parties authorized to execute 
amendments on behalf of the Lottery are the Lottery CEO, Executive Vice President, Vice President of Finance, or the 
Vice President of Security. 

18.8 Third Party Beneficiaries. There are no third party beneficiaries to this Agreement. This Agreement is intended 
only to benefit the Lottery and the Contractor. 

18.9 Integration. This Agreement, Including all the documents incorporated by reference, represents the entire 
Agreement between the parties and neither party is relying on any representation that may have been made which Is not 
Included in this Agreement. 

18.10 Headings or Captions. The paragraph headings or captions are for identification purposes only and do not limit 
or construe the contents of the paragraphs. 

18.11 Not a Joint Venture. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as creating or constituting the relationship of a 
partnership, joint venture, (or other association of any kind or agenVprincipal relationship) between the parties hereto. 
Each party shall be deemed an independent contractor contracting for services and acting toward the mutual benefits · 
expected to be derived here from. No party, unless otherwise specifically provided for herein, has the authority to enter 
into any agreement or create an obligation or liability on behalf of, in the name of, or binding upon another party to this 
Agreement. 

18.12 Supersedes Former Agreements. This Agreement supersedes all prior Agreements between the Lottery and the 
Contractor for the goods and services provided in connection with this Agreement. 

18.13 Notices. 

18 



Any and all notices, designations, consents, offers, acceptances or any other communication provided for herein shall be 
given in writing by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, by receipted hand delivery, by Federal Express, 
courier or other similar and reliable carrier which shall be addressed to each party as set forth as follows provided, 
however, that notice by email may be made where explicitly provided for in this Agreement: 

If to the Iowa Lottery: 

If to the Contractor: 

Iowa Lottery Authority 
Attn.: Larry Loss 
2323 Grand Ave. 
Des Moines, lA 50312 
Email: Uoss@ialottery.com 

Scientific Games International, Inc. 
Attn.: James Trask 
1500 Bluegrass Lakes Parkway 
Alpharetta, GA 30004 
Email: 
Jim.Trask@scientificgames.com 

Each such notice shall be deemed to have been provided: 
o At the time it is actually received; or, 
o Within one day in the case of overnight hand delivery, courier or services such as Federal Express 

with guaranteed next day of delivery; or, 
o Within five days after deposited the U.S. Mail in the case of registered U.S. Mail. 

Copies of such notice to each party shall be provided separately. From time to time, the parties may change the name 
and address of a party designated to receive notice. Such change of the designated person shall be in writing to the other 
party and as provided herein. 

18.14 Exclusive and Non-Exclusive Rights. The Contract will not be exclusive. The Lottery will reserve the right to 
contract with other Contractors for related services during the Contract term. The Contract does not guarantee that the 
Lottery will print any games with Contractor. 

18.15 Right of Inspection. The Contractor shall allow the Lottery, or anyone specified by the Lottery, to inspect its 
facilities at all reasonable times in order to monitor and evaluate performance or to ensure quality under this Agreement 
subject to Contractor's safety, security and nondisclosure policies and procedures as disclosed to the Lottery. The 
Contractor shall secure a similar right of access for the Lottery from each of its subcontractors or agents providing goods 
or services under this Agreement. 

18.16 Survival of Obligations. Certain obligations imposed on the parties by this Agreement continue beyond the 
expiration, cancellation, or termination of this Agreement as necessary to carry out the intent of the parties. 

Such obligations include, without limitation, each party's obligations to protect the other's Confidential Information, the 
Contractor's obligation to indemnify the Lottery, the Contractor's obligations with respect to over-redemption and non
conforming tickets, the licensing and ownership of intellectual property rights and the Contractor's obligations with respect 
to the retention of records and the maintenance of bonds and insurance. 

18.17 Industry Standards. In the absence of a detailed specification for the performance of any portion of this 
Agreement, the parties agree that the applicable specification shall be the generally accepted industry standard for the 
printing of instant tickets and related services. 

18.18 Cumulative Rights. The various rights, powers, options, elections and remedies of either party, provided in this 
Agreement, shall be construed as cumulative and no one of them is exclusive of the others or exclusive of any rights, 
remedies or priorities allowed either party by law. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as affecting, impairing or 
limiting the equitable or legal remedies to which either party may be entitled as a result of any breach of this Agreement. 

19 



18.19 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or 
unenforceable, the Invalid portion shall be severed from this Agreement. Such a determination shall not affect the validity 
or enforceability of any other part or provision of this Agreement. 

18.20 Authorization. Each party to this Agreement represents and warrants to the other that: 
a) It has the right, power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement. 
b) It has taken all requisite action (corporate, statutory, or otherwise) to approve execution, delivery and 
performance of this Agreement and this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation upon itself In 
accordance with its terms. 
c) This Agreement is contingent upon ratification of the Lottery Board pursuant to Iowa Code Chapter 99G. The 
Lottery does not warrant that the Agreement will be ratified by the Lottery Board. 

18.21 Successors In Interest. All the terms, provisions, and conditions of the Agreement shall be binding upon and 
inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors, assigns, and legal representatives. 

18.22 Counterparts. The parties agree that this Agreement has been or may be executed in several counterparts, each 
of which shall be deemed an original and all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument. 

18.23 Additional Provisions. The parties agree that if an Addendum, Exhibit or Schedule is attached hereto by the 
parties and referred to herein, and then the same shall be deemed incorporated herein by reference. 

18.24 Further Assurances and Corrective Instruments. The parties agree that they will, from time to time, execute, 
acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be executed, acknowledged and delivered, such supplements hereto and such 
further instruments as may reasonably be required for carrying out the expressed intention of this Agreement. 

18.25 Obligations of Joint Entities. If the Contractor is a joint entity, consisting of more than one individual, 
partnership, corporation or other business organization, all such entities shall be jointly and severally liable for carrying out 
the activities and obligations of this agreement and for any default of such activities and obligations. 

18.26 Material Breaches. The references in this Agreement to specific material breaches of this Agreement shall not be 
construed as implying that other breaches of this Agreement are not material. 

18.27 U.S. Dollars. All references in this Agreement to "dollars" are references to U.S. dollars. 

18.28 Consent to Service of Process. The Contractor appoints CT Corporation as its agent to receive service of 
process and consents to service of process by certified or registered mail addressed to CT Corporation, 500 East Court 
Avenue, Des Moines, Iowa 50309. If for any reason the Contractor's agent for service is unable to act as such or the 
address of the agent changes, the Contractor shall immediately appoint a new agent and provide the Lottery with written 
notice of the change in agent or address. Any change in the appointment of the agent or address will be effective only 
upon actual receipt by the Iowa Lottery. Nothing in this provision will affect the right of the Iowa Lottery to serve process 
in any other manner permitted by law. 

18.28 Authorization to do Business In Iowa. The Contractor shall obtain a certificate of authority to do business in 
Iowa and shall take all necessary steps to ensure that it is authorized to do business in Iowa as Scientific Games 
International, Inc. 

18.29 Title to Lottery Property. Title to all property furnished by the Lottery to the Contractor to facilitate the 
performance of this Agreement shall remain the sole property of the Lottery. 

18.30 Sales Restrictions. During the term of this Agreement the contractor shall not manufacture or sell lottery tickets to 
any other person or entity selling lottery tickets or lottery ticket "look alikes" within the slate of Iowa. 

SECTION 19. EXECUTION. 

20 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, in consideration of the mutual covenants set forth above and for other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt, adequacy and legal sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties have 
entered Into the above Agreement and have caused their duly authorized representatives to execute this Agreement. 

Iowa Lottery Authority 

By: Date: ____ _ 
Name: Larry Loss 
Title: Executive Vice President 

Scientific Games International, Inc. 

By: Date: ____ _ 

Name: ---------------
Title: President 

FederaiiD # 58-1943521 

21 



SCHEDULE A 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

SECTION 1. GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF WORK. The Contractor shall provide the Lottery with instant tickets and 
related materials and services as described in its proposal and in this Schedule A. 

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS. The capitalized terms in the schedules shall have the same meaning as the Agreement 
executed between the Lottery and the Contractor. 

SECTION 3. TICKETS AND SERVICES SPECIFICATIONS 

3.1 TICKET SPECIFICATIONS 

3.1.1 Ticket Construction. Tickets produced shall be printed on 10-point virgin/recyclable or recycled/recyclable white 
card stock; which will not curl. separate, or be easily split. This does not pertain to card stock for dual-layered tickets or 
other optional stock required for special features (i.e. foil) which will be specified in the working papers. The Contractor 
shall use environmentally-friendly products. The Contractor shall apply production methods and quality control to assure 
tickets may be dispensed from automated instant ticket machines. The Contractor shall provide individual tickets within a 
pack that are separated by perforations. Each perforation must be clean cut in a manner which allows easy removal of 
the tickets from each other during the sale process while at the same time not permitting accidental separation during 
normal handling or vending. All tickets produced must properly dispense in Iowa "Take-A-Ticket" and Schafer Systems 
on-counter and in-counter dispensers as well as instant ticket vending machines. 

3.1.2 Ticket Size. Industry standard game ticket size(s) are 2.4"x4", 4"x4", 4"x6", 4"x8" and 4" x 10". The Lottery 
reserves the right to request tickets in other sizes at prices mutually agreeable to the Lottery and the Contractor. 

3.1.3 Ticket Symbols. Ticket symbols must be printed in black or colored ink on the front of the ticket. Symbols must be 
uniformly positioned and aligned on the tickets unless otherwise specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers. To avoid 
pick out, the symbols must float. The Contractor must advise the Lottery of potential pick out problems associated with 
the positioning or alignment specified in the Working Papers. All symbols must be printed with a computer-controlled 
imaging printer with fonts approved by the Lottery and be sufficiently legible so as to be readily discernible to a person 
with normal vision under normal lighting conditions. The Contractor has a library containing thousands of fonts available 
for use in the printing of tickets. The Lottery shall have full right to use this library of fonts at no additional fee. Contractor 
shall design and provide custom fonts if requested by the Lottery at no additional cost. The Contractor shall be capable of 
printing symbols with dual color or multi-color imaging if specified in the Working Papers by the Lottery. See Schedule 8 
for optional feature pricing. 

3.1.4 Legends. Legends may be required in order to facilitate game play and shall be specified in the Working Papers. 

3.1.5 Captions. Captions may be required for each play symbol to provide redundancy for security reasons and to 
prevent consumer disputes. A caption underneath the symbol spells out or abbreviates the symbol in type smaller than 
the symbol itself in a different but recognizable form. The captions that will be used in the game will be specified In the 
Working Papers. 

3.1.6 Ticket Numbering. Lottery tickets produced by Contractor must have a game, pack and ticket number must be 
printed on the back of the ticket, 0.1" above the barcode, in the form of GGG-PPPPPP-TTT where: 

GGG is the 3 digit game number 
PPPPPP is the 6 digit pack number 
TTT is the 3 digit ticket number 

Pack numbers will start at 100001. Pack numbers will be consecutive except for omissions that occur in production. 
Contractor's procedures must ensure that the same pack number is on all tickets within a given pack and that no pack 
numbers are duplicated in the game as a whole. 

22 



Each ticket within a pack must have an individual, consecutive number starting with 000. No omissions are allowed within 
the pack. Contractor's procedures must ensure that individual, consecutive ticket numbers are on each ticket in the pack 
and that there are no breaks in ticket numbering in the pack. 

The front of the ticket must contain the 6 digit pack number and 3 digit ticket number. 

3.1.7 Barcode. A unique barcode representation of the game, pack, ticket and validation data must appear on the back 
of each ticket. The barcode must contain twenty-two (22) digits in the form of GGG-PPPPPP-TTT-VWWWWV where: 

GGG is the 3 digit game number 
PPPPPP is the 6 digit pack number 
TTT is the 3 digit ticket number 

WVWWVW is the 8 digit validation number/prize code and a 2 digit check number. 

The bar code will be determined using an algorithm to be provided when the contract Is awarded. The barcode the Iowa 
Lottery currently uses is a standard interleaved two of five symbology utilizing standard start and stop characters. Each 
barcode character encodes two decimal digits and measures 0.4" high and 0.175" in length. The barcode with stop and 
start characters measures approximately 2.02" in length. The barcode has a quiet zone at each end measuring a 
minimum of .18" in length. The barcode has lines across its top and bottom. The barcode starts with a narrow bar, 
narrow space, narrow bar, narrow space (start character) and ends with a wide bar, narrow space, narrow bar (stop 
character). The distance from the middle of the barcode to the edge of the ticket is .35". 

The Contractor shall be capable of printing a standard interleaved two of five symbology barcode. The Contractor shall 
also be capable of printing a Data Matrix barcode under the scratch-off material if specified in the Working Papers by the 
Lottery. See Schedule B for optional feature pricing. 

3.1.8 Validation Code. Tickets produced must contain a unique 10-digit validation code printed in the play area on the 
front of the ticket. The validation code must be covered by opaque scratch-off material and in the form of VI/VV'Vff:!]J.N 
where: 

WVWWVW- is the encrypted 8-digit validation number/prize code and a 2-digit check code. The ticket 
numbering will be formulated according to an algorithm to be provided upon contract execution. Three (3) 
consecutive digits of this ten (10) digit number will be boxed in an apparently random manner, giving six (6) 
possible positions for the box (the last two (2) digits cannot be boxed) as per the algorithm. 

3.1.9 Ticket Validation. Tickets must be compatible with the Scientific Games Wave® terminal and the Lottery's method 
of validation, complete specifications to be provided after contract execution. The Lottery current system utilizes the 
Failsafe® technology for validation of tickets. The Lottery has a license to use Failsafe® technology on its tickets. 

3.1.10 Universal Product Code. Tickets produced for the Lottery must have a Universal Product Code (UPC) marking 
placed on the back of each ticket. The UPC symbol must conform to specifications in the technical manuals published by 
the Uniform Product Code Council, Inc., Dayton, Ohio. The Lottery reserves the right to change the UPC specifications 
When new specifications are broadly used and accepted. The UPC will be in the form of: 

0 15936 GGGYY C 
where: GGG represents the 3 digit game number 

YY represents the year 
C is the check digit 

3.1.11 Packing Barcode Information. The Contractor shall package the tickets so the ticket art faces outward on at 
least one side of the pack to assist retailers and sales staff in easily identifying the game for each pack, provided the side 
showing the ticket art does not contain the activation card for the pack. For this reason, Contractor may request to add its 
own packaging barcode to Lottery scratch tickets when necessary for ticket packaging at its facility. This barcode shall be 
referred to as the vendor packaging barcode and must be as small as possible to be readable but also interfere the least 
amount possible with the ticket art. The barcode must not cause terminal read errors due to placement too close to 
validation barcodes. 

23 



3.1.12 Ticket Hash File. The Contractor must provide a file that contains all non-winning tickets and upon the Lottery's 
request certain winning tickets used in special promotions. These tickets should be identified through the entry of the 
book, game, ticket, and validation numbers. Through the use of a hash process this entry will produce a unique hash 
number that can be used to access the ticket hash file. This would be required for all games. The Lottery shall provide the 
hash string information to the Contractor. No additional fees may be assessed by the Contractor for the creation of hash 
files or for providing files to an outside vendor, upon the request of the Lottery. 

3.1.13 Multiple Scratch Areas. The Contractor must provide multiple scratch areas on the ticket if requested in the 
Working Papers by the Lottery. The cost of multiple scratch areas shall be Included in the base ticket price. 

3.1.14 Scratch-off Material. The Contractor must provide a scratch-off material that covers the play area and have mini
mal overlap into the display area. The scratch-off material must be smooth, easily removed by scratching and of a quality 
that will maintain the security of ticket symbols and validation number. Any changes in composition of scratch-off material 
or process must be reported to the Lottery prior to printing. 

If specified in the Working Papers by the Lottery, and, provided that any necessary patent rights have been obtained, the 
translucent scratch-off material must reveal an imaged symbol prior to scratching the area and to display the same or 
identical symbol on a different background or border color after the area is scratched. The cost of providing this feature 
shall be included in the base ticket price for any "Bingo" and "Crossword" games. 

3.1.15 Protective Coating. The ticket symbols under the scratch-off material must be covered with a transparent 
protective coating which will ensure that the symbols will be legible after the consumer removes the scratch-off material. 

3.1.16 Flood Coat Finish. The display printing on the ticket front must have full coverage of a varnish type coating or 
UV coating to provide a shiny finish to the tickets. 

3.1.17 Display Print Ticket Colors. Display printing on the front of the ticket shall be either four (4) color process or up 
to five (5) spot colors. Tickets shall be printed from edge to edge, except perforation area, with either an outside border or 
full bleed process. Ticket backs shall be printed in one color as specified. Tickets with a price greater than one dollar ($1) 
must have the ticket price screened on the ticket back. Final ticket specifications for each of the items discussed in this 
section shall be designated by the Lottery in each set of Working Papers. 

3.1.18 Over Print. The Contractor shall provide up to five colors per pulse for the over print. The overprint must be an 
artistic design, which at a minimum, covers the area covered by the scratch-off material. The overprint must be 
sufficiently defined, unblurred and sharp to highlight any tampering with the ticket. If specified in the Working Papers, a 
four-color process or another overprint process that produces, In the Lottery's sole determination, equivalent results shall 
be used for the overprint. See Schedule B for additional over print costs above five (5) colors per pulse. 

3.1.19 Security Tint. Unless specified otherwise in the Working Papers by the Lottery, all tickets produced must have a 
security tint. The Contractor shall use their security tint color that contrasts the most with the overprint and ticket design. 

3.1.20 Layout. Tickets must be produced'with either a vertically oriented layout (i.e., ticket reads left to right across the 
shorter dimension and down the longer dimension) or a horizontally oriented layout (i.e., ticket reads left to right along the 
longer dimension and down the shorter dimension) as specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers. 

3.1.21 Ticket Stubs. The Contractor shall print tickets with stubs if specified in the Working Papers. Each perforation 
utilized must be clean cut in a manner that allows easy removal of the stubs by the consumer after purchase of the ticket 
while at the same time not permitting accidental separation during normal handling. Each ticket stub must have a 
validation code as specified in section 3.1.8. The validation code may or may not match the validation number of the main 
ticket as specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers. Each stub must have a barcode as specified in Section 3.1.7 
which matches the pack ticket number on the main ticket. Each stub must have an individual ticket number as specified in 
Section 3.1.6 which matches the main ticket. See Schedule B for optional feature pricing. 

3.1.22 Multiple Scenes. The Contractor shall print a single game with multiple scenes included in a single pack of 
tickets if specified in the Working Papers. See Schedule B for optional feature pricing. 

24 



3.1.23 Color Pulses. The Contractor shall print a single game with multiple color pulses if specified in the Working 
Papers. Each color pulse will contain consecutive packs. See Schedule B for optional feature pricing. 

3.1.24 Additional Options. As described in the Contractor's RFP response, the Contractor is capable of providing 
additional options to the Lottery. See Schedule B for optional feature pricing and "Other Options" offered. 

3.1.25 Non-Traditional Games. As described in the Contractor's RFP response, the Contractor is capable of providing 
non-traditional games such as dual-layered tickets with play action on both sides, pouches, and other specialty tickets to 
the Lottery. See Schedule B for "Non-Traditional Games" offered. 

3.1.26 Licensed Properties. The Contractor can provide licensed properties to the Lottery. See Schedule B for 
available properties and optional feature pricing. 

3.1.27 Physical Feature Uniformity. All tickets produced shall have no characteristic indicating whether a ticket is a 
winning or non-winning ticket, including without limitation the following characteristics: stock; perforations; cuts; exposed 
lot numbers; exposed ticket numbers; staples; fold; packaging; color, thickness or texture of scratch-off material; over 
prints; protective coating; and printing registration or mis-registration. 

3.1.28 Randomization. The odds of winning any prize of any level on a given ticket must not vary from the odds of 
winning that prize as stated in the final approved prize structure by reason of deficiencies in randomization, including 
without limitation, by virtue of the ticket's location in its strip, pack, shipping box, contractor omits or pool. This 
requirement is not intended to prevent the use of a guaranteed, low-end prize structure or selective seeding within pools 
as specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers. The Lottery will specify in the Working Papers the maximum, 
consecutive string of losing tickets. The Lottery also reserves the right to inspect, at any time, the methodology and 
implementation of randomization either on its own or with the aid of an independent statistician. 

3.1.29 Knowledge of Location of Winning Tickets. The Contractor must ensure the pack number data which is 
contained in any document or computer file which could associate pack number data with play data or the validation 
number will be kept in a highly secure environment and be destroyed in a manner and time agreed upon by the Lottery. 

3.1.30 Low-tier Prizes. The Contractor must ensure that each pack of tickets contains a guaranteed dollar value of low
lier prizes. Up to five (5) different configurations of low-tier prizes must be incorporated, at random, into packs of tickets in 
a single game if requested by the Lottery. Each configuration must have the same total dollar value of low-tier winners, 
but each configuration must have varying numbers of winners of various denominations. The prize structures used are 
subject to approval by the Lottery in the Working Papers. 

3.1.31 High-tier Prize Distribution. The Contractor must ensure high-tier prizes are randomly distributed within the 
pools of tickets. The pool size is subject to the approval of the Lottery in the Working Papers. High-tier prizes must be 
distributed evenly per pool of tickets to maintain the odds for the production run and selected high tier prizes delivered to 
the Lottery must be equal to the number shown on the approved prize structure in the Working Papers. 

3.1.32 Production Media. If game tickets are produced at a location other than the location where the production media 
is produced, the Lottery reserves the right to accompany the production media to the printer, at Contractor's expense and 
to accept custody of the production media if deemed necessary. Any media must be transported in sealed containers. If 
a seal is broken, the data cannot be used. Any production data that is transported via satellite or land line, Including 
encryption key transport, must be encrypted and transferred using a method approved by the Vice President of Lottery 
Security. 

3.1.33 Quality Control. All tickets must be inspected during all stages of the printing process from color sign-off through 
shipping to ensure all tickets meet working paper specifications. 

3.1.34 Game Governing Documents 

Working Papers. For each game ordered, the Lottery will require a complete set of working papers describing the 
details of the ticket production. The approved final set of working papers become the governing document pertaining to 
the game and take precedence over any other conditions of the contract in the event of any conflict in the specifications or 

25 



requirements. The working papers will contain the detailed specifications of the game including ticket design, prize 
structure, game restrictions & patterns, validation requirements, packaging, shipping and storing, and fonts used and may 
reference standard Customer Specifications. Final executed copies of the approved working papers must be delivered to 
the Lottery prior to production. The following persons may approve and sign off on Working Papers on behalf of the 
Lottery: the Iowa Lottery CEO, the Executive Vice President, the Vice President of Finance and the Vice President of 
Security. Refer to Section 3.3.4 Development and Delivery of Working Papers. 

Customer Spe.clflcatlons. The Contractor must prepare and provide a complete set of Customer Specifications that will 
govern all tickets produced for the Lottery, within sixty (60) days of contract execution. The Customer Specifications must 
be updated or reviewed routinely upon request by the Lottery. The Customer Specifications to be provided must include 
the following: 

• Barcode specifications including Contractor packaging, FailSafe®, Interleaved 2 of 5 and UPC 
Packaging/Shipping specifications 

• POS specs for ITVM cards and oversized posters and destination quantities 
• Back of ticket wording and markings 
• Hash file requirements 
• Final ticket art in jpg and EPS formats, UPC artwork file, and to include all play and prize symbols with exactly 

matching covered and uncovered artwork version for each available prize tier 
• Audit report sent via secured e-mail to Brenda Nye at BNye@ialottery.com 
• Delivery tolerance +-5% 
• Test and production start pools 
• Book ticket number locations and format on front and back of ticket 
• Ticket stock specs 
• Perforations 
• Game programming specs 
• Reconstruction 
• Deliverables 
• Event Timeline including max allowable days between events for each step starting with Lottery initiating game 

number thru Contractor delivery of tickets to Lottery. 
• PNG files sent to MDI 

3.1.35 Production Notification. The Contractor must notify Lottery in writing of production dates and initial sign-off time 
at least 15 calendar days prior to production. For any changes made to the production schedule by the Contractor after 
the 15 calendar days' official notice, the Contractor shall provide full reimbursement to the Lottery for all additional costs 
associated with any travel, employee overtime and additional costs specifically related to the Contractor changes of the 
schedule. Refer to Section 3.4.5 which defines Lottery travel. 

3.2 PACKAGING 

3.2.1 Number of Tickets Per Pack. The Contractor shall package tickets in packs of ten (10), twelve (12), fifteen (15), 
thirty (30), sixty (60), seventy-five (75), one hundred (1 00), one hundred fifty (150) or three hundred (300) tickets as 
specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers. Consequently, all Lottery packs have a sales value of three hundred 
dollars ($300). Lottery reserves the right to request packs in other quantities at prices mutually agreeable to the Lottery 
and the Contractor. 

3.2.2 Fanfoldlng. The Contractor must fan fold tickets in packs as specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers or 
Lottery Customer Specifications. 

3.2.3 Pack Distribution Card. The Contractor must produce and insert a pack distribution card in each pack of tickets. 
The Working Papers must specify the barcode to be printed on each pack distribution card with the cards to be readable 
through the shrink-wrap. The pack distribution card will have a barcode containing the game number and pack number 
and then nine (9) other digits (all zeros). These numbers must also be printed above the barcode in human readable 
form. 

26 



3.2.4 Shrink-wrap. Each pack of tickets must be shrink-wrapped in clear plastic. There must be a perforation in the 
shrink-wrap to facilitate easy opening. The shrink-wrap must not impede the ability to read the barcode on the pack 
distribution card. 

3.2.5 Shipping Boxes. The Contractor must package tickets in the box size specified by the Lottery in the Working 
Papers. The packs of tickets are to be placed in the shipping boxes in the configuration specified by the Lottery in the 
Working Papers. The shipping box is to be 275 lb. test and Edge Crush Test 44 lb. 

3.2.6 Box Labels. The box labels are to face outward and be on the ends of the box and on the side of the skid specified 
by the Lottery In the Working Papers. Shipping boxes will be numbered from 00001 with the label showing the game 
name, shipping box number, "From-Through" pack numbers, amount of packs in box and special listing of pack numbers 
for omissions if any. 

3.2.7 Box Markings. The following statement must be printed or stamped on each box: "This carton contains materials 
that are registered by number and which will be void if stolen." There must be no printing on the carton or on the sealing 
tape other than as specified by the Lottery. 

3.2.8 Tape. The top and bottom of each box must be sealed with tape. No staples or glue can be used. The tape must 
not obscure labels or other markings on the carton. 

3.2.9 Skids. The shipping boxes must be packed on skids the size specified by the Lottery In the Working Papers with 
labels outwardly visible. The skids must be constructed of hardwood lumber or a number two softwood, capable of 
withstanding multiple handling by forklift trucks without splintering or collapsing. The shipping boxes must be stacked on 
skids in the configuration specified by the Lottery in the Working Papers. The skid height is not to exceed 54 Y," from skid 
deck to top of the top box. Each layer of shipping boxes is to be separated by a cardboard sheet and the four corners are 
to be stabilized py cardboard brackets running to the height of the skid. The skids must be secured by stretch wrapped 
plastic and covered with a rain cap. 

3.2.1 0 Skid Labels. A skid label must be affixed to the middle section on the end of the lowest numbered side of each 
skid load of boxes. There is to be one (1) label per skid placed on the front of the skid. The label must show the game 
name, the lowest and highest box numbers loaded on the skid and the skid number. Skids must be numbered one (1) 
through the highest skid number for the game. 

3.3 DELIVERY 

3.3.1 Delivery Vehicles and Loading. Tickets are to be delivered in exclusive-use, sealed trucks from plant to 
warehouse. The truck's seal number must appear on the bill of lading. Skids of finished tickets must be loaded with the 
lowest numbered skid in the "nose" of the trailer and the highest numbered skid at the rear of the trailer. A minimum of 
three (3) feet of clearance must be left between the last skid loaded and the cargo doors at the rear of the delivery vehicle 
to facilitate unloading. 

3.3.2 Delivery of Tickets. Tickets must be delivered FOB to the Lottery Warehouse in Ankeny, Iowa (50021) or to any 
other designated warehouse location in Iowa. Continuous and uninterrupted delivery must be made In accordance with 
the delivery schedule specified in the Working Papers. The Contractor shall hold a portion of the ticket order up to 20 
million tickets, as specified in the Working Papers for that game, at the Contractor's location until the Lottery requests that 
it be delivered or until the particular game ends. 

The Contractor agrees to deliver game tickets within 30 days after approval of Working Papers for new game orders and 
within 20 days for reorders. The Contractor also agrees to deliver game tickets within 54 days of receipt of approved 
concept artwork and approved prize structure from Lottery. Contractor must accelerate the delivery of tickets if requested 
by the Lottery. Ownership of the tickets shall remain with the Contractor until delivery is made. See Schedule B optional 
feature pricing. 

3.3.3 Delivery Tolerances. The Contractor shall deliver the ordered quantity for each game plus or minus five percent 
(5%). As this is a price-per-thousand basis Agreement, the Contractor shall bill and the Lottery will pay only for the actual 

27 



number of conforming tickets delivered. Deliveries in excess of the ordered quantity plus the delivery tolerances may be 
accepted by the Lottery on consignment only. The Lottery may require the Contractor to produce an exact number of 
tickets for selected games. The Lottery will specify these games in the Working Papers for that game. 

3.3.4 Development and Delivery of Working Papers. The Contractor must prepare game Working Papers that include 
the details regarding each game's specifications. The Working Papers must be presented to the Lottery for review no 
more than ten (1 0) working days from the Lottery's approval of the prize structure and final game design, including 
artwork. Revisions to any Working Papers (Including drafts) must be made within five (5) working days of the date 
changes were submitted to the Contractor by the Lottery, unless Contractor receives prior approval from the Lottery to 
exceed that limit. Final executed copies of the approved working papers must be delivered to the Lottery prior to 
production. The Lottery may grant an extension for exceptional circumstances. 

3.4 SECURITY 

3.4.1 Plant Security. The plant(s) in which tickets are to be produced or stored shall be equipped with a complete plant 
security system acceptable to the Lottery. The security system as described In its' proposal is acceptable to the Lottery. 
Should the Contractor anticipate making changes to the plant security system, the Contractor shall inform the Lottery of 
the changes at least seven (7) calendar days before the scheduled change. At that time, the Contractor shall provide a 
complete description of the security system at the location or locations including anticipated changes. The Contractor 
must provide updated plant security procedures to the Lottery VP of Security on an annual basis for Lottery review. If 
Lottery approves of the plant security procedures, written acceptance will be provided to the Contractor. 

3.4.2 Unused Materials. Contractor must deliver a report to the Lottery at the end of the production of each game 
stating the number of pools used to produce the game converted to tickets, less the number of tickets shipped and the 
number of omits to estimate the game scrap. These materials must be destroyed by shredding, burning, or dissolving on 
the printer's premises. Scrap materials cannot leave the printer's premises until processed to render them unrecognizable 
as lottery materials. An auditable record system must be used to account for all ticket stock and materials destroyed. 

3.4.3 Ticket Security Analysis. The Contractor agrees to make all reasonable efforts to minimize the possibility that 
tickets can be compromised. The Contractor shall be bound by the description of the security analysis contained in its 
proposal including but not limited to ink, paper, scratch-off material, primer, seal, release and protective coating. The 
Contractor shall be bound by the description of its security programs included in its proposal including but not limited to 
ticket printing security and the results of any tests which have been performed on the tickets currently produced by the 
Contractor. The Contractor has identified all of the security features of its ticket printing system to the Lottery in its 
proposal. It shall be bound to the representations made therein. 

3.4.4 Security Breach Notification. The Contractor shall notify the Lottery's Vice of President of Security immediately 
via telephone and in writing of any breach of security experienced by the Contractor during the term of this Agreement 
including but not limited to the theft or disappearance of any paper stock, data media, cylinders, tickets, waste, film, 
printing plates, etc. All security risks discovered in the Contractor's tickets must be immediately communicated to the 
Lottery. 

3.4.5 Printing Inspection Site Visits. The Lottery shall have the right, acting by itself or through its authorized 
representatives, to enter the premises of the Contractor at all times to examine the game and to inspect and copy the 
records of the Contractor pertaining to the operation of the Lottery account without prior notice. 

Normal travel expenses relating to ticket inspections will be paid by the Lottery. 

If the printing and finishing processes are altered or rescheduled due to Contractor issues the Contractor shall provide full 
reimbursement to the Lottery for all additional costs associated with any travel, employee overtime and additional costs 
specifically related to the Contractor schedule changes. Refer to Production Notification, Section 3.1.35. The Lottery 
may hire an independent consultant once every two years and require the Contractor to participate in a complete analysis 
of the ticket printing process and facility. 

At the Contractors discretion, Contractor may provide travel expenses for up to four (4) Lottery employees per calendar 
year to attend a Contractor sponsored security educational event. 

28 



3.4.6 Ticket Inspection, Monitoring and Testing. The Contractor will be required to provide the Lottery the following 
during the print process: 

• Three packs of tickets from each game as defined In the Customer Specifications. None of these packs 
will contain any mid or high tier winners. 

• At least one pack from the front, middle and end of the print run of each pulse must be provided to the 
Lottery security person on site for quality control testing. The packs for the quality control testing will not 
contain any high-tier or mid-tier prizes unless the prize is part of the GLEPS and these packs will be omit 
packs. 

• If Lottery security is not attending the printing of tickets then all of the aforementioned packs will be 
shipped by overnight courier to Iowa Lottery VP of Security at the Des Moines headquarters location so 
the tickets can be tested prior to the game being shipped. Iowa Lottery Security will perform testing 
Immediately and notify the Contractor of any problems. 

If the Lottery is not present during the printing of the tickets then all of the aforementioned packs must be shipped within 
24 hours of the completion of the printing via overnight delivery to the Lottery Headquarters, Attn: VP of Security, to allow 
for testing to be completed prior to the game being shipped. 

After the game is printed, packaged for shipping, and stored in a secured area, the Contractor must send the Lottery VP 
of Security two pack numbers that do not contain any mid-tier or high-tier prizes unless the prize is part of the GLEPS. 
These two packs need to be on the game load CDs as testing will be conducted on these packs in Iowa, and these tests 
require being able to validate tickets through the Lottery test system. Printed copies of all lab reports will be delivered to 
Iowa Lottery Security. If copies are available at the time of print and security is on-site, reports will be personally delivered 
to Lottery Security personnel present. If Lottery Security is not on-site or lab reports could not be provided in time for an 
on-site delivery, copies of all lab reports should be delivered in a secure manner to Lottery Attn: Vice President of 
Security as soon as reasonably possible. 

3.4.7 Ownership of Tickets and Related Materials. Tickets and materials produced for the Lottery, including tickets 
rejected by the Lottery as non-conforming or as part of an order containing non-conforming tickets, are the property of the 
Lottery and shall not be furnished by the Contractor to any other country, state, organization, company, agency, jobber, 
distributor, individual or other entity other than the Lottery. Rejected tickets or materials in the possession of the 
Contractor shall be stored by the Contractor in a secure area until the Lottery advises the Contractor in writing within thirty 
(30) days as to the disposition of such tickets or materials. 

3.4.8 Emergency Ticket Reprint. In the case of a disaster or catastrophic event in which half or more than half of the 
tickets in a game are damaged or destroyed, the Contractor shall, at the Lottery"s request, reprint certain games as a 
priority within fifteen (15) business days at the Lottery's expense. 

3.5 REPORTS, CD'S AND OTHER DELIVERABLES 

3.5.1 Game Rules. The Contractor shall be required to draft proposed regulations for defining the rules of each game. 
The game rules format shall be provided by the Lottery. Game rules will be provided by the Contractor at least thirty (30) 
business days prior to the start of game sales. 

3.5.2 Final Ticket Art. Contractor must provide final ticket art at least thirty (30) business days prior to start of game 
sales. The Contractor must create artwork files for one (1) covered ticket and for ten (10) uncovered winning tickets 
showing as many different prize levels as possible with the VIRN, pack and ticket number replaced by the word VOID. 
The artwork shall be delivered via CD or electronically to the Lottery the same day the tickets are delivered .. 

3.5.3 Color Proof. Contractor shall provide a color proof to the Lottery for approval at least one (1) week prior to ticket 
printing. 

3.5.4 Prize Accountability and End of Production Prize Structure. In order to ensure full accountability, optimum 
prize delivery is required with an accurate end-of-production prize structure report. This report must be delivered to the 
Lottery by courier to the Lottery the same day the tickets are delivered. 

29 



Any record game file or document that associates all or part of the validation number and all or part of the pack ticket 
number must be destroyed after the application of the barcode on the tickets, except as required by the Lottery for 
reconstruction. 

3.5.5 Game Inventory and Validation Requirements. The Contractor must provide a CD or secure FTP site with the 
game inventory and validation files created according to the specifications "Definition for Printer Files Input for Scientific 
Games Aegis System" to be provided when the contract is awarded. If a CD is provided, the CD shall be couriered to the 
Lottery the same day the tickets are delivered. 

3.5.6 Shipping Report. The Contractor must provide a shipping report which will list game number, game name, gross 
number of tickets, n.umber of omitted tickets, net number of tickets, the gross number of packs, number of omitted packs, 
net number of packs, the range of pack numbers produced (lowest and highest pack numbers), the range of pack 
numbers shipped and the range of box numbers. A hard copy of the shipping report will be delivered with the tickets and 
a second hard copy will be couriered as a CD or provided on a secure FTP site. For any pulsed games, the report shall 
also include high and low pack number per pulse. 

3.5.7 Omitted Packs Report. The Contractor must provide an omitted packs report which will list omitted packs In 
numerical order. Hard copy files to be provided with each line double-spaced and an electronic version as a single
spaced file. The omitted packs report will be delivered with the tickets. 

3.5.8 Shipping Control Manifest. The Contractor must provide a shipping control manifest which will be a record of all 
packs manufactured, listed by box with the omitted packs indicated with an asterisk(*) by the pack number. The number 
of good packs per box will be indicated for each box number. A hard copy, with no staples, will be delivered with the 
tickets. 

3.5.9 Void Sample Tickets. A minimum of ten thousand five hundred (10,500) actual size void sample tickets from the 
actual initial press run for each ticket order. All void sample tickets must bear the word "VOID" and must be non-winners. 
Void sample ticket pack numbers must start at VOID01 and run consecutively without duplicating pack numbers. Ticket 
numbers must start at 000 and run consecutively within each pack. The 10-digit validation number must be printed as 
VOIDVOIDVO with three consecutive letters boxed excluding the last two (2) digits which cannot be boxed. The void 
sample tickets must be delivered on the same truck as the tickets. 

3.5.10 Point of Purchase Poster. The Contractor must provide eight hundred fifty (850) posters per pulse, with each 
ticket order. The poster size is to be 4.5" x 9.0" and will be printed two sides with different artwork on 1 0-point card stock. 
There will be two (2) holes (1/8") in each poster (top-center, bottom-center). The poster design will be as specified in the 
Working Papers. The posters will be shrink-wrapped in units of twenty-five (25) and boxed in quantities as specified in the 
Working Papers. Posters must be delivered on the same truck as the tickets unless the Lottery agrees to other 
arrangements. 

3.5.11 ITVM Display Cards. Contractor must provide three thousand (3,000) 4" x 4" ITVM display card per pulse, with 
each ticket order. The front of the cards will display the ticket art, ticket price, the words www.ialottery.com, and a 
promotional message as specified in the Working Papers. The back of the cards will display the game name, game 
number, ticket price, pack quantity, ticket length, and a fixed informational bar code. The words "Scan this barcode when 
prompted by setup menu." will be printed above the barcode and the fourteen (14) digits of the barcode will be printed 
below the barcode. The 14-digit barcode will be In the form of GGGTTTPPPPLLLC where: 

GGG 3-digit game number 
TTT 3-digit number of tickets per pack 
PPPP 4-digit ticket price 
LLL 3-digit ticket length 
c 1-digit check digit 

The cards will be shrink-wrapped in units of twenty-five {25) and boxed in quantities as specified in the Working Papers. 
The cards must be delivered to the Lottery warehouse by the date tickets are delivered to the Lottery warehouse. If 
printing vendor prints ITVM cards or posters prior to game being printed and additional artwork changes require the re-

30 



printing of the ITVM cards and/or posters, this is to be done at the printing vendors expense and drop shipped to 
location(s) specified by the Lottery. If the changes required after the printing are at the request of the Lottery, the Lottery 
will bear the expense of the reprint. 

3.5.12 Game Audit Report. The Contractor must engage a major firm of independent certified public accountants to 
review the procedures and controls employed by the Contractor during production of tickets. The certified public 
accounting firm will be required to submit a letter to the Lottery which states the tests performed on the Contractor's 
production procedures. The Contractor shall provide the letter from the accounting firm within fourteen (14) calendar days 
of game delivery unless otheiWise agreed to by the Lottery. The letter may be delivered via a secured electronic 
transmission. Contractor must provide a letter indicating the results of each game audit performed by the Contractor's 
accounting firm. 

These tests, performed by the outside firm of Independent certified public accountants, must, at a minimum, include the 
following items: 

a) An audit of a sampling of the actual computer files that are used to run the computer imager which is issued to 
print the tickets must be conducted verifying game integrity; 
b) A statistically valid random sampling of finished packs of tickets in the Contractor's plant must be audited to 
determine conformity of the finished, actual tickets with the final approved prize structure as signed by the Lottery; 
c) An audit of a sampling of the computer files and the finished product must be conducted to determine 
conformity of all other game specifications including without limitation, conformity with the prize structure, the 
number of tickets per pack, number of packs per pool, the validation coding scheme, retailer validation codes, 
winning and losing ticket pattern distributions, and any special requirements the Lottery specifies in the Working 
Papers. 

3.5.13 Sample Game. The Contractor must produce a sample game consisting of not less than five thousand (5,000) tickets 
if the Contractor has not produced a live game for the Lottery within the preceding eighteen (18) months of contract execution. 
The sample game must include all validation algorithms, over print, barcodes and media files associated with a live game. 
Creative ticket art will not be required. Production of a live game will not occur until the Lottery has successfully tested a 
sample game. All costs associated with the production and delivery of a sample game upon execution of the contract will be 
borne by the Contractor. 

3.5.14 Audit Report for Sample Game. Contractor must provide a letter indicating the results of each game audit 
performed by the Contractor's accounting firm. Refer to Section 8.2. 

3.5.15 Test Game. Upon a change in the Lottery's validation system, test games may be required. The Lottery will bear the 
cost of these games. See Schedule B optional feature pricing. 

The Lottery may request the print of a test game not related to validation changes. Upon Lottery's determination to print a test 
game, there shall be no cost to the Lottery if the test game is subsequenlly purchased. 

3.6 CORPORATE MARKETING SUPPORT 

3.6.1 The Contractor must apply its best efforts to support the Lottery game design and marketing, assisting the Lottery to 
achieve its financial objectives. The Lottery will require new games and features over the term of the Contract. The 
Contractor must be able to accommodate the Lottery's marketing plans and efforts with corporate marketing support that 
includes, but is not limited to: 

a) Marketing Strategy. An annual strategy meeting, including development of retailer promotional contests, 
consumer promotional programs or special events, game designs, marketing/sales staff seminars and retailer 
seminars shall be held by the Contractor with the Lottery to discuss industry trends, new technology, new 
products and comparative sales analysis. The strategy meeting shall be held within the first quarter of the 
calendar year. 

The Contractor may present a holiday marketing strategy to the Lottery. The holiday marketing strategy shall 
include but not be limited to play actions, game designs, prize structures and marketing support strategies. 
All travel costs and any presentation preparation costs will be the responsibility of the Contractor. 

31 



At the Contractors discretion, the Contractor may provide all travel expenses for up to four (4) Lottery 
employees per calendar year to attend a Contractor marketing educational event or users' conference. 

b) Gaming Concept Design and Development. The availability of new gaming products and product ideas is 
critical to the Lottery. The Contractor is expected to have a continuous program of research into ticket 
concepts and products. 

c) Marketing Support. The Contractor shall provide marketing support to assist the lottery with prize structure 
and game design, game names, themes, play formats, industry trends, lottery data processing, lottery 
accounting, and lottery security. The Lottery reserves the right to approve the account representative(s). 

The representative will be responsible for providing the following services: 
o Coordination of contract execution between the Lottery and the Contractor including Working Papers for 

specific games, ticket art design, prize structures, schedules, production, ticket printing and ticket 
delivery. 

o Provide support in game design and strategic planning of the instant product. 
o Recommend products, game offerings, prize structures, promotions, advertising campaigns, pricing and 

point-of-sale strategies. 
o Contractor representative must identify any special printing techniques or costs associated with the 

Contractors recommendation for tickets. 
o Be readily available by telephone or other means of business communication. 

3.6.2 Costs for marketing services provided by the account representative and any required support staff shall be 
included in the printing prices provided in the pricing section. 

3.6.3 Graphics. As a classic impulse item, instant tickets must possess high impact graphics which strongly 
communicate the ticket's salient selling points. The Contractor must effectively coordinate instant ticket art design, 
including typeface, from the first, rough art presented to the finished product. Final ticket art including .jpg, .eps, .png and 
internet demo files shall be provided by the Contractor no later than seven (7) calendar days after game prints. 

32 



SCHEDULE B 
PRICING MATRIX 

PRICE-PER-THOUSAND BASIS 

33 


